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UNITED’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT RE:
CLAIMS Y-7 AND Y-9

INTRODUCTION

Hamed’s Opposition to United’s Motion for Summary Judgment regarding claims Y-7 and
Y-9 makes three principal arguments in opposition to the Motion. First, Hamed argues that these
claims should be denied altogether because United did not timely assert them. That argument can
be easily disposed of. Next, Hamed argues that there are genuine issues of material fact precluding
summary judgment on these claims. Those factual issues, he says, concern the credibility of Ben
Irvin’s accounting records, and whether United’s claims are barred by the statute of limitations.
But these arguments, too, miss the mark, for the reasons explained below.

One other point deserves to be mentioned. Hamed has chosen to respond with separate
oppositions to United’s single motion for summary judgment regarding Claims Y-7 and Y-9.
Hamed claims that his approach is for sake of clarity, but in reality it just lead to repetition and
more pages for the Master to wade through. Claims Y-7 and Y-9 both relate to the open account
between United Corporation (“United”) and the partnership. The Y-9 payments from the tenant
account to Plaza Extra are for the most part just a subset of the Y-7 payments that happened to
have been made by checks signed by Mike Yusuf and recorded by him on a handwritten ledger
(Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion). Accordingly, United will continue to address both of these claims
in a single reply brief in support of its request for summary judgment. Because Hamed’s two
oppositions are largely duplicative of one another, United’s citations will be to Hamed’s

Opposition regarding claim Y-7 unless otherwise indicated.



ARGUMENT
I. United Timely Asserted its Y-7 and Y-9 Claims.

Hamed first argues that United should be barred from seeking recovery for transfers made
from United’s tenant accounts because Yusuf’s September 30, 2016 Accounting Claims and
Proposed Distribution Plan described this as a claim belonging to Yusuf personally, rather than
United. See Hamed’s Opposition at pp. 19. Hamed’s assertion is frivolous. Yusuf’s Accounting
Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan of September 30, 2016 (the “Claim”) stated that “all debts
of the Partnership must be paid prior to any distributions to the Partners,” and noted that “the
remaining debts include the unpaid rent obligations, with interest, due to United . . .as well as other
obligations to United discussed in more detail below.” See Exhibit 1-Yusuf’s Accounting Claims
and Proposed Distribution Plan Excerpts. Section III, entitled “Outstanding Debts of the
Partnership” lists debts A-G of the Partnership owed to United, i.e. these are United’s claims and
United is a party to this suit. See id. at 6-10. The Claim document was styled as “Yusuf’s
Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan” because of Judge Brady’s directive that each
partner submit a proposed accounting and distribution plan. See Judge Brady’s January 9, 2015
Order Adopting Final Wind Up Plan, p. 8 (“Hamed and Yusuf shall each submit to the Master a
proposed accounting and distribution plan...”). The fact that Yusuf did what he was asked to do
by preparing and submitting a plan identifying all known claims against the partnership, including
third party claims, obviously does not transform that which he clearly identified as a United claim
into his own claim. Nor can it possibly mean that United’s Y-7 and Y-9 claims were not timely
presented to the Master. Further, the “Y-_” designations were imposed by Hamed in an effort to
distinquish and number the individual issues to be addressed. This designation did not transform

the United claims into Yusuf claims. For ease of reference, the parties have conformed to that



procedural convention but it does not substantively change that the claim is a United claim against
the partnership.

Il. Hamed Has Created No Fact Issues Regarding the Accuracy of Ben Irvin’s Accounting
Records Showing Payments from the Tenant Account to Plaza Extra accounts.

A. The FBI Notes of a 2003 Interview with Ben Irvin are Inadmissible Hearsay.

Hamed argues Ben Irvin’s accounting records showing by check number, month, year and
amount payments made from United’s tenant account, including payments made to or on behalf
of Plaza Extra are “untrustworthy,” and hence that they cannot be used as a basis for documenting
those payments. Hamed’s Opposition, p. 23. Hamed argues that, according to notes of an FBI
interview of Irvin, he told the FBI that he calculated store sales on the basis of bank deposits of
checks and cash, that he did not always accurately report inventory, and that he made sure that his
numbers matched those of another accountant, Pablo O’Neill, employed by United. See Hamed’s
Opposition at p. 23. The FBI interview notes are plainly inadmissible hearsay, and thus Hamed
may not use them to support any factual assertions made in opposition to United’s motion. See
United States v. Sampson, 898 F.3d 287, 308-309 (2d Cir. 2018) (FBI agent’s notes of interview
with defendant were hearsay not subject to any exception, and lower court properly excluded them
from evidence). But even if they somehow were admissible as evidence, nothing in the interview
suggests that Irvin did not accurately report what were then United’s intra-company transactions.
Until 2013, both United’s landlord/tenant business at the United Shopping Center and the
supermarket business were treated for tax and accounting purposes as a corporate business run by
United, not a partnership. Neither Irvin nor any other accountant would have had an incentive to
misreport the amount of a disbursement made from United’s tenant account to its supermarket
account because, no matter what its size, an intra-company transaction of that kind would have

zero effect on United’s net income.



Hamed relies on other inadmissible hearsay when he contends that the United States
estimated that United had $60,000,000 in unreported income for the 1996 to 2001 tax years.
Hamed’s contention is based on a document entitled “Draft Summary Schedules” (marked as
Exhibit 7 to Hamed’s Opposition) that is also stamped “Draft” throughout. In addition to the
obvious hearsay problem, Hamed offers absolutely no foundation for its admissibility into
evidence. There is no indication of who authored it, the purpose for which the document was
created, the means by which the dollar figures in the document were arrived at, whether a document
like this was ever placed into final form, and, if so, whether the draft numbers were replaced with
different numbers in the final document. Since the “Draft Summary Schedules” document is
inadmissible, Hamed may not rely on it as evidence to support any factual assertions in opposition
to United’s dispositive motion.!

Although the Government’s draft document is inadmissible, it is worth noting Wally
Hamed’s willingness now to accept at face value the Government’s “draft” contentions about
amounts that United failed to report as income stands in marked contrast to the positions he took
in the criminal case, in disputing his own alleged liability and his liability as an alleged successor

to United. There, he repeatedly challenged the Government’s allegations about the dollar amount

!Hamed also cites to the indictment in the criminal case (Exhibit 6 to his Opposition), and its
allegation in paragraph 9 that United failed to report at least $60,000,000 in sales on gross receipts
returns and income tax returns. It goes without saying that allegations in a civil or criminal
complaint are not evidence of facts, and therefore may not be used to create a fact issue for
summary judgment. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249-52 (1986) (mere
allegations are not evidence of facts and may not defeat properly made summary judgment
motion). It is noteworthy that the allegations of the indictment relate only to the Plaza Extra stores
and the under-reporting of income from “Plaza Extra sales” on tax returns. See Exhibit 6 to
Hamed’s Opposition, 49 1, 9. The indictment makes no reference to United’s landlord/tenant
business at the United shopping center, and makes no allegations of under-reporting of United’s
income from that business.
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of United’s under-reporting of store sales and underpayment of gross receipts and income taxes,
and the dollar amount of his own personal under-reporting of income and underpayment of income
taxes. The restitution schedules attached to the plea agreement are illustrative. These show the
Government’s position on underpayment of taxes and the Defendants’, for each of the tax years in
question. The Defendants there dispute most of the Government’s contentions regarding what
amounts are owed by United and the individual defendants for the 1996 to 2001 tax years, and
indeed contend that nothing is owed for most of the taxes and tax years at issue. See Exhibit 9 to
Hamed’s Opposition, and Restitution Schedules attached thereto. In other words, Waleed Hamed
and the other Defendants in the criminal case contested most of the Government’s claims of under-
reporting of income, and even took the position that United had not under-reported any of its 1996
income, and therefore owed nothing in additional taxes for that tax year. See id.

B. The September 2016 Schoenbach Opinion Letter Does not Address Ben Irvin’s
Record of Deposits to and Disbursements from United’s Tenant Account.

Hamed’s heavy reliance on a September 2016 opinion letter prepared by a lawyer,
Lawrence Schoenbach, which opines that United’s under-reporting of income makes it impossible
to prepare a partnership accounting, is misplaced. Mr. Schoenbach’s opinion letter was offered in
support of Hamed’s October 3, 2016 motion to strike a report summarizing distributions and
withdrawals by the partners prepared for Yusuf by BDO Puerto Rico, PSC, the Puerto Rico office
of the well-known national accounting firm. Judge Brady conducted an evidentiary hearing for
this motion in March 2017 at which Mr. Schoenbach testified and his opinion letter was introduced
into evidence. See generally Exhibit 2, July 27, 2017 Order Denying Without Prejudice Hamed’s
Motion to Strike Accounting Report (BDO). Mr. Schoenbach was not asked to, and did not offer
any opinions whatsoever regarding United’s intra-company transactions in the 1995 to 1998 time

period, or the accuracy of Ben Irvin’s accounting entries showing payments from United’s tenant



accounts to its supermarket accounts that are the subject of United’s motion. Neither Mr.
Schoenbach’s testimony at the hearing nor his opinion letter even mentioned Ben Irvin or any
accounting work he performed for United. Further, the criminal complaint against United, Mr.
Yusuf and the Hamed and Yusuf sons alleged that supermarket sales — not rents from shopping
center tenants — were under-reported on tax returns. See page 5, footnote 1, infra.

Hamed’s arguments from the Schoenbach opinion prove too much in any event. If it were
really the case that the methods used by the Yusufs and Hameds to under-report supermarket sales
give rise to the possibility that there are undocumented offsetting amounts owed by Yusuf and
United to the partnership — and that these potential offsets make it inequitable to award United any
recovery on its claims against the partnership — then Judge Brady could not have awarded rent to
United in an amount exceeding $6,000,000 for the periods 1994 to 2004 and 2011 to 2015.

C. Hamed’s Speculations Are Not Sufficient to Preclude Summary Judgment.

The evidence adduced by United, including Mr. Yusuf’s declaration, establishes all of the
facts United must establish in order for it to be granted summary judgment on claims Y-7 and Y-
9. Mr. Yusuf’s declaration asserts that United used the Virgin Islands Community Bank for the
purpose of depositing rent payments from United Shopping Center tenants, and that monthly
statements for that account attached to United’s motion as Exhibits 9A an 10 show those deposits
for various months in 1996, 1997 and 1998. See Exhibit 6 to United’s Motion, April 15, 2010
Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, §3. Hamed tries to create an issue of fact by suggesting that the source
of some of the deposits to the account may have come from Plaza Extra cash. As Hamed asserts,
“It is impossible to tell whether funds deposited in the Yusuf family-owned United bank account
(“tenant account”) were solely generated from the United Shopping Center rents or were

Partnership funds moved in and out of United’s bank account.” Hamed’s Opposition to United’s



Motion for Summary Judgment as to Y-9, p. 15; see also Hamed’s Opposition at p. 22. But
Hamed’s speculation about possibilities is not evidence, and is insufficient to create an issue of
fact regarding the truth of Mr. Yusuf’s testimony about the source of the funds in the VI
Community Bank account.? In fact, the deposits amounts are shown on each of the monthly bank
statements that make up Exhibits 9A and 10, and reflect the names of the various tenants and their
rent amounts on the deposit slips. See Exh. 9A-Bates Numbers 0021659 — 21668 (deposit slips to
Community Bank Tenant Account reflecting rent payments from tenants such as “Western Union,”
“Plaza Laundromat,” and “Natty’s Cafeteria,” etc.).

Mr. Yusuf also stated in his declaration that he “did not direct the repayment of these
advances or payments by the partnership and to the best of my knowledge and belief they
were not repaid.”® Exhibit 6 to United’s Motion, §4. Hamed suggests in his opposition that the
partnership could have “repaid the amounts sometime in the past,” see Hamed’s Opposition at p.
22. But again his speculation about what might have happened is insufficient to overcome Mr.
Yusuf’s testimony that there was no repayment. Likewise, Mr. Schoenbach’s opinion letter, which
was prepared some 4 years ago for a purpose having nothing to do with United’s landlord/tenant
business or its intra-company transfers from its tenant account to Plaza Extra supermarket
accounts, does not offer any opinions about these transfers, let alone an opinion that they were

repaid.

2 Further, Hamed does not and cannot assert that any of these deposit amounts are too large to
represent monthly rent collections from tenants at the approximately 30 bays and 15 offices at the
shopping center that United offers for rent.

3Hamed cites Mike Yusuf’s testimony that it is “possible” that amounts were repaid. See
Opposition at p. 4. Mike Yusuf’s testimony about a possibility does not raise a triable issue of
material fact as to Mr. Yusuf’s assertion that none of the advances were repaid. This is especially
the case here, because Mr. Yusuf kept Mike out of the loop generally about partnership matters. See
Exhibit 3, January 21, 2020 Deposition, pp. 12, 32-33 (testimony of Fathi Yusuf).
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Hamed claims that it “is also impossible to tell whether the Partnership owed United money
or whether United was reimbursing the Partnership for expenses the Partnership paid on United’s
behalf.” Hamed’s Opposition to United’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Y-9, at p. 15; see
also Opposition at p. 22 (stating that it is “conceivable” that “ United was reimbursing the
Partnership for expenses the Partnership paid on its behalf”). Again, speculation about what
might have happened or assertions about what is “conceivable” cannot create an issue of fact
regarding the truth of Mr. Yusuf’s declaration, and therefore cannot preclude the granting of
summary judgment for United on its Y-7 and Y-9 claims.

III. Hamed’s Specific Challenges to Items in the Open Account are Meritless.

United claims that the ledger prepared by Mike Yusuf (United’s Exhibit 11) to reflect
transfers he made are insufficient to “substantiate two of the larger claims from 1994,” which are
the $40,010 transfer from the tenant account to the partnership’s Prudential Bache investment
account on May 24, 1994 and the $30,000 transfer to the Core States account on September 23,
1994. Hamed’s Opposition, p. 2. Hamed asserts that United must also produce investment and
bank records to show that the money was actually moved from the tenant account. Id. at 2. But
he does not explain why this additional corroboration is needed to establish that these transfers
were made, and United is aware of no reason it would be.

Hamed also points out that two Core States cashier’s checks made out to Fathi Yusuf in
1994 in the total amount of $145,000, and if the source of those funds was partnership money, then
the debt to United for the $30,000 transfer “would have been wiped out by that Yusuf draw.”
Hamed’s Opposition at 2. But this argument assumes that Yusuf and United are the same “person”
in legal terms, when they plainly are not. A debt owed by Yusuf to the partnership cannot be used

to offset a debt owed by the partnership to United, a corporation.



As for United’s payment of $60,000 to Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation from its tenant
account, Hamed does not deny that the payment was made but instead argues that because a jointly
held corporation like Peter’s Farm is a distinct entity from the partnership, United’s claim must be
addressed to Peter’s Farm. Hamed’s argument misses the point. The payment was to have been
from the Partnership, so the Partnership should reimburse United (as paid from the Tenant
Account) for the payment made on its behalf.

Finally, Hamed complains that United has not provided any bank records “to independently
substantiate the smaller claims for 1994 and 1998 either.” Hamed’s Opposition at p. 2. It is true
that United has not provided additional corroboration of Mike Yusuf’s handwritten entry on
United’s Exhibit 11 reflecting a payment from the tenant account in the amount of $400 on May
23, 1994. United submits that Mike Yusuf’s testimony that he prepared the ledger and recorded
payments that he knew about in that ledger is sufficient for summary judgment. The other small
items were not paid by check. The $1,000 entry for September 23, 1994 for two refrigerators means
that a tenant named Best Furniture sold refrigerators to the Hameds and Yusufs for $1,000, with
payment taking the form of a reduction in rent paid by Best Furniture. See Exhibit 3, January 21,
2020 Deposition, pp. 253-254 (testimony of Mike Yusuf). The $350 entry for “Bed and Bench”
for September 23, 1994 was handled the same way. See Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion; See Exhibit
3 p. 254 (testimony of Mike Yusuf). The “bedroom set for Allaah” entry in May 1998 for $3,000
represents a wedding gift to a cousin of both families that at Wally Hamed’s request was also paid
for in the form of reduced rent to Best Furniture. See Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion; See Exhibit
3, p. 257-258. (testimony of Mike Yusuf). United has satisfied its burden for obtaining summary

judgment for these entries.
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As for the payments United made for its property taxes, pursuant to an agreement made by
Hamed and Yusuf as part of their original agreements regarding the partnership and rent, Hamed
maintains that United cannot produce a writing regarding this agreement. Mr. Yusuf testified in his
2014 deposition that as part of his agreement with Hamed reached in 1986, the partnership would
be responsible for paying various expenses of the United Shopping Center such as the insurance
and taxes for the store. See Exhibit 4, April 2 Deposition, pp. 52-54 (testimony of Fathi Yusuf).
See also Hamed Exh. 3 to Opposition, Depo. of Fathi Yusuf, p. 269:14-22: ( “Q. Was the
supermarket operations supposed to be paying that, those amounts [property taxes for the Shopping
Center]? A. Yes.”). The agreement is unwritten, but so is the partnership agreement itself and
United’s rent agreement with the partnership, and that fact has obviously not been a bar to their
enforcement in these proceedings.

IV. Hamed Has Created No Genuine Issues of Fact regarding His Statute of Limitations
Defense

A. Judge Brady’s Laches-Based Limitations Ruling Does Not Apply to United.

Hamed argues without much conviction that United’s claims are barred by Judge Brady’s
laches-based order providing that “the accounting...to which each partner is entitled [under
RUPA*] §177(b)...shall be limited in scope...to those claimed credits and charges to partner
accounts, within the meaning of [RUPA] §71(a)...occur[ing] on or after September 17, 2006.”
Hamed’s Opposition at p. 19 (quoting from Judge Brady’s July 25, 2017 Order). The order by its
plain terms refers only to accounting claims by a partner brought pursuant to RUPA, and thus does
not apply to United’s claims. If United’s Y-7 and Y-9 claims are time-barred, that result would

flow from the statute of limitations, not laches or Judge Brady’s laches-based order limiting partner

*Revised Uniform Partnership Act.
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claims. The statute of limitations, and not laches, was what Judge Brady considered in determining
whether United’s claims for rent owed for the 1994 to 2004 time period were time-barred (he
concluded they were not), and the Master should likewise look to the statute of limitations, not
laches, in determining whether the instant claims are time-barred.

V. The Statute of Limitations Does not Preclude United’s Y-7 and Y-9 Claims.

A. The Accrual Date for the Claims was the Last Charge on the Open Account.

In its Motion, United argued that because it has an open account with the partnership, as
described in In re: Estate of Vanderpool, 2010 WL 11414826 (V.l. Super. Dec. 30, 2010), the
statute of limitations accrued on the date of the last item in that account, which was the May 1,
1998 advance to the partnership of $3,000.°> See Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion.

Hamed argues that Vanderpool is distinguishable, and that United cannot avail itself of the
rule applied in that case, and instead that the statute of limitations would run separately on each
item that comprises claims Y-7 and Y-9, from the date each payment or advance was made. See
Hamed’s Opposition at p. 21, n. 2 and at p. 31. According to Hamed, in Vanderpool, in contrast
to the instant case, there was “routine back of forth of payments between the two parties...” Id.
at 21, n. 2. But the Court in Vanderpool did not say that there had to be regular repayments or
account reconciliations in order for an economic arrangement between two parties to constitute an
open account. Indeed, the facts in Vanderpool are inconsistent with any such requirement. In that

case, the Court focused on the period “between February and August 2001,” when assisted living

®United’s Motion for Summary Judgment mistakenly suggested that the last item in the open
account was the $10,000 Plaza Transfer shown in Ben Irvin’s accounting records for April 1998,
and shown as check number 1278, dated April 16, 1998, in the Community Bank monthly
statement dated April 30, 1998. See United’s Motion at p. 9. Whether the April or May payment
date is used as the accrual date for statute of limitations purposes is immaterial to United’s
argument and conclusion.
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services were provided and billed for in a total amount of approximately $17,000. See Vanderpool,
supra, at *1. While there were bills issued for payment for services during that period, no actual
payments were made for them. Nevertheless, the Superior Court had no trouble concluding that
there was less than one year between each service provided and charged for, and therefore that the
accrual date — the date the statute of limitations would start to run — was August 3, 2001, the last
date a service was provided. See Vanderpool, supra, at *1, *2.

Hamed’s attempt to distinguish Vanderpool is not persuasive, and the Y-7 and Y-9 claims
should be deemed to have accrued on May 1, 1998. Under the 10-year statute of limitations that
United believes is applicable, the limitations period would have ended on May 1, 2008; under the
six-year statute, May 1, 2004. See United’s Motion at p. 10. Both of these dates fall after the FBI
raid and seizure of documents on October 3, 2001, and after United was indicted on September 19,
2003. Because the limitations period was tolled or suspended upon the occurrence of these and
other extraordinary circumstances until 2012 at the earliest, United’s Y-7 and Y-9 claims were
timely brought on September 12, 2012 (the date United’s counterclaim is deemed to have been
filed).

B. Hamed Has Failed to Create Any Issues of Fact Regarding the Availability of
Equitable Tolling.

Hamed argues that the FBI’s seizure of documents, including Ben Irvin’s accounting
records showing the transfers from tenant accounts to supermarket accounts and monthly bank
statements, did not cause the statute of limitations to be tolled beginning in October 2001, because
the affidavit of FBI agent Petri asserts that United and all other defendants had “unfettered access”

to these documents once the criminal case began.® Hamed’s Opposition at p. 24.

®Of course, there was a nearly 2-year lag between the October 2001 FBI raid and the September
2003 indictment. Thus, even if Hamed could show that United had access to these documents
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There are two problems with Hamed’s “unfettered access” argument. First, FBI agent
Petri’s affidavit, like Petri’s notes of the Ben Irvin interview and the Government’s “draft”
schedules, is hearsay that does not fall under any exception, and the affidavit is therefore
inadmissible evidence that Hamed may not rely upon in opposing this motion for summary
judgment. Hamed is attempting to use an out-of-court statement made by an FBI agent to prove
the truth of the matter asserted (i.c., that there was “unfettered access.”), and this he is foreclosed
from doing by the Rule of Evidence.” The Master need not undertake any additional analysis to
reject Hamed’s reliance on the Petri affidavit to oppose summary judgment.

But even if the Petri affidavit were somehow admissible, Waleed Hamed is once again
relying in the instant case on assertions made by the United States in the criminal case that he
unequivocally opposed at that time. Hamed fails to disclose that in the criminal case he and the
other defendants contravened Agent Petri’s assertion in his declaration that the FBI provided
“unfettered access to documents,” and argued that the deprivation of access was severe

enough to warrant dismissal of the case. The inconsistency between the position he took then

from the time the criminal case was brought, or shortly thereafter, there would still be equitable
tolling of the statute of limitations for that period.

’As noted below, the Petri affidavit was filed by the United States in the criminal case as an
attachment to a brief addressing the deprivation of access issue. While courts can generally take
judicial notice of pleadings and other documents filed in court cases, “[c]aution must also be taken
to avoid admitting evidence, through the use of judicial notice, in contravention of the relevancy,
foundation, and hearsay rules.” Am. Prairie Const. Co. v. Hoich, 560 F.3d 780, 797 (8th Cir.2009);
see also Wright and Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure 85104 (stating that courts should not
use their power to take “judicial notice of court records [as a means] to evade the hearsay rule”).
Thus, even if the Master were to take judicial notice of the Petri affidavit, he should not do so for
the purposes of establishing the truth of the matters asserted in the affidavit. See also Werner v.
Werner, 267 F.3d 288, 295 (3d Cir. 2001) (declining to judicially notice the truth of corporate
director meeting minutes that were filed in a related judicial proceeding); United States v. CVS
Caremark Corporation, 913 F. Supp. 2d 125, 142 (E.D. Pa. 2012) (the court’s taking of judicial
notice of certain documents for purposes of a motion to dismiss was not equivalent to a finding
that alleged hearsay statements contained in them were truthful).
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and the position he took now is so complete that it deserves being discussed in some detail.

Agent Petri’s declaration was submitted by the Government in response to a motion
filed by Hamed and the other defendants in the Criminal Case on February 5, 2009. See
Exhibit 5, February 5, 2009 Motion in Criminal Case. In that motion, Waleed Hamed and all
the other defendants in the Criminal Case described the myriad of ways in which the
Government had deprived them of access to documents needed to defend the charges against
them, and sought dismissal of the case on that basis. First, rather than copying what it needed
and returning original documents to the rightful owners, as it should have done so under its own
internal policies, "the Government deliberately held [Defendants] property for more than seven
years." See Exhibit 5, at JA180, 170. This meant that the defendants and their counsel in the
criminal case had to go to the FBI offices and request the right to review seized documents in order
to get access to them. But for a period of approximately two years beginning in 2006, the
Government denied access completely by refusing to permit any visits by defense counsel to the
office where hundreds of thousands of pages documents were kept. See Exhibit 5, at JA165-
166. "The defense team's last permitted visit to the FBI offices was in 2006," the Motion asserted,
and from then "until November of 2008, the Government denied the Defendants access to their
documents despite numerous requests.” See Exhibit 5, at JA166-168.

And even before and after that period of complete deprivation of access, the
Government deprived defendants of any meaningful access at the FBI offices in a myriad of
other ways described in the motion. First, the Government "never compiled an inventory of the
specific items and documents seized in the October 2001 raid,” which made it next to impossible
to even know what documents existed and were relevant to their defense. See Exhibit 5, at JA180,
169. Second, “Government agents - not defense counsel - would decide which boxes the team

would be permitted to review.” See Exhibit 5, at JA167. The Government also impaired
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access to documents by "reorganiz[ing] and rearrang[ing] the Defendants' documents by
removing some documents from their original boxes and placing them in different boxes
because the revised organization better suited her needs.” See Exhibit 5, at JA168. The defense
team "relied on the box numbers” to identify what was contained in them, and could not find
documents if they had been moved from one box to another. See Exhibit 5, at JA169. Worse
yet, Hamed and the other defendants asserted that the defense team’s limited review of the
boxes of documents maintained by the FBI revealed that “some boxes were entirely missing,"
and that "numerous documents™ were "now missing from the boxes” the Government still had.
See Exhibit 5, at JA174, §48. Complaints about the FBI’s mishandling of documents were
met with Agent Petri’s admonition to members of the defense team "that they were
misinformed if they believed the documents seized and maintained by the government
belonged to the defendants,” because in fact they "belonged to the Government, and that he
would do with them as he pleased." See Exhibit 5, at JA173, 45.

Hamed and the other defendants argued that the denial of access had been so thorough
and had so compromised their ability to defend the charges against them that the Court should
dismiss the case and order the immediate return of the voluminous United (and other
defendants’) documents that had been seized in the October 2001 raid. The Government
responded to the motion filed by Hamed and the other defendants on February 24, 2009, and
Defendants filed their reply to the Government's response on March 17, 2009.8 Then, on July

8, 2009, the day before Judge Finch’s hearing on the motion, the Government filed another

8For the sake of brevity, these two pleadings have not been attached to this Motion. They are,
however, available for review on the ECF docket for the criminal case in the event the Master
wishes to review them.

16



brief, which attached as an exhibit Agent Petri’s “unfettered access” declaration that Hamed
now relies on in his opposition to United’s motion for summary judgment.® See, Exhibit 6,
U.S. Government’s July 8, 2009 Response to Motion, specifically at JA238-241.
OnJuly 9, 2009, a hearing on the motion was held before the Honorable Raymond L.
Finch, and on July 16, Judge Finch entered an order which specifically found the
Government had improperly limited the defendants’ access to their documents, thereby
rejecting the "unfettered access™ assertions in the Petri declaration. See Exhibit 7, Judge
Finch’s July 16, 2009 Order, specifically at JA265. Judge Finch agreed with Hamed and
the other defendants that the Government had failed to provide an inventory of the
documents seized, had rearranged documents while they were in its custody and had
unreasonably limited the defendants’ review of documents. Judge Finch did not dismiss
the case, but he did grant the significant relief of ordering the Government to copy each
and every page of the hundreds of thousands of pages of documents in its possession, at
their cost, and then furnish them to the Defendants:
The Government never provided the Defendants with a detailed
inventory of the specific documents seized. The Government has only
permitted the Defendants limited review of the evidence under

supervision, which often involved oversight by government agents
involved in investigating thiscase.

**

Without a complete set of documents for unlimited review, the
defense team cannot determine the extent of harm, if any, that the
Government's rearrangement of the documents has caused.

®Hamed does not and cannot contend (let alone offer evidence) that the defendants ever defended
the criminal case by disputing the Government’s theory that United owned and operated the Plaza
Extra stores, and by arguing that United could not be guilty of any offense regarding
underreporting and underpayment of taxes because a partnership actually owned and operated the
stores.
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Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Government serve upon the defense team one
duplicate set of documents seized from the Defendants, as well as all
discoverable documents seized from third parties; that the duplicate
set correspond to the present documents arrangement; and that
Defendants have 60 days from the receipt of such documents to
supplement their Motion for Specific Relief due to the Government's
Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material
Evidence. (Emphasis supplied in part).
See Exhibit 7, at JA264-265. (emphasis added).
On August. 14, 2009, the Government filed a Motion to Reconsider Judge Finch's
Order (JA266), claiming that the Order was clearly erroneous or manifestly unjust and that,
among other things, it imposed a burden of production on the Government that would cost
"no less than $125,000" and require 3 to 4 months to complete. See Exhibit 8,
Government’s August 14, 2009 Motion for Reconsideration, specifically at JA267. A
month later, on September 14, 2009, Judge Finch entered an Order denying the
Government's Motion to Reconsider. Judge Finch’s ruling on the access issue were the
impetus to the Government’s entry of plea negotiations with the defendants, which resulted
in the February 26, 2010 plea agreement that effectively mooted the order requiring
immediate production of copies of all documents. See Exhibit 9—Criminal Case Filings
including Restitution Schedules (same as Exhibit 9 to the Opposition). Copies of the
documents were eventually returned, in 2011, via the FBI hard drive.
The doctrine of judicial estoppel prevents Hamed from arguing in these proceedings

that the U.S. Government gave defendants unfettered access to documents that were seized

in the raid, when he took precisely the opposite position in the criminal case. The Virgin
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Islands Supreme Court has recognized that “the judicial estoppel doctrine will preclude a party
from asserting a position on a question of fact or a mixed question of law and fact that is
inconsistent with a position taken by that party in a previous judicial proceeding if the totality
of the circumstances compels such a result.” Serauw v. Fawkes, 66 V.I. 253, 264-265 (V.I.
2017). The circumstances to be considered in determining whether judicial estoppel applies are
“the impact that allowing the inconsistent claims would have on the judicial process, which may
include considering the extent of the inconsistency (including any reasonable explanations that
would harmonize both positions), whether the party has received an unfair advantage or benefit
from asserting the inconsistent claims, and whether another court has already relied on the claim
made in the first proceeding.” Id. at 265.

Here, all three factors support the applicability of judicial estoppel. The positions
taken by Hamed in the criminal case and in this proceeding are completely irreconcilable,
and Hamed benefitted from his prior inconsistent position because Judge Finch relied on
his arguments in issuing a ruling favorable to Hamed. Accordingly, Hamed may not rely on
Agent Petri’s “unfettered access” assertions as a means of creating an issue of fact regarding
the availability of equitable tolling. To the contrary, Judge Finch’s finding that there was a
deprivation of access should be treated as conclusive on this issue. Hamed therefore has
not raised any issues of fact regarding United’s assertion that, by depriving United of the
Irvin accounting records, Community Bank statements and other materials needed to bring
and maintain a suit, the raid and criminal case are extraordinary circumstances or
impediments beyond United’s control that prevented it from bringing suit earlier than late

2011 at the earliest.
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Hamed also has no good answer to the other respects in which the pendency of the
criminal case was an extraordinary circumstance or an impediment to bringing suit before
late 2011 at the earliest. The press release issued by the U.S. Attorney for the Virgin Islands
on the filing of the 76-count indictment in September 2003 includes charts for each
defendant showing, for each count asserted against that defendant, which criminal
provisions of the U.S. Code and the Virgin Islands Code the defendant is charged with
violating, and the maximum prison sentence and fine that could be imposed for a conviction
under that count (or counts). See Exhibit 10-September 19, 2003 Press Release. Thus for
example, the charts show that that Fathi Yusuf and Waleed Hamed are each charged mail
fraud in Counts 3-43, and that a conviction for any one of those 44 counts would carry a
maximum prison sentence of 5 years. The charts show that Fathi Yusuf and Waleed Hamed
were each facing hundreds of years in prison time if convicted on these and the multitude
of other counts asserted against them in the indictment. See Exhibit 10.

Hamed does not and cannot dispute that “[t]he theory of the prosecution was that
United Corporation, a corporation owned by Fathi Yusuf and his family members —and not
an undocumented, oral Hamed/Yusuf partnership — owned and operated the Plaza Extra
supermarkets and was responsible for paying income and gross receipts taxes on store
revenues.” See Opposition at p. 29. Instead, he responds with the irrelevant and misleading
assertion that this “was one of many alternate theories of the defense.” Opposition at p. 29
(emphasis added). Nor does Hamed dispute the assertion in Mr. Yusuf’s declaration that
“the defense lawyers for me and the other defendants in the criminal [case] advised us not

to do or say nothing that would suggest the existence of a partnership between me and
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Mohammad Hamed, because that would hurt our defense and cause Mohammad Hamed to
be added to the case.” See, Exhibit 6 to United’s Motion, 4. Hamed’s response to United’s
SUMEF No. 9 is silent regarding Mr. Yusuf’s account of the defense lawyers’ instructions
to the defendants.’® See Opposition, p. 29.

Hamed has therefore raised no issue of material fact concerning United’s assertion that the
criminal case created a serious impediment to suing the partnership because doing so would
compromise the defense of the criminal case and expose his partner, Mohammad Hamed to a
prosecution that, if successful, would lead to the equivalent of a sentence of imprisonment for life.
If the Government had learned that the supermarkets were run by a Yusuf/United partnership, and
not by United, then the Government would undoubtedly have added Mohammed Hamed as a
defendant (and also, presumably, the partnership), and charged him with the same multitude of
offenses Mr. Yusuf was accused of committing. Indeed, Mohammad Hamed would likely be in
an even worse position than Yusuf, because the Government would contend that, by the expedient
of having United rather than a partnership file tax returns, Mohammad Hamed had entirely evaded
responsibility for his 50% share of the gross receipts and income taxes owed on supermarket
revenues.

The upshot is that the statute of limitations should also be equitably tolled because United
could not sue the partnership without compromising the ability of the defendants to oppose the

criminal charges and avoid fines and incarceration that could destroy the supermarket business and

OFor this reason, Yusuf could not have told the federal monitors that the supermarkets were run
by a partnership, which owed money to United, and requested the monitors to make an exception
to the injunction by authorizing a repayment to United. Hamed is therefore mistaken in suggesting
that “there was no reason why United couldn’t have requested authorization for repayment,”
Opposition at p. 30, or even that they would have granted such a request. See also Opposition at
p. 24. The federal monitors worked under and reported to the U.S. Attorney, and making that
request would plainly contravene the defense lawyers’ instructions.
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put the defendants in prison for many years, and without putting Yusuf’s partner, Mohammad
Hamed, in serious personal jeopardy for fines and a lengthy incarceration. To put it another way,
by not causing United to bring suit to recover the transfers made from the tenant account to
supermarket accounts, Yusuf was plainly benefitting both the partnership and Mohammad Hamed.

Hamed also disputes that Yusuf was the partner who determined when reconciliations were
made and had no reason to request a reconciliation or repayment of the advances made from the
tenant account before 2012. He had no reason before then to believe that his partner would invoke
a legal technicality to avoid a debt, and there was no other reason to ask for a reconciliation.
Hamed says he is disputing United’s SUMF no. 12, but he has produced no evidence to dispute
Mr. Yusuf’s testimony that he had discretion to determine when a reconciliation was made, and
his attempt to evade Judge Brady’s finding on this point is unpersuasive. See Hamed’s Opposition
atp. 31.

Hamed also relies on the Government’s inadmissible “draft schedules” exhibit to argue that
Mr. Yusuf had no reason to delay repayment to help the partnership with cash flow is untrue.
Hamed relies on the inadmissible “draft schedules” prepared by the Government to assert that in
1996 “over $8 million in sales went unreported to the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue.”
See Opposition at p. 27; see also id. at 31. He also ignores the fact, discussed above at p. 5-6,
supra, that the defendants in the criminal case disagreed with the Government’s allegations and
took the position there was no underpayment of taxes by United in 1996. Hamed fails to raise a
triable issue of fact concerning this additional reason for deferring repayment.

Finally, Hamed offers no cogent response to United’s contention that there was no
recognized partnership entity to sue before Judge Brady’s issued his April 2013 preliminary ruling

that there was an enforceable partnership agreement. It is noteworthy that even Hamed did not
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name a partnership as a defendant when he brought this suit in September 2012. He plainly did
not do so because formal partnership had yet been recognized by a court, and the purpose of his
lawsuit was to obtain that judicial recognition. To accomplish that in legal terms, Hamed not only
had to, in effect, pierce the corporate veil, but also had had to show that the oral agreement for a
partnership was enforceable under the statute of frauds.

At the time of Judge Brady’s April 2013 preliminary ruling, no property of the supermarket
business was titled in partnership name, no transactions with third parties were in partnership
name, and no tax returns for the supermarket business were filed by a partnership. Instead, United
was the record owner of all assets of the supermarket business, including bank and investment
accounts, and it, and not a partnership, was the entity that entered all contracts relating to that
business. Hamed argues that notwithstanding these facts, the partnership was a recognized entity
from 1999, because Yusuf had then described Mohammad Hamed as a partner in testimony he
gave then and again in 2000. See Opposition at pp. 15, 24. But on those two occasions Mr. Yusuf
was hardly expressing the legal conclusion that he and Hamed had formed a partnership within the
meaning of RUPA that could sue and be sued, buy and sell property and enter contracts. In short,
even if the previously described impediments to filing suit had never existed, the fact that the
partnership was not (preliminarily) recognized by a court until April 2013 would, by itself,
constitute such an impediment that warrants tolling of the statute of limitations. Hamed has raised
no genuine issue of fact indicating otherwise.

V1. United’s Responses to Hamed’s Counter Statement of Undisputed Material Facts.

Hamed has created submitted statements of undisputed material facts (“SUMF”’) in each of

his Y-7 and Y-9 oppositions that have substantial overlap. 21 of the 23 SUMFs for the Y-9
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opposition appear in the Y-7 opposition, albeit with different numbers. The Y-7 SUMFs include
those 21 and 12 additional SUMF’s.

The table attached hereto as Exhibit A shows the SUMFs in the two oppositions, and
United’s response to each. For the 21 SUMFs that appear in both oppositions, the first column in
the table gives the SUMF number from the Y-7 opposition and the next column provides the
corresponding SUMF number from the Y-9 opposition.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED
For all of the foregoing reasons, and for those articulated in its Motion, United respectfully

requests the Master to grant it summary judgment on Claims Y-7 and Y-9.

Respectfully submitted,

DuDLEY NEWMAN FEUERZEIG LLP

DATED: July 7, 2020 By:  s/Charlotte K. Perrell

GREGORY H. HODGES (V.1. Bar No. 174)

CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL (V.I. Bar No. 1281)

P.O. Box 756

St. Thomas, VI 00804

Telephone:  (340) 774-4422

Facsimile: (340) 715-4400

E-Mail: ghodges@dnfvi.com
cperrell@dnfvi.com

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation
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Exhibit A

Response to Hamed’s Counterstatement of Material Facts regarding Y-7 and Y-9



SUMF SUMF HAMED’S UNITED
No.s for No.s for SUMF RESPONSES
Hamed’s | Hamed’s
Y-7 Y-9
SUMFs SUMFs
United has not provided any documentation to independently | Undisputed that no Virgin Island
1. N/A substantiate two of the larger claims from 1994: 5/24/94 | Community Bank statements have been

Partnership’s Prudential Bache Investment Account, $30,000
and 9/23/94 Core States Property St. Thomas $40,010. No
investment or bank statements were provided to show that the
money was actually moved from United’s bank account
(“tenant account”). No bank records were provided to show
that the money was deposited into the Partnership’s Prudential
and Core States accounts. It is impossible to discern what the
records from 1994 really mean. For example, there are
records in 1994 of two Core States cashier’s checks made out
to Fathi Yusuf for a total of $145,000. (Exhibit 1) It is most
probable that those cashier checks were funded with
Partnership money. If so, any alleged debt owed by the
Partnership would have been wiped out by that Yusuf draw.
Completely unclear recordkeeping is one of the reasons why
Judge Brady limited claims to those occurring on September
17,2006 or later. (See also HCSOF 1 9)

located for these months, and hence that
none have been offered to back up Mike
Yusuf’s handwritten entries on United’s
Exhibit 11 and Mike Yusuf’s testimony
that he made those entries to document
the two checks drawn from the
Community Bank account on May 24,
1994 and September 23, 1994 and paid to
the Partnership’s Prudential Bache and
Corestates accounts in the respective
amounts of $30,000 and $40,010. See
Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion; Exhibit 3,
pp. 250-253 (testimony of Mike Yusuf).
United does, however, dispute any
implication that the absence of this
backup creates a genuine issue of
material fact regarding whether the two
transfers were made from United’s
Community Bank tenant account.
Because United Corporation and Mr.
Yusuf are not one and the same, United
disputes the allegation that if the
$145,000 in checks written to Fathi
Yusuf from the Corestates accounts were
distributions of partnership money, then
the transfers made by United from its




tenant account would be wiped out by the
Yusuf draw.

N/A

United has not provided any records to independently
substantiate the smaller claims for 1994 and 1998 either.
Thus, there is no proof or record.

Undisputed that United has been unable
to locate Community Bank monthly
statements for any month in 1994, and
therefore has not offered any statements
to back up Mike Yusuf’s handwritten
entries on United’s Exhibit 11 reflecting
the payment in the amount of $400 on
May 23, 1994. The other small items
were not paid by check. The $1,000
entry for September 23, 1994 for two
refrigerators represents that went to the
Hamed and Yusuf families and were
“sold” by a tenant named Best Furniture
for $1,000, with payment taking the form
of a reduction in rent paid by Best
Furniture. Exhibit 3, pp. 253-254
(testimony of Mike Yusuf). The $350
entry for “Bed and Bench” for September
23, 1994 was handled the same way. See
Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion; Exhibit 3,
p. 254 (testimony of Mike Yusuf). The
“bedroom set for Allaah” entry in May
1998 for $3,000 represents a wedding gift
to a cousin of both families that at Wally
Hamed’s request was also paid for in the
form of reduced rent to Best Furniture.
See Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion;
Exhibit 3, p. 256-257. (testimony of
Mike Yusuf). United has satisfied its
burden for summary judgment regarding
these entries.




N/A

Similarly, a May 5, 1995 Peter’s Farm Investment
Corporation alleged expense of $60,000 claimed here does
not belong in this Partnership claims process. As United
described in its summary judgment motion, Peter’s Farm
iIs a totally separate and independent corporation. (United
Exhibits 2-4) Any funds that United allegedly pledged to
Peter’s Farm must be addressed to Peter’s Farm, not the
Partnership. Therefore, this is an illegitimate claim against the
Partnership.

United does not dispute that Peter’s Farm
IS a separate corporation, but the payment
was to have been on behalf of the
Partnership. Therefore, as United paid
out of the Tenant Account and not with
Partnership ~ funds,  United  seeks
reimbursement from the Partnership.

N/A

Similarly, United alleges that the Partnership was required to
pay the property tax of the Yusuf-family owned Shopping
Center as Sion Farm (2/17/95 1993 Property Tax for
United $20,000 and 8/31/95 1994 Property Tax for United
$40,000). Again, United has not provided any documentation
of an agreement between Fathi Yusuf and Mr. Mohammad
Hamed to pay United’s property tax. Also, Mike Yusuf, as
President of United, and Fathi Yusuf do not agree on what
these entries mean either: Mike Yusuf testified that the eighth
ledger entry for $40,000 was for the United property tax, but
then stated “It's not clear.” Fathi Yusuf said it could have
been a tax on the improvements to the supermarket, not the
whole United Shopping Center. (Exhibit 2)

Yusuf does not dispute that this
agreement, like the  partnership
agreement itself, is not in writing.
Consistent with many commercial
leases, including Plaza Extra Tutu
Park’s lease, Mr. Yusuf testified that
property taxes for the Plaza Extra East
store are an expense that was to be
borne by the partnership. See Exhibit 3,
p. 269 (testimony of Fathi Yusuf).
Hence, Fathi Yusuf’s testimony is
sufficient to establish that the payment
was for property taxes owed under his
agreement with Hamed.

N/A

United states that three of the 1995 entries on the ledger
sheet were backed up by accounting records prepared by
John Benson “Ben” Irvin. As demonstrated in HCSOF
17-19, Ben Irvin’s financial accounting was a fiction and is
inherently unreliable and untrustworthy. As set forth
there, he has specifically testified that he wrote down
whatever made up story Fathi told him to write and there is
no truth in these records at all.

Disputed. There is nothing in the FBI
agent’s interview notes for Ben Irvin that
relates to the accounting records showing
what was then a United intra-company
transaction, and nothing in his interview
relating to how he accounted for income
from supermarket sales that casts any
doubt of the truthfulness of the
accounting records attached to United’s




Motion in Exhibits 9A, 11 and 13.

N/A

United has not provided the complete “black book™ or
ledger book. It is impossible to know whether these alleged
debts are still outstanding or were offset by other entries. It
is half an accounting. As Mike Yusuf, author of the ledger
page or black book admitted, it is possible that other pages in
the ledger book could show amounts that United owed to the
Partnership.

Q.[Ms. Perrell]. . . .So what I've handed you has

been marked as Exhibit 11. Can you identify it?

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Yes.

Q. What is it?

A. It's a -- what | paid from United. What tenant

account for Plaza. | used to write it down on this

ledger.

* * * *

Q. [Mr. Hartmann] So -- so there could have been

like the next page of this thing. | don't have it, but

obviously somebody did, because they put all these

tabs on it. So let's say | flipped up this tab and

read the heading at the next page,

could the next page say -- this one says -- what

Does it say at the top? Can you just read that out

for me where it says A? (1/21/2020 Mike Yusuf

depo, 264:19-25)

A. [MIKE YUSUF] I think that says United paid

out for Plaza.

Q. For Plaza. Okay. So if | flipped it over, could

the next page have said, Plaza paid out for United?

A. Possibly. (Exhibit 3)

United acknowledges that it has been
unable to locate other pages of the
ledger, and therefore has not produced
them. While Mike Yusuf testified that it
was possible that there might be
repayments from Plaza Extra to United,
Mr. Yusuf has stated in a sworn
declaration that he did not direct any
such repayments and knows of none.
See Exhibit 6 to United’s Motion, 9 4.

N/A

\ Not only did Mike Yusuf destroy Partnership financial

| Undisputed.
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records (see HCSOF { 14), he also stated that he kept the
ledger or black book in the safe, but does not know what
ultimately happened to it. He also did not know what
happened to it after the one page of the Partnership’s alleged
debts was photocopied. Thus, it is impossible to know if
these alleged debts are outstanding.

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .So what I've handed you has

been marked as Exhibit 11. Can you identify it?

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Yes.

Q. What is it?

A. It's a -- what | paid from United. What tenant

account for Plaza. | used to write it down on this

ledger.

* * * *
A. [MIKE YUSUF] And | used to keep -- it was
in a black book that | used to keep in the safe.
* * * *

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Because | had a black book,

and it's the same page just like this. And I know

there's more, but it's just to

put my hands on it.

Q. [Ms. Perrell] This is the only one that you

have?

A. It's the only one | have, yes.

* * * *

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . . And -- and you see over
on the right side here, there are a bunch of -- of
tab stickers? They look like things that were
copied when this page was copied?

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Right.

Q. Do you -- do you know what was underneath
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this page?

A. No. That's what I'm telling you. That's the
black book. I don't know where it is.

Q. Do you know when this copy was made?
A. When it was made?

* * * *

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Not sure, no. (Exhibit 4)

N/A

In a supplemental response to Hamed’s document request for
the entire ledger or black book, United responded: “United
shows that it has undertaken a diligent search of all records
to determine if the book from which the copy was derived is
available and has been unable to locate same.” (Exhibit 5)
(Emphasis added.)

Undisputed.

N/A

Judge Brady, in his Order re Limitations on Accounting,
Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (July 25, 2017) at 11
observed in footnote 10:

Here however, as a result of the
questionable and highly informal
financial accounting practices of the
partnership, by which both partners
and their respective family members
unilaterally withdrew funds from
partnership accounts as needed to
cover various business and personal
expenses, there exists no authoritative
ledger or series of financial
statements recording the distribution
of funds between partners upon which
the Master or the Court could
reasonably rely in conducting an
accounting. Instead the Court finds

United objects to this statement of
undisputed facts on the grounds that it is
not material to the issues raised by
United’s Motion for Summary Judgment
on Claims Y-7 and Y-9. Subject to that
objection, United does not dispute that
these passages appear in Judge Brady’s
opinion.
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itself in the predicament of having
to account for multiple decades'
worth of distributions of partnership
funds among the partners and their
family members based upon little more
than a patchwork of cancelled checks,
hand-written  receipts  for  cash
withdrawn from Plaza Extra safes,
and the personal recollections of the
partners and their agents.

Judge Brady also stated,

As the last and only true-up of the
partnership business occurred in 1993,
the parties, by their respective actions
for accounting, effectively impose
upon the Court the onerous burden of
reconstructing, out of whole cloth,
twenty-five years' worth of these
partner account transactions, based
upon nothing more than scant
documentary evidence and the ever-
fading recollections of the partners
and their representatives. For the
reasons

discussed below, the Court concludes,
upon considerations of laches and a
weighing of the interests of both the
parties and the Court in the just and
efficient resolution of their disputes,
that the equities of this particular case

7




necessitate the imposition of a six-

year equitable limitation period for

871

(@) claims submitted to the Master in the
accounting and distribution phase of the Wind Up
Plan. Id. at 15-16 (footnotes omitted)

10.

From 1996-2002, the US federal government alleged a vast
money laundering scheme operated by United Corporation,
Fathi and Mike Yusuf, Wally and Willy Hamed and
others. On September 19, 2003, in United States of America v.
Fathi Yusuf, et. al., 1:03- cr-00147, the group was indicted on,
among other things, money laundering, tax evasion and filing
false corporate income tax returns. The Government
described the extensive and high-value money laundering
scheme as follows:

9. Beginning at least as early as in or

about January 1996 and continuing

through at least in or about September,

2002, defendants FATHI  YUSUF,

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED

and UNITED defrauded the Virgin

Islands of money in the form of tax

revenue, specifically territorial gross

receipts taxes as well as corporate income

taxes, by failing to report at least $60

million in Plaza Extra sales on gross

receipts tax returns and corporate income

tax returns.

* k% k% *

11. Defendants FATHI YUSUF,

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED

and UNITED directed and caused Plaza

Extra employees to withhold from

Undisputed that these allegations appear
in the initial indictment. Dispute any
implication that the indictment referred
to an “extensive and high value money-
laundering scheme.”




deposit substantial amounts of cash
received from sales, typically bills in
denominations of $100, $50 and $20.
Instead of being deposited into the bank
accounts with other sales receipts, this
cash was delivered to one of the
defendants or placed in a designated safe in
the cash room. From 1996 through 2001,
tens of millions of dollars in cash was
withheld from deposit in this manner and
as such, was not reported as Qross
receipts on tax returns filed by UNITED.

12. In this way, defendants FATHI
YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED and UNITED caused the filing
of dozens of false monthly gross receipts
tax returns, which failed to report the cash
withheld from deposit as gross receipts,
thereby depriving the Virgin Islands of
substantial tax  revenue. Defendant
UNITED's controller prepared and signed
Plaza Extra's monthly gross receipts tax
returns, declaring under oath that the
returns were true and complete, knowing
full well that the returns were false in that
they failed to report substantial sales
receipts.

* * * %

17. Defendants FATHI YUSUF and
WALEED HAMED caused the checks
and money orders described above to
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be deposited into foreign bank accounts
they controlled. For example, defendants
FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED
compiled the various checks and money
orders obtained with unreported cash and
caused them to be transported from the
Virgin Islands to the Kingdom of Jordan
("Jordan™), where the funds were
deposited into accounts they controlled at
Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan.
* X% * *

19. Defendants FATHI YUSUF and
WALEED HAMED smuggled and caused
to be smuggled millions of dollars of
unreported cash from the Virgin Islands to
the island of St. Martin, in the French
West Indies, where it was deposited into
accounts at Banque Francaise
Commerciale that they and defendant
ISAM YOUSUF controlled. (Exhibit 6)

11.

Thus, in 1996, the Plaza Extra stores had plenty of funds to
meet any obligations. Wally Hamed testified under oath on
January 21, 2020 that the volume of sales in St. Thomas after
Hurricane Marilyn went up by maybe three, four or five
times because of the hurricane. Wally Hamed noted that
Plaza Extra was only one or two of the surviving grocery
stores on St. Thomas after the hurricane. (Exhibit 20) It
would not be an exaggeration to say that federal agents
described money pouring into the Partnership at
unprecedented levels.

United disputes that in 1996 the stores
had “plenty of funds to meet any
obligations,” and disputes Wally
Hamed’s testimony that stores sales
increased by a magnitude of 3, 4 or 5
times after Hurricane Marilyn struck the
islands in September 1995. See
United’s Statement of Undisputed
Material Facts, Y4, and testimony of
Fathi Yusuf cited therein.  United
disputes the statements that Hamed,
without any citation to evidence,
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attributes to federal agents and further
objects on the ground that any such
statements are inadmissible hearsay.

12.

For example, the US federal government’s January 4, 2005
draft analysis in the criminal case against United, the Yusufs
and the Hameds demonstrates that there were no cash flow
problems for the Partnership in 1996 or 1998. Unreported
sales for the stores in 1996 were $8 million and in 1998
were $13.9 million. (Exhibit 7)

United objects to this statement of fact
on the grounds that the document relied
on for this statement of fact is
inadmissible hearsay, and on the further
grounds that the document is being
offered without any foundation (e.g.,
regarding  authorship, purpose of
creation, method of tabulation, the extent
to which this “draft” document was
superseded by a final version). United
also points out that in the restitution
schedules marked as exhibit 1 to the plea
agreement entered in the criminal case
(Exhibit 9 to Hamed’s Opposition), the
Defendants take the position that no
gross receipts taxes or income taxes are
owed for 1996 — which means that
Defendants deny that there was any
under-reporting of income for that tax
year.

13.

The US federal government’s January 4, 2005 draft analysis
concluded that the Partnership had over $60 million in
unreported gross sales from 1996 through 2001. (Exhibit
7)

Disputed for the reasons given in
response to SUMF 12, and objected to
on the same grounds.

14.

Mike Yusuf, as President of United, testified as the
30(b)(6) deposition witness for United. In his testimony,
Mike Yusuf confirmed that he destroyed financial records
of the Partnership. Destroyed records make it impossible to
do an accurate reconciliation of all accounts to determine
debts owed and debts paid.

United does not dispute that the
testimony of Mike Yusuf is quoted
correctly, but disputes that the safe
receipts destroyed make it impossible to
know the net reconciliation of these
receipts from the safe.

11




A. [MIKE YUSUF] 2001, that's the -- the
year that we had the raid.

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .What --
Approximately what date?

A. October 23rd of 2001.

**k*k

A. Okay. Sometime | would say a
month and a half to two months before
that, Waleed got a call from Waheed
saying that something is going on.
Some kind of agency is coming to spot
check us, look at us. | -- I don't know
the details of that. So among us, at that
time, it was me, Mufeed and Waleed in
the Plaza Extra East. . . the store in
West was open at that time.
So | left my store, and | came to
East to —

**k*
We just heard through the grapevine,
something is happening. We didn't
know.
So between among us, we decided to
destroy
some of the receipts, because they were
all in cash. We pulled out a good bit of
receipts from the safes in Plaza East.
Mufeed was present with me. He had a
whole, a heap of receipts for the
Hameds only. It could be from either
one of the Hameds, once it's the
Hamed. And receipts from the

12




Yusuf, which basically was just

me, not, you know, nobody

else.

Mufeed, | guess you call it, tallied, and,
you know, put a tape on what

they withdraw, and I put a tally,

a tape, on what I withdraw.

Once everything dropped to the penny,
we were fine, | said, Listen. I'm
destroying my receipts. (Exhibit 8)

15.

By agreement between the parties and the Government on
February 26, 2010, United admitted this when it pled
guilty to one count of tax evasion. The case against the
remaining defendants was dismissed with prejudice.
(Exhibit 9)

United objects to this statement of
undisputed material fact on the grounds
that the key phrase, “admitted this,” is
ambiguous, leaving United unable to
either dispute or not dispute what is
being asserted. The restitution schedules
attached to the plea agreement showed
that the Defendants rejected as false the
United State’ contentions about what
income was unreported, and hence what
gross receipts and income taxes were
still owing by United. United does not
dispute that it pled guilty to one count of
filing a false return for one tax year
(2001), and that the charges against the
individual defendants were dismissed.

16.

In an opinion letter dated September 19, 2016, Lawrence
Schoenbach, Esq., stated that it would be impossible to
accurately reconstruct the financial records of United and the
Plaza Extra stores from 1996 to September 2002 due to
the vast money laundering scheme.

According to the indictment, from "at least as

United does not dispute that Hamed has
accurately quoted portions of Mr.
Schoenbach’s  September 19, 2016
opinion letter (attached as Exhibit 10 to
Hamed’s Opposition).  United also
objects to the Schoenbach Opinion
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early as in or about January 1996 and
continuing through at least in or about
September 2002, defendant[] . . . UNITED
defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the
form of tax revenue, specifically territorial
gross receipts taxes by failing to report at least
$60 million in Plaza Extra sales on gross
receipts tax returns and corporate income tax
returns.

* * * *

The scheme to skim funds from the stores (i.e.
removal of funds from sales receipts before
those funds are accounted for and taxes paid on
them) is a classic white collar/business crime
in which the purpose is to hide those funds
from the governmental taxing authorities to
avoid taxation, both regarding the receipt and
disbursement. Most of such tax avoidance
schemes require the removal of funds before
accounting and/or the alteration of accounting
records to reflect less cash received by the
company than ultimately reported. The method
used here, removal of funds prior to their
being reported as sales, can be accomplished
by several means, some of which were used
here, to wit: those acting on behalf of the
Company took cash out of sales before the
Company could properly account for them.
Another example of the fraudulent scheme
involved cashing checks for third parties
and then keeping and transacting the checks
elsewhere. Cash was distributed without records

Letter as being relevant or material to
any issues raised by United’s Motion for
Summary Judgment on Claims Y-7 or
Y-9. Mr. Schoenbach’s Opinion Letter
offers no opinion as to the validity of the
dollar amount of transfers from United’s
tenant account to Plaza Extra accounts
shown in Ben Irvin’s accounting and in
Exhibit 11. His Opinion Letter does not
indicate that he reviewed Ben Irvin’s
accounting records that are attached to
United’s Motion for Summary Judgment
in Exhibits 9A, 11 and 13.
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or controls or those records were destroyed.

The most fundamental feature of such a
scheme is that the actual accounting records of
the entity do not, and in fact cannot, accurately
reflect the amount of cash taken in. No proper
accounting can be determined from the
Company's financial records because the
gross receipts have been intentionally
misapplied and documented. The very purpose
of this sort of scheme is to render any
accounting  inaccurate. ~ Moreover,  any
remaining records would have to be suspect
because a criminal—with criminal intent and a
criminal purpose -- would have created them.
Further, because of the admitted lack of
internal controls at United during the pre-2001
time period, there could be no legal or
properly accurate way by which one could
ascertain the correct amount of cash actually
received or disbursed by the company.

It is critical that the parties have both admitted that
many records of transaction that should have gone into
any accurate accounting were not kept or mutually and
intentionally destroyed. For example, in his deposition, Mike
Yusuf, President of United Corporation (and Fathi Yusuf's
oldest son) testified that he and some of the Hamed brothers,
upon hearing that the FBI was about to raid them in 2001,
intentionally destroyed “a whole heap of” records (including
those that would show where millions in cash partnership
funds really went -- two months before the FBI raid and
subsequent criminal charges). As such, there could be no way

15




to verify the completeness of such records. Because the very
nature of the crime, particularly money laundering/tax
evasion, is to hide such incoming and outgoing funds from
legitimate accounting it is impossible to determine and
account for any portion of that amount each partner has or
owes to the other. Since many such transactions were not
recorded or destroyed, any remaining “records” can never be
legitimately credited or debited against the unknown amounts.
(Exhibit 10)(footnotes omitted)

17.

14.

On August 1, 2003, John Benson “Ben” Irvin was
interviewed by FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri. Irvin
was the financial controller for Plaza Extra, despite not
having a formal education in tax accounting. (Exhibit 11)
During the interview, subject to 18 USC 1001, Irvin
described the process for determining Plaza Extra store
sales. Irvin stated that Fathi Yusuf told him that store sales
were to be based on deposits. Irvin noted that Yusuf was
very emphatic on this point and Irvin didn’t inquire further
on the subject of sales. Irvin also knew the store had a
point of sales system that would give accurate store sales
figures, but he was not allowed access to that system.
Finally, Yusuf told

Irvin that he did not need to conduct internal financial

audits.

IRVIN was told by FATHI YUSUF
that store sales would be based on
deposits. IRVIN said that normal
accounting procedures allow
accountants to conduct internal audits.
IRVIN advised that YUSUF told him
that internal audits were being

United disputes some of the
paraphrasing of the interview notes, but
does not dispute that the quotation from
the notes was accurately reproduced in
the SUMF. United disputes that
anything in the Irvin interview notes
about how he accounted for gross
supermarket sales is material to whether
his accounting for transfers made from
United’s tenant accounts to Plaza Extra
in United’s exhibits 9A, 11 and 13 is
accurate.
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handled and to simply continue to
use deposits to calculate sales.
IRVIN said that YUSUF told him
this early on and that YUSUF was
very emphatic. IRVIN never revisited
the subject of sales with YUSUF and
continued to base sales on daily
deposits. (Exhibit 11)

18.

15.

In that same August 1, 2003 FBI interview, Ben Irvin also
stated he was instructed at times to make the inventory for a
particular year come out to a set number. For instance, in
February and March 1999, he was told by Fathi Yusuf to
make the inventory number come out to $3 million. Yusuf
wanted to do this in order to show a lower net income. In
other words, it was a way for Yusuf to artificially lower the
amount of taxes owed by the Plaza Extra stores. Thus, any
financial records from this time were total fiction.

IRVIN was shown copies of

February and March of 1999 gross

receipts sales tax figures. IRVIN stated

that he had a discussion with FATHI

YUSUF concerning cost of goods

sold. YUSUF told IRVIN that it was

not possible to determine actual

numbers for cost of goods sold. Per

YUSUF'S instructions, IRVIN was

told to determine cost of goods sold

in whatever manner would reflect

approximately $3 million in year

United does not dispute that the quoted
material from the interview notes in this
SUMF was accurately transcribed, but
does dispute the inference that Hamed
draws from these quotations that “any
financial records” created by Ben Irvin
were “total fiction.” United disputes that
anything in the Irvin interview notes
about how he accounted for inventory
and gross supermarket sales is material
to whether his accounting for intra-
company transfers made from United’s
tenant accounts to Plaza Extra in
United’s exhibits 9A, 11 and 13 is
accurate.
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ending inventory for each store.
IRVIN also had conversations with
WILLIE HAMED concerning cost of
goods sold and what the average
markup on merchandise was. IRVIN
said that HAMED was not specific
but understood that YUSUF wanted
ending inventory to be around $3
million. IRVIN advised that to
determine cost of goods sold he
would use a formula reflecting a
42% markup, or more often than not,
simply plug in numbers so the $3
million number would be met.

IRVIN stated that the reason YUSUF
wanted the number for inventory to be
around $3 million for each store was to
show a lower net income. If taxable
income was too high, YUSUF would
tell IRVIN to adjust cost of goods sold
to show a decrease in the companies
profit. IRVIN stated YUSUF normally
had him adjust the numbers presented
to him which reflected cost of goods
sold. (Exhibit 11)

19.

16.

Finally, during the August 1, 2003 FBI interview, Ben Irvin
noted that he looked at the United corporate tax returns to
make sure Irvin’s numbers matched the numbers the CPA,
Pablo O’Neill, recorded on United’s tax returns. If O’Neill
made any adjustments, Irvin requested that the adjustments

United does not dispute that the quoted
material from the interview notes in this
SUMF was accurately transcribed, but
does dispute the inference that Hamed
draws from these quotations that “any
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be sent to him so his entries would match O’Neill’s.
IRVIN advised that he looked at the
corporate tax returns to insure that
PABLO O'NEILL'S numbers matched
his. If ONEILL made any
adjustments, IRVIN requested that
they be sent to him so that he could
make corrected entries to match
PABLO O'NEILL'S numbers. IRVIN
said that he could think of no reason
why the 4% Gross Sales Tax figures
and the numbers on the general ledgers
would differ from the corporate returns.
(Exhibit 11)

financial records” created by Ben Irvin
were “total fiction.” United disputes that
anything in the Irvin interview notes
about how he made sure that store
income figures on the tax returns
matched the general ledger is material to
whether his accounting for intra-
company transfers made from United’s
tenant accounts to Plaza Extra in
United’s exhibits 9A, 11 and 13 is
accurate.

20.

17.

Mike Yusuf, President of United, testified at his
deposition that he did not know why the Yusuf
family-owned United tenant bank account was
transferring money to the Partnership. He did not
dispute the fact that this was just a normal part of
the movement of funds in such a laundering
scheme. He could not identify the reason for the
transfer - he did not know whether the Partnership
owed money to United or whether United was
reimbursing the Partnership for an expense the
Partnership paid on its behalf.
Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .For the amounts

that were transferred over, the -- let's

say -- let's go about the first one, the
15,900, do you have any particular
recollection as to why there was a

transfer for 15,900 to Plaza partnership

United does not dispute that the
testimony of Mike Yusuf excerpted here
was accurately transcribed.  United
does, however, disputed Hamed’s
paraphrasing of that testimony in this
SMFU in his purported summary of
Mike’s testimony. Hamed is putting
words into Mike Yusuf’s mouth when
he claims that Mike testified that the
payments made from United’s tenant
account to the Plaza Extra accounts
were “just a normal part of the
movement of funds in such a laundering
scheme.” Mike gave no such testimony.
Hamed does the same when contends
that Mike testified that did not know
whether the the purpose of the transfers
know was to pay money owed by
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account?
* *k * %
Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . .So this one is a specific
amount, 15,900.
Do you have -- let me ask you, what would
have -- first of all,
do you have any
recollection of this
particular entry?
A. [MIKE YUSUF] No. I don't have
recollection of the amounts, no.
* * * %
Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .Other
than 1996, do you recall
any other times where there
were amounts going. . .
from the United tenant account into the
Plaza Extra partnership
account? When you were
doing these transfers back
and forth, do you recall
that?
A. [MIKE YUSUF] No, no,
these are all the checks
going into -- directly to the
-- the operating account for
Plaza.
Q..... Other than in 1996 -- these are just

A. Right.

Q. Other than 1996, there seem to be quite --
it

happened regularly.

United to the partnership or to reimburse
the Partnership for an expense the
Partnership paid on its behalf. To the
contrary, Mike Yusuf testified that the
wrote the checks that comprise the
payments on Exhibit 11, and handwrote
the dates, amounts and purpose of the
payment on that Exhibit. See Exhibit 3,
p. 250 (testimony of Mike Yusuf);
Exhibit 11 to United’s Motion for
Summary Judgment. Exhibit 11 shows
9 payments made in 1994, 1995, and
1998, the purposes of which are
described in Mike Yusuf’s deposition
testimony. See Exhibit 11; Exhibit 3,
pp. 250-257.

20




Other than 1996, was
that something that
was occurring?
A. | don't remember.
* k%
A. ldon't
remember. |
mean, | was
dependent on Ben
Irvin to keep the
record with the --
with the tenant
account. (Exhibit
12)

21.

N/A

Mike Yusuf, President of United, stated that it is possible
that the FBI did not seize the ledger or black book because
the black book was in the large safe at Plaza Extra East and
the FBI did not take all documents that were in that safe.

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .So what I've handed

you has been marked as Exhibit 11. Can

you identify it?

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Yes.

Q. What is it?

A. It'sa -- what | paid from United. What

tenant account for Plaza. | used to write it

down on this ledger.

* * * *

Q. [Mr. Hartmann] You said it was in a safe at the
business, right?

A. [MIKE YUSUF] Yes.

Q..... What safe was that?

A. Plaza East.

Undisputed.
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* * * *

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .And was it the big safe or
the little safe?
A. [MIKE YUSUF] The big safe.
* * * *
Q..... And when the FBI raided the place,
they emptied the safes, right?
A. Not really. Not really.
A. They left some stuff in there, yes.
Q. They did?
A. Yes, they did.
Q. So all the documents from the store don't have
Bates Stamps, is what you're saying? Some
of the FBI didn't get some of the
documents?
A. I don't believe so. | think some stuff was
still in -- in the safe. (Exhibit 12A)

22.

17.

In 2003, according to a declaration (dated July 8, 2009) in
the criminal case, United States of America v. Fathi Yusuf
Mohammed Yusuf et. al., Criminal No. 2005-015 (DE 1148-
1), FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri stated that counsel
for the defendants, including United, were allowed
complete access to review the seized Plaza Extra

documents.

In 2003, subsequent to the return of the
indictment, counsel for defendants was
afforded complete access to seized evidence.
Attorney Robert King, the attorney then
representing  defendants, reviewed the
discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas.
He and a team of approximately four or five

United objects to this SUMF on the
grounds that the declaration of Agent
Petri is inadmissible hearsay, and on the
additional ground, described in more
detail at pages 18-19, supra, that Hamed
is judicially estopped from relying on
this declaration.
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individuals reviewed evidence for several
weeks. They brought with them a copier and
made many copies of documents. (Exhibit 13)

23.

12.

In 2004, according to a declaration (dated July 8, 2009) in
the criminal case, United States of America v. Fathi Yusuf
Mohammed Yusuf et. al., Criminal No. 2005-015 (DE 1148-
1), FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri stated that up to ten
people for the defense, including the United Corporation,
reviewed the seized Plaza Extra and United documents.
Special Agent Petri noted that the defense team spent
several weeks reviewing the evidence and had one copier and
one scanner with them to make images of the evidence. Petri
confirmed that the defense team had “unfettered access” to
the documents and were permitted to review any box of
documents at any time.

8. In 2004, a different set of attorneys

presently representing the defendants

reviewed the evidence seized in the

course of the execution of the search

warrants. By my  estimation,

document review team included up

to ten people at any one time. The

defense team spent several weeks

reviewing the evidence. They had with

them at least one copier and one

scanner with  which they made

numerous copies and images of the

evidence.

9. During the 2004 review, the defense team
was afforded unfettered access to discovery.
They were permitted to review any box of

United objects to this SUMF on the
grounds that the declaration of Agent
Petri is inadmissible hearsay, and on the
additional ground, described in more
detail at pages 18-19, supra, that Hamed
is judicially estopped from relying on
this declaration.
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documents at any time, including evidence
seized during the searches, foreign bank
records, documents obtained either
consensually or by grand jury subpoena, and
FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled
numerous boxes at one time with many different
people reviewing different documents from
different boxes. (Exhibit 13)

24,

13.

On March 22, 2017, Gordon Rhea, Esq. signed a declaration.
He stated that there was a Joint Defense Agreement between
all of the defendants, except Isam Yousef, in the criminal
case, United States of America v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed
Yusufet. al., Criminal No. 2005-015.

3. | was one of the defense lawyers in

the criminal action filed by the United

States of America in the District

Court of the Virgin Islands (St

Thomas Division), Docket No,1:05-

cr-00015, against the following

defendants:

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, aka Fathi
Yusuf

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Wally
Hamed

WAHEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Willie
Hamed

MAHER FATHI YUSUF, aka Mike Yusuf
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF,

ISAM YUSUF, and

UNITED CORPORATION

4. All of the defendants in that

Undisputed.
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criminal case, except for Isam Yousef
who was never apprehended, were
represented  jointly by  multiple
counsel, including myself, under a
Joint Defense Agreement.

Pursuant to the Joint Defense Agreement, all defense
counsel worked together on behalf of all of the
represented defendants in a joint effort to defend the
case. (Exhibit 14)

25.

On September 25, 1999, Fathi Yusuf declared in an
affidavit that his brother-in-law, Mohammad Hamed, has
been his Partner in the Plaza Extra stores since 1984. Thus,
United’s argument that there was no entity to sue from 2004-
2008 is untrue.

2. My brother in law, Mohamed Hamed, and | have been
full partners in the Plaza Extra Supermarket since 1984
while we were obtaining financing and constructing the
store, which finally opened in 1986. (Exhibit 15)

United does not dispute that the quoted
statement was accurately transcribed
from Mr. Yusuf’s September 25, 1999
declaration. He does dispute, however,
that this statement means that there
existed a formal partnership entity within
the meaning of the Revised Uniform
Partnership Act. No such partnership
was record owner of any property or
bank accounts, or filed tax returns. And
no court had ever even preliminarily
established that a partnership existed
within the meaning of RUPA, and that
this oral partnership was enforceable
under the statute of frauds, until Judge
Brady’s order granting a preliminary
injunction was issued in April 2013.

26.

10.

On February 2, 2000, Fathi Yusuf was deposed in Idheileh
v. United Corp. and Fathi Yusuf, Territorial Court of the
Virgin Islands, Division of St. Thomas and St. John, case
no. 156/1997. In his deposition, Yusuf asserted that both
he and Mr. Mohammad Hamed have been Partners in the
Plaza Extra grocery stores since 1984.

United does not dispute that the
testimony quoted in this SUMF was
accurately reproduced, but does dispute
that it establishes the existence in a legal
sense of a partnership.  Rather, the
testimony emphasizes that the legal
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A. [FATHI YUSUF] But | want you
please to be aware that my partner’s
with me since 1984, and up to now
his name is not in my corporation.
And that -- excuse me and that prove
my honesty. Because if | was not
honest, my brother-in-law will not let
me control his 50 percent. And |
know very well, my wife knows, my
children knows, that whatever Plaza
Extra owns in assets, in receivable or
payable, we have a 50 percent
partner.

* Kk k x
Q. [FATHI YUSUF]. . . . You were asked
by Attorney Adams when it says United
Corporation in this Joint Venture
Agreement, in talking about Plaza Extra,
talking about the supermarket on St.
Thomas, who owned or who was partners in
United Corporation Plaza Extra at the time
before you entered into that Joint Venture
Agreement?
A. [Fathi Yusuf] It's always, since 1984,
Mohammed Hamed.
Q. .... So when it says United Corporation —
A. It's really meant me and Mr. Mohammed
Hamed. (Exhibit 16)

structure of the owner and operator of
the Plaza Extra supermarkets is a
corporation, even if informally Yusuf
regarded Mohammad Hamed as partner.

27.

N/A

The statute of limitations for the 1994 and 1995 claims
expired in 2000 and 2001, before the 2003 criminal
indictment, so United’s purported reason for tolling the
SOL with respect to these claims does not apply. (Exhibit

United objects to this purported
statement of undisputed fact on the
grounds that it is actually in the nature
of a legal conclusion. Subject to that

26




6).

objection, United states that because the
transfers are part of an open account, the
statute of limitations on the 1994 and
1995 claims did not begin running until
the last payment on the open account
was made, on May 1, 1998. See Exhibit
1, p. 250 (testimony of Mike Yusuf);
Exhibit 11. Depending on whether the
6-year or 10-year statute of limitations
applies, the limitations period extends to
either May 1, 2004 or May 1, 2008, both
of which dates are after the FBI raid in
October 2001 and after the filing of the
criminal indictment in September 2003.
Those two events tolled or suspended
the running of the statute of limitations
until late 2011 at the earliest.

28.

19.

The federal monitors, brought in to provide oversight on
United’s financials during the pendency of the criminal case,
allowed expenditures to be made out of the Yusuf family-
owned tenant account and the Partnership bank accounts,
despite those accounts being under a court imposed
injunction. For example, United was allowed to use the
tenant bank account to fund the building of a home on St.
Thomas for Fathi Yusuf’s son, Nejeh Yusuf and to fund
and open a laundromat in United’s name. Plaza Extra also
was allowed to make capital expenditures at the Plaza
Extra East store for new shelves. (Exhibit 17) If the
alleged 1998 debt was for a legitimate purpose, there was no
reason why United couldn’t have requested authorization for
repayment from the monitors prior to the expiration of the
statute of limitations on those claims

Undisputed that the federal monitors
allowed a few expenditures to be made
as exceptions to the injunction. Dispute
that “there was no reason why United
couldn’t have requested authorization for
repayment from the monitors.” The
defense attorneys in the criminal case
had instructed all defendants not to do or
say anything that would suggest the
existence of a partnership, because that
would hurt their defense and bring
Mohammad Hamed into the case. See
Exhibit 6, 4. The federal monitors
worked for the U.S. Attorney, and
making that request would have
contravened that instruction.
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Contrary to Fathi Yusuf’s assertion that he delayed

This purported statement of fact is

29. N/A requesting payment from the Partnership in order to unsupported by any record evidence, and
provide it working capital, by 1996, the Partnership had is thus ineffective to create a genuine
plenty of funds to pay any current or past debts. Indeed, the issue of material fact that would
federal government established that the Partnership had $8 preclude summary judgment. Moreover,
million in unreported sales in 1996. From 1996-2001, the in the restitution schedules attached to
federal government stated that the Partnership had $60 the Plea Agreement (Exhibit 9 to
million in unreported income. United’s Opposition), the Defendants in

the criminal case challenged the
allegation that there was any tax liability
for under-reporting of income in 1996,
and maintained that there was “0”
dollars in under-reported income for that
tax year
On May 29, 2018, Hamed requested the Court’s guidance United objects to this SUMF as
30. 20. | regarding United’s claim of “special” treatment, Hamed immaterial to issues to be decided by

Motion for Court Assistance and Directions re Special
Master Ross's May 21st Order, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-
370 (May 29, 2018) at 2:
The thrust of this inquiry arises from
the fact that each time Yusuf or United
is found to have taken Partnership
funds for their own uses, they argue
that there was a  "“special
arrangement” or an  unwritten
provision of the  "Partnership
Agreement” that allows this inequality.

Hamed argued in his motion that 26 V.I.C. § 44

requires that the partnership agreement dictates the

United’s motion for summary judgment
as to Y-9 and Y-7. United also objects
that it has ever sought “special”
treatment in this case. Subject to that
objection, United states that Hamed’s
excerpts from its motion are accurately
quoted.
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terms of the partnership. When there is no written
partnership agreement, 26 V.I.C. § 44 controls.

But, absent a written agreement, what
are the "terms" of the partnership?
Missing or unclear terms are supplied
by the Act. See 26 V.I.C. § 44 (Effect
of partnership agreement; nonwaivable
provisions.)

(a) Except as otherwise provided in
subsection (b) of this section,
relations among the partners
and between the partners and
the partnership are governed
by the partnership agreement.
To the extent the
partnership agreement does
not otherwise provide, this
chapter governs relations
among the partners and
between the partners and the
partnership. (Emphasis
added)(footnote omitted).

See, e.g., Bunnell v. Lewis, No. 05-92-
02558-CV, 1993 WL 290781, at *5
(Tex. App. July 27, 1993), writ denied
(Mar. 9, 1994) (A partnership is an
association of two or more persons to
carry on a business for profit as co-
owners. . .. In the absence of agreement
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on other terms, the Texas Uniform
Partnership Act supplies the missing
terms. See Park Cities Corp. v. Byrd,
534 S.\W.2d 668, 672 (Tex. 1976).")

Fortunately, once a partnership is
determined to exist, one partner
cannot make up, "explain” or dictate
the rights, relative authority and power
of the partners -- as these are set by
statute in the Virgin Islands:

26 V.1.C. 8 71 Partner's rights and duties

* * * %

(f) Each partner has equal rights in
the management and conduct of the
partnership business. Id. at 4.

31.

21,

In a June 26, 2018 Order, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370,
Judge Brady noted that thus far in the case, “no findings
have been made detailing with specificity the duties,
responsibilities, benefits and obligations of each partner,
including whether any benefits are due United and its
shareholders during the period relevant to the issues and
claims being addressed by the Master.” Id. at 2 To
determine whether any benefits are due United and its
shareholders, Judge Brady ordered that the following factors
be considered: 1) the partners’ agreements, 2) history and 3)
course of dealing.

United objects to this SUMF as
immaterial to issues to be decided by
United’s motion for summary judgment
as to Y-9 and Y-7. Subject to that
objection, United states that Hamed’s
excerpts from Judge Brady’s rulings are
accurately quoted.
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ORDERED that the Master is directed to proceed to
conduct such evidentiary proceedings as are deemed
appropriate to make factual findings necessary to
permit full consideration of the claims of the
partners, including the determination of the duties,
responsibilities, benefits and obligations of each partner,
including whether any benefits are due United and its
shareholders, in light of the partners' agreements,
history and course of dealing; and to report and
make recommendations regarding the claims and the
distribution of partnership assets in light of such
findings. . . Id. at 3.

Fathi Yusuf testified in his deposition on April 2, 2014, that

Undisputed. As Mr. Yusuf has

32. 22. the only time the Partners reconciled the Partnership explained in prior declarations in support
accounts between them was on December 31, 1993. of his motions for payment of rent, the
A. [FATHI YUSUF] After we seizure and retention of financial
go and sees who and who takes documents made a second reconciliation
who, if | take ten dollars more impossible until those documents were
than them, and | take ten, they returned. In addition, Mike Yusuf has
have testified that there was another, partial
the right to take it. That's reconciliation of cash withdrawn from
when we go to the book store safes conducted by him and some
and reconciliate our of the Hamed sons.
account between each
other.
But up to now, unfortunate, we have never
done that since the past 25 years. Only, I'm sorry, up to
December 31st, 1993. That books was closed by that
day. We was even on that day, on whatever left Plaza
Extra. (Exhibit 18)
Fathi Yusuf has not provided any evidence of a written or United objects because this SUMF
33. 23. oral agreement between him and Mohammad Hamed to have | assumes facts not in evidence. Yusuf
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the Partnership’s books reconciled in United’s favor at Fathi
Yusuf’s discretion.

has never testified that he had any
rights to any particular (favorable)
outcome of a reconciliation. Subject to
that objection, disputed. Judge Brady
has already found that Mr. Yusuf was
the managing partner who controlled
the timing of reconciliations.  See
Hamed v. Yusuf, 69 V.I. 168, 175, n.4
(V.L Super. 2017) (finding that “Yusuf
acted as the managing partner” and that
Hamed was “completely removed from
the financial aspects of the business”)
and 69 V.I. 189, 215 (V.I. Super. 2017)
(“As managing partner,...[i]t was
Yusuf's responsibility to oversee,
account for, and periodically reconcile
the distributions of funds between
the partners”) (emphasis added). In
addition, the rent agreement is evidence
of Mr. Yusuf’s exercise of this
authority, because he controlled the
term of the rent agreement, and hence
the due date of the rent for the entire
rental period.

N/A

With respect to the 1996 summary gross income for
Plaza Extra, the US federal government’s January 4, 2005
draft analysis also showed that Fathi Yusuf deposited

$2.8 million of these “missing” funds in two bank accounts

United objects to this SUMF on the
grounds that it is irrelevant to the issues
raised by United’s Motion for Summary
Judgment as to Claims Y-7 and Y-9,
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associated with the Partnership in Banque Francaise
Commerciale in 1996. (Exhibit 3) Wally Hamed also
deposited over $1.1 million in a Banque Francaise
Commerciale account associated with the Partnership in
1996. (Exhibit 3) Wally Hamed deposited approximately
$3.7 million in the Cairo Amman Bank in 1996 too, an
account also associated with the Partnership. (Exhibit 3)
Both Yusuf and Hamed deposited large sums of money in
Virgin Islands and foreign bank accounts in 1997 and 1998
as well. (Exhibit 3)

and on the grounds that the document it
relies on (Exhibit 13) is inadmissible
hearsay and also lacks foundation (e.g.
authorship, method of determining
dollar amounts, whether this “draft”
document was superseded by a “final”
version with different dollar amounts.

N/A

18.

Money flowed like water between these entities, directed by
Fathi Yusuf, who routinely used Partnership funds to pay for
expenses for the Yusuf family-owned United Shopping
Center expenses and personal matters. (Group Exhibit 13)

Disputed. There is no evidence of
“routine” use of Plaza Extra funds to
pay for United Shopping Center
expenses. The three documents used to
support this SUMF are de minimus in
amount, and one of these relates to a
warehouse door repair for the store,
which is properly a Plaza Extra
expense.
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DUDLEY, TOPPER
AND FEUERZEIG, LLP
1000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, U.S. V.l. 00804-0756
(340) 774-4422

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his
authorized agent WALEED HAMED,

CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370

)
)
) ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
) AND DECLARATORY RELIEF
VS. )
)
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,)
)
Defendants/Counterclaimants, )
)
Vs. )
)
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, )
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and )
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC., )
)
Additional Counterclaim Defendants. )
) Consolidated With
)
MOHAMMAD HAMED, )
) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287
Plaintiff, )
V. ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES
) AND DECLARATORY RELIEF
UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Defendant. )
)
)

YUSUF’S ACCOUNTING CLAIMS AND PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION PLAN

Pursuant to the “Final Wind Up Plan Of The Plaza Extra Partnership,” entered on January

9, 2015 (the “Plan”),l §9, Step 6, and the August 31, 2016 directive? of the Master, as clarified

! Unless otherwise defined, all capitalized terms have the same meaning as provided in the Plan.

> That directive required the Partners to submit any objection to the previously submitted
Partnership Accounting and any claims against the Partnership or a Partner by September 30,
2016. It is undisputed that since the inception of the Partnership, the only Partners were Yusuf
and Hamed, who died on June 16, 2016. On September 20, 2016, a Motion And Memorandum
For Substitution Of Named Plaintiff was filed seeking an Order substituting Waleed M. Hamed,
as Executor of the estate of Hamed, as Plaintiff.




DUDLEY, TOPPER
AND FEUERZEIG, LLP
1000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, U.S. V.I. 00804-0756
(340) 774-4422

Hamed v. Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370
Yusuf’s Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan
Page 2
on September 22, 2016, defendant/counterclaimant Fathi Yusuf (““Yusuf”) respectfully submits
his Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan (the “Claim”) as follows:
I. Current Status of Partnership Wind Up and Overview of Proposed Distribution
The current status of the wind up of the Partnership is set forth in the Tenth Bi-Monthly
Report of the Liquidating Partner filed on September 30, 2016 and the supporting financial
information concurrently submitted to the Master and counsel. At present, the total remaining
assets of the Partnership are $8,957,168.543.
A summary of the Claim’s proposed distributions is set forth in Exhibit A. It
contemplates that a portion of the remaining Partnership Assets will be held in reserve for

potential expenses including taxes and litigation costs for personal injury claims made or

potentially to be made against the various Plaza Extra Stores prior to the dissolution. In addition,

all Debts of the Partnership must be paid prior to any distributions to Partners. At this stage, the

remaining Debts include the unpaid rent obligations, plus interest, due to United for occupying
the Plaza Extra-East store and Bays 5 and 8 in the United Shopping Plaza, which have not been
adjudicated®, as well as other obligations owed to United discussed in more detail below. As
reflected in Exhibit A, there will be a shortfall of approximately $4 million in Partnership Assets,
if all listed Debts are paid and all proposed reserves are established. Any actual shortfall must be

made up by the Partners or a deceased Partner’s estate.

* These total assets are reflected in the Partnership balance sheet provided, along with income
statement, on September 30, 2016 to the Master and counsel for the Partners by John Gaffney
(“Gaftney”), who has served as the accountant for the Partnership.

* See Memorandum Opinion and Order dated April 27, 2015 (the “Rent Order”), which provides
that although back rent for Bays 5 and 8 are set forth in United’s Counterclaim, “this Order
addresses only Bay No. 1.” (Rent Order, p. 2, n. 1)
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Yusuf’s Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan
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Once reserves are established and the outstanding Debts are allowed and paid,
distributions to the Partners can be made only if there are remaining Partnership Assets. The
Claim provides:

a) reconciliation of the historical withdrawals and distributions between the Partners
and their agents from the profits of the Plaza Extra Stores, reflecting a net balance
0f $9,670,675.36 due to Yusuf;

b) an accounting of funds received by Yusuf for the sale of Y&S Corporation
(“Y&S”) and R&F Condominium, Inc. (“R&F”) stock resulting in a balance of
$802,966.00 due to Hamed;

c) a description of Partnership funds entrusted to Hamed to be held in foreign
accounts, invested in real estate or used as charitable donations of the Partners,
reflecting a balance due to Yusuf;, and

d) quantification of the loss of the going concern value of Plaza Extra-West as a

result of Hamed’s actions resulting in a balance of $4,385,000.00 due to Yusuf.
I1. Funds to Be Held in Reserve
Prior to distribution of the remaining Partnership Assets, certain funds must be held in
reserve to satisfy contingent obligations and risks of the Partnership.
A. Reserves Needed for Plaza Extra-Tutu Park Rent
Given Hamed’s conceded failure to obtain releases of the Partnership, United and Yusuf,
as required by the “Order Adopting Final Wind Up Plan” dated January 7, 2015 and entered on
January 9, 2015 (the “Wind Up Order”) (p. 5), § 8(2) of the Plan, and the April 30, 2015
Master’s Order (p. 2), a reserve must be created for all rents to be paid to Tutu Park Limited over

the remaining term of the lease in the amount of $887,203.26 ($30,359.38 per mo. in rent plus an
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Yusuf’s Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plan

Page 4

average of $2,500 per mo. in water charges x 27 months), not including charges for real estate

taxes and percentage rents.

B. Reserves Needed for Plaza Extra-Tutu Park Property Taxes and United
Matching Payment

As described in the Tenth Bi-Monthly Report, see p. 4, n. 6, property taxes for 2015 have
not yet been billed, but reserves should be set aside to pay these taxes which are estimated to be
$14,356.44, along with a matching payment to United of $9,812.14.

C. Reserves Needed for FUTA Taxes

At present, there is a dispute as to the amount of Federal Unemployment Taxes
(“FUTA”) due from the Plaza Extra Stores. The Internal Revenue Bureau contends that
approximately $350,000.00 is due for 2014 and 2015. Gaffney, however, has determined that no
additional FUTA taxes are due. While the amount remains in dispute, Yusuf proposes to hold
these funds in reserve until the dispute is resolved. Once the dispute is resolved, the funds can be
distributed according to the Plan or as otherwise ordered by the Court.

D. Master’s Fees

The fees of the Master for supervising the final liquidation and wind up of the Partnership

will need to be reserved. It is estimated that $150,000 should be set aside for such expenses.
E. Accounting Fees

Accounting fees for coordination and payment of various Debts and wind up of the
Partnership will need to be reserved. It is estimated that $30,000.00 should be set aside for such
expenses.

F. Funds to Be Held in Reserve for Litigation Risks
Reserves must be set aside for pending and possible litigation relating to claims for

injuries allegedly suffered at the various Plaza Extra Stores prior to the dissolution of the
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Partnership and transfer of ownership of the stores. See Exhibit C-2 to the Seventh Bi-Monthly
Report filed on April 1, 2016. Yusuf submits that the amount required to satisfy the potential
risk to the Partnership as well as costs and expenses not otherwise covered by insurance for those
claims is approximately $1,320,777.00. This amount is comprised of two primary components:
1) pending claims and 2) estimated future claims.’

As to the pending claims, they are further divided into two categories: a) those claims
with insurance coverage and a self-insured retention and b) uncovered claims. For those claims
with insurance coverage, reserves are calculated by considering the total amount claimed or last
demanded in settlement by the plaintiffs, multiplied by the probability of plaintiffs’ success in
each case, added to the costs for the litigation not covered by insurance.

As to the estimated future claims, the average value of claims in a given year is
calculated by review of historical claims. Then this value is multiplied by the average number of
claims per year and by the number of years in the statute of limitation period to determine the
total risk. That figure is in turn multiplied by the percentage of time remaining in the applicable
statute of limitations. The statute of limitations is calculated for each store from the last date it
was controlled by the Partnership; i.e. March 9, 2015 for Plaza Extra-East and West, and April

30, 2015 for Plaza Extra-Tutu Park. Such formulas are commonly utilized to evaluate risk

. . . . 7
exposure by insurers in setting insurance loss reserves.

® At present, Yusuf is unaware of any unfiled claims within the statute of limitations.

® See Exhibit B, Litigation Reserves Calculations.

" A User-Friendly Introduction to Property and Casualty Claims Reserves, Joseph Calandro, Jr.
and Thomas J. O’Brien, 2004, describing accounting methodologies as to assessment of
litigation risks and costs for setting reserves.
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8 since her counterclaims are

These reserves include the claims of Wadda Charriez
effectively against the Partnership and, therefore, constitute a potential obligation of the

Partnership.

III.  Outstanding Debts of the Partnership
Although nearly all of the undisputed Debts of the Partnership have been paid or

resolved, the following Debts remain:

A. Miscellaneous Debts
There are Debts totaling $176,267.97, which must be paid prior to any distribution of the
remaining Partnership Assets to the Partners’. This amount relates primarily to accounts payable
for open tax issues from 2013.
B. Unpaid Rent for Plaza Extra-East and Adjacent Bays
While the Court determined that certain past due rent obligations for Plaza Extra-East
must be paid pursuant to the Rent Order, there remain additional rent claims for Plaza Extra-
East. These claims have not yet been resolved'® and, if found to be due and owing, then these
are Debts of the Partnership that should be paid prior to any distribution of the remaining
Partnership Assets to the Partners.
United makes the following claims against the Partnership as set forth in its Amended

Counterclaim and Motion For Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Rent:

® These claims are the subject of a separate suit, United Corporation v. Wadda Charriez, SX-13-
CV-152, which Yusuf has moved to consolidate into this action for resolution. See Motion to
Consolidate filed on March 17, 2016.

? The total liabilities are reflected in the Partnership balance sheet provided to the Master and
counsel for the Partners by Gaffney on September 30, 2016.

' See Rent Order, p. 2,n. 1; p. 11, n. 4.
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1. Bay 1 —Increased Rent Due Net of Rent Paid
United provided formal notice of increased rent of $200,000 per month to the
Partnership, which was to begin on January 1, 2012 through March 31, 2012, if the premises
were not vacated before then. Thereafter, beginning on April 1, 2012 through March 8, 2015,
United provided formal notice of increased rent of $250,000 per month. See Exhibit D to
Yusuf’s Declaration dated August 12, 2014 (the “Yusuf Declaration) in support of Defendants’
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Counts IV, XI and XII Regarding Rent. Although the
Rent Order awarded certain amounts of rent to United during this period, the award did not
address the increased rent claimed by United. The outstanding balance of the increased rent
claimed as to Bay 1, net of the rent recovered pursuant to the Rent Order, is $6,974,063.10. See
calculation of additional rents attached as Exhibit C.
2. BaysSandS8
Likewise, outstanding rent is due to United for Bays 5 and 8 of the United Shopping
Plaza. These amounts were not adjudicated in the Rent Order and they remain an outstanding
rent claim against the Partnership. The total amount due to United for unpaid rent for Bays 5 and
8 is $793,984.34. See the Yusuf Declaration at 9 21-25.
3. Interest on Rent Claims
The interest that accrued at 9% per annum on the rent actually awarded by the Rent Order
($6,248,924.14) is $881,955.08 as of May 11, 2015, when that rent was paid to United. See
calculation of interest on Bay 1 rent attached as Exhibit D."'
The interest due for the unpaid rent on Bays 5 and 8 is also claimed by United. The total

interest calculated at 9% per annum for the period from May 17, 2013 through September 30,
p

"I This amount does not include any interest accruing at the 9% rate on each month’s unpaid rent
from June 1, 2013 through March 8, 2015.
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2016 is $241,005.18. Such interest continues to accrue at the daily rate of $195.78 until paid.
See calculation of interest on Bays 5 and 8 rent attached as Exhibit E.
C. Reimbursement For Gross Receipts Taxes Paid by United

As Yusuf has testified without contradiction (see transcript of Yusuf’s deposition of April
2, 2014 at pages 53-4), the Partners originally agreed that the Plaza Extra Stores would pay all
gross receipts taxes and insurance relating to United’s Shopping Center. The Partners acted on
this agreement for the life of the Partnership, as reflected in the actual payment of these expenses
with funds from the Plaza Extra Stores for more than 28 years. The Partnership owes United for
certain gross receipts taxes United paid on behalf of the Partnership totaling $60,586.96, which
were never reimbursed. See Exhibit F, Summary and Evidence of United Payment of Gross
Receipts Taxes.

D. Black Book Balance Owed to United

A black ledger book (the “Black Book™) was used by the Partners to track spending and
withdrawals as between the Partners and their families as well as by United on behalf of the
Plaza Extra Stores. Certain entries from the Black Book are accounted for in the BDO Report
discussed in §IV below, to the extent they represent historical withdrawals as between the
Partners and their families. However, as to funds which United paid on behalf of the Plaza Extra

Stores, the Black Book entries reveal that the Partnership owes United $49,997.00 for various

expenses it paid on behalf of the Partnership. See Exhibit G, Relevant Black Book Entries.

E. Additional Ledger Balances Due to United

In addition to the Black Book balance owed to United, at various points in time, United
made other payments on behalf of the Plaza Extra Stores. In 1994, 1995 and in 1998, United

paid $199,760.00 for various expenses of the Partnership. See Exhibit H, Ledger Sheets
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Reflecting United’s Payments for Plaza Extra. In the same ledger book, records of withdrawals
by Yusuf are also noted for certain personal expenses in 1995 and 1996. The amounts relating to
Yusuf’s personal expenses are included in the BDO Report discussed below in § IV, accounting
for the withdrawals as between the Partners and their families. However, the total amount of
$199,760.00 paid by United has not otherwise been captured in other reconciliations and remains

due and owing to United.

F. Water Revenue Re Plaza Extra-East
Beginning in1994, Plaza Extra-East began selling United’s water. The proceeds for the
first 10 years were used primarily for charitable purposes. From April 1, 2004, however, all
revenue from the sale of United’s water that was collected by Plaza Extra-East was to be paid to
United. United has calculated the average water sales per month based upon two years of sales
in 1997 ($52,000) and 1998 ($75,000) as $5,291.66 per month. Multiplying the average monthly
sales revenue by 131 months, United is owed $693,207.46 from the Partnership for the water

sales revenue from April 1, 2004 through February 28, 2015.

G. Unreimbursed Transfers to Plaza Extra from United’s Tenant Account
At various points throughout the Partnership, United would transfer funds from its tenant
account, which the parties have already conceded was separate and independent from the
Partnership, to the Plaza Extra Stores to cover expenses and to maintain cash-flow. The
Partnership has not reimbursed United for certain transfers. The Partnership owes United
$188,132 for its unreimbursed transfers. See Exhibit I, Summary and Supporting Documentation

of Unreimbursed Transfers from United.
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IV.  Past Partnership Withdrawals and Distribution Reconciliation

Throughout the Partnership, the Partners and their agents (ie., their sons) would
withdraw cash from safes at the Plaza Extra Stores. Evidence of these withdrawals came in
multiple forms including, inter alia, receipts, checks or ledger entries. In addition, the Partners
and their agents used funds generated by the Plaza Extra Stores for personal expenses. These
payments for personal expenses were to be counted against each Partner as a distribution. The
withdrawals and payments for personal expenses were supposed to be done on the “honor
system,” which relied upon each Partner and their agents to disclose to the other Partner, via
“tickets” or receipts left in the store safes, when withdrawals were made or personal expenses
were paid from Partnership funds. Occasionally, the Partners would reconcile the various
withdrawals and expenses between them. Upon review of the various accounting records as well
as information regarding personal accounts and assets of the Partners and their agents, Yusuf
submits that Hamed and his agents failed to fully disclose all of the funds they withdrew from
the Partnership or personal expenses they paid with Partnership funds. Consequently, these
previously undisclosed withdrawals and expenses are treated as distributions in the Claim. A full
accounting of the Partnership withdrawals is set forth in the Expert Report of Fernando Scherrer
of BDO Puerto Rico, P.S.C. (“BDO”) attached as Exhibit J'>. Based on that report, Hamed’s
withdrawals/distributions exceed Yusuf’s withdrawals/distributions by $19,341,350.72. See
Exhibit J at p. 62-3. As a result, $9,670,675.36 should be awarded to Yusuf to equalize the
distributions between the Partners so that both Partners have equal distributions of

$18,820,989.98.

'2 The tables, schedules and supporting documentation for this report are voluminous and will be
submitted to the Master and counsel for Hamed via a flash drive or CD identified as Exhibit J-1.




EXHIBIT A

Claim Distribution Summary

I.  Total Assets Remaining After Liquidation: 5 $8,957,168.54
Il.  Less Reserves:
A. Tutu Park Rent: S 887,203.26
B. Tutu Park Property Taxes:’ S 14,356.44
C. Matching Payment to United:* $  9,812.14
D. FUTA Taxes: $ 350,000.00
E. Master's Fees": $ 150,000.00
F. Accounting Fees: S 30,000.00
G. Litigation Risks: $1,320,777.00
Subtotal: $2,762,148.84

Balance Less Reserves: $6,195,019.70

Ill. Less Debts of the Partnership:

Balance Sheet Liabilities’ $  176,267.97
Add’l Rent for Bay 1: S 6,974,063.10
Interest on Bay 1 Rent Awarded: $ 881,955.08
Rent for Bays 5 & 8: S 793,984.34

Interest on Unpaid Rent, Bays 5&8: § 241,005.18
Reimb. United for Gross Receipts Taxes $ 60,586.96
Black Book Balance owed to United S 49,997.00
Ledger Balances owed to United S 199,760.00
Water Revenue Re: Plaza Extra-East S 693,207.46
Unreimbursed Transfers from United $__ 188,132.00 | Y-9

Y-7
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Subtotal: $10,258,959.09
IV. Net Partnership Assets Available for Distribution After Debts and Reserves: .($4,063,939.39)

V. Past Partnership Withdrawals and Distribution Reconciliation:
A. Net funds withdrawn or deemed to be
a distribution between the Partners per
BDO Report - Net Due to Yusuf:® $9,670,675.36

! See Partnership Balance Sheet as of August 31, 2016 provided by John Gaffney to the Master and counsel for the
Partners on September 30, 2016.
? See ftn. 6 to Tenth Bi-Monthly Report filed on September 30, 2016.
* See ftn. 6 to Tenth Bi-Monthly Report filed on September 30, 2016.
* This is an estimated amount.
> See Total Liabilities shown on Balance Sheet provided by John Gaffney on September 30, 2016.
6
See BDO Report at p. 63.
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VI. Y&S Corporation and R&F Condominium, Inc. Stock Sale Proceeds Distribution:

A. Net Due to Hamed: $802,966.00

VIl. Foreign Accounts:

A. Net Due to Yusuf: $TBD - Following add’l discovery

VIII. Loss of Going Concern Value of
Plaza Extra-West

A. Net Due to Yusuf: $4,385,000.00
IX. Half of Value of Six Containers

A. Approx. $180,000 - $210,000.00
(Not included based on Master’s
initial determination)

Total Due to Yusuf: $13,402,709.36*

*This amount represents the sum of $9,670,675.36 from § V and $4,385,000.00 from § VIII less $652,966.00
($802,966.00 from § VI - $150,000.00 from Claim n. 15). It represents the amount known as of September 30,
2016 based upon the information available, not including any punitive damages to which Yusuf may be entitled. It
is subject to further revision following the reopening of discovery.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the )
Estate of MOHAMMED HAMED g
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) Civil No. SX-12-CV-370
V. )
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, )
Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF,
v ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT, and
: PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION,
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, g WIND UP, and ACCOUNTING
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) ’
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC., )
Counterclaim Defendants. )
)
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the ) Civil No. SX-14-CV-287
Estate of MOHAMMED HAMED, )
Plaintiff, ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES and
V. ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT
UNITED CORPORATION, g
Defendant. )
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the g Civil No. SX-14-CV-278
Estate of MOHAMMED HAMED, )
Plaintiff, ) ACTION FOR DEBT and
V. ) CONVERSION
FATHI YUSUF, )
Defendant. )

ORDER DENYING WITHOUT PREJUDICE PLAINTIFF’S MOTIONS TO STRIKE
BUSINESS VALUATION EXPERT (INTEGRA) AND ACCOUNTING EXPERT (BDO)

This matter came on for hearing on March 6 and 7, 2017 on Plaintiff’s fully briefed Motion to
Strike Accounting Expert (BDO), filed October 4, 2016, and Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Business
Valuation Expert (Integra), filed October 3, 2016.! For the reasons that follow, the Court will deny both

Motions without prejudice.

At the hearing, Hamed presented extensive testimony from several witnesses to the effect that

the BDO report, supported by the report’s own disclaimers, is unreliable as an expert accounting report

and fails the test for admissibility under Virgin Islands Rule of Evidence 702 as defined in Antilles

1 Also before the Court are Defendants’ BDO Opposition, filed October 20, 2016; Plaintiff’s BDO Reply filed October 26,
2016; Defendants’ Supplemental BDO Opposition, filed March 21, 2017; Defendants’ Integra Opposition, filed October 21,

2016; and Plaintiff’s Integra Reply, filed October 26, 2016.



Hamedv. Yusuf; et al.; SX-12-CV-370; SX-14-278; SX-14-CV-287
Order Denying Hamed’s Motion to Strike Integra and BDO Reports
Page 2 of 2

School, Inc. v. Lembach, 64 V.1. 400 (V.I. 2016) and Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
509 U.S. 579 (1993). As such, Plaintiff asserts that the report must be stricken.? Defendants respond that
the Motions are premature in that the reports were submitted to the Master only as part of Defendants’
proposed accounting and distribution plan, and are not a part of the record. Further, Defendants state that
the BDO report represents only a preliminary accounting based on information available at the time, and
will be supplemented upon completion of additional discovery. Both parties agree that more discovery
is required to adequately present their respective claims.

While Plaintiff took the opportunity at the recent hearing to present evidence in the nature of a
pretrial motion in limine, a determination of trial admissibility of the testimony of the author(s) of the
reports in issue, and of the reports themselves, is premature. The primary purpose of conducting a
Daubert hearing pursuant to V.I. R. Evid. 104 is to permit the trial court to act as gatekeeper to prevent
a jury from hearing inadmissible testimony. Because the Court, by Memorandum Opinion and Order
entered contemporaneously herewith, strikes both Plaintiff’s and Defendants’ demands for trial by jury,
that concern is not present. Further, the ability of the Master and the Court to evaluate the reports and
ascribe to them only such weight as they deserve, militates against striking the reports at this stage of the
litigation.? Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that Hamed’s Motion to Strike Accounting Expert (BDO) is DENIED without
prejudice. It is further

ORDERED that Hamed’s Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Business Valuation Expert (Integra) is
DENIED without prejudice.

DATED: July 2 { ,2017. £ Q/{_(Z/l L,1(7 CERTIFIED A TRUE COPY
DOUGLAS A. BRADY
Judge of the Superior Cogrt DATE: Wﬂ 24 L 20’7
ATTEST: ESTRELLA GEORGE @ELL}A H. GEORGE
Clerk of the Court eCTl CLEWHW
By: - P
Court Clerk Supervisor ' COURT CLERK/rf

? No evidence was presented at the hearing regarding the Integra report, which Plaintiff challenges as failing the last two of
the three-prong test for admissibility: qualifications, reliability and fit. Because the same issues are involved, both Motions
are treated together for purposes of this Order.

3 See, e.g., “The Court also deferred ruling on some of the motions involving expert testimony, as the judge need not serve
as gatekeeper for himself.” Eames v. Bedor, 2012 N.H. Super. LEXIS 15, *7 (N.H. Super. Ct. 2012) (citing Traxys N. Am.,
LLC v. Concept Mining, Inc., 808 F. Supp. 2d 851, 853 (W.D. Va. 2011)).
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED,
the Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Deft.,

VS.

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED
CORPORATION,

Defendants/Counterclaimants,

VsS.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED,
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Counterclaim Defendants.

as the Executor of

and

WALEED HAMED,
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff,

VsS.

UNITED CORPORATION, Defendant.

as Executor of the

WALEED HAMED,
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff,

VS.

FATHI YUSUF, Defendant.

as Executor of the

FATHI YUSUF, Plaintiff,
VsS.
MOHAMMAD A. HAMD TRUST, et al.,
Defendants.

KAC357 Inc., Plaintiff,
vsS.

HAMED/YUSUF PARTNERSHIP,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. SX-2012-Cv-370

DEPOSITIONS TAKEN:
JANUARY 21, 2020

Consolidated with
Case No. SX-2014-Ccv-287

Consolidated with
Case No. SX-2014-Cv-278

Consolidated with
Case No. ST-17-Cv-384

Consolidated with
Case No. ST-18-Cv-219
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

knows.
0. Okay.
A. Wally knew more often he sign the check for the

gross receipt.

Q. Okay.
A. He knew all consultation, 99 percent of my
discussion, 1is always with Wally. I have -- I have not

discussed anything with my son, not even 1 percent for

the -- for respect of the partnership rule. My son,
whatever I do, he have to accept, whether it's good or bad.
But I been very honest and fair with my partner. Anything I

do, either he or his son is aware of it and approve it.

Q. Okay. So after 1992, or whenever you moved to
St. Thomas --

A. Yes.

Q. -— in the '90s, were you following up or dealing

with the shopping center gross receipt taxes while you were
in St. Thomas?

A. I have never dealt with the gross receipt. I
dealt with the gross receipt out of St. Thomas store

covering the three store.

Q. Okay.
A. The grocery stores. But the -- the -- the
supermarket, I mean, the tenant, I -- I never -- it never

came in my mind that my son will go ahead and pay it. I

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. Um-hum.

Q. Written on the tenants' account, and it's signed
by your son, Mike?

A. Right.

Q. Not by Wally?

A. Sir, I told you, my son never been advised
whatsoever about the partnership. I was never discussed it,
anything with my son. And I was always fighting with his
mother, Let your son knows everything. I said, Listen,
honey, my son have to respect my opinion. I have to have my
partner at -- at peace. I dealing with a partner. I'm
obligated to my partner. I am not obligated to one of my
ten children. They have to go with whatever I say.

Q. Okay. I guess the question I'm asking, though, is
that you weren't there?

A. And my son didn't know.

Q. And your son didn't know, but your son was still

signing the stuff?

A. Yes, his signature is on the account.

Q. And if you'll turn over to the next page.

A. Um—-hum.

Q. You'll see a check. 1It's Bates Number FY 015000,
and it's dated -- a check on the United Corporation Tenants

Account dated 9-30-99. Says it's for the payments of August

of '99. And -- do you see that one?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. Yes, I seen it.
Q. 1714 -- Check Number 17147
A. Yeah.

Q. And whose signature is at the bottom of that?

A. Maher Yusuf. You -- we come up through this
already.

Q. That's the --

A. And many time, I tell you, my son didn't know
anything about the deal.

Q. No, I -- I don't know -- I'm not asking about
whether he knew anything about the deal. I'm asking --

A. I know, but you are getting to the same similar

result. Hey, I'm a human being. Don't put words in my

mouth.
MS. PERRELL: I think we'll stipulate.
A. I think he took it. That's it. One evidence is
enough, it shows. If I start this road, I keep continuing

until it's finished.
MR. HARTMANN: Okay.
MS. PERRELL: We would stipulate Mike signed
these. These are Mike's signatures. We knew that. That's
why I said Mike is going to need to testify at some point
relating to this. Happy to stipulate that those -- I
believe most of these are Mike's signatures.

MR. HARTMANN: Will you stipulate that Mike

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. Because Plaza owes this back to United.
0. Okay.
A. I kept it. I used to -- I kept it in the safe

because it's things that I did, you know, I was told to do
certain things and I -- I wrote the check and took it to

wherever and I used to keep a ledger --

Q. Okay.
A. -- of what I paid out of the tenant account.
Q. Okay. And at the top, can you read -- I know the

copy of it is not that great.

A. Yeah.

Q. Can you read basically what you understood it to
say?

A. What I understand, this is Plaza paid out for -- I

mean, United paid out for Plaza.

Q. Okay.

A. When I say, "United," I mean tenant account.

Q. Okay. And when you say Plaza, you mean the
partnership?

A. The supermarket.

Q. Okay. And at the time -- at the time when you

would say "Plaza, you meant the partnership, correct?
A. Yeah.
Q. Okay. All right. So let me go down these various

items.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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The first one is on May 23rd, 1994. It says,
Steve -- well, let me ask you this: Can you read the first
item and just state what it is and if you recall what it was
for?

A. Yeah. I -- I looked -- I looked at this paper
earlier and a lot of stuff came back to me. Steve Nesky was
a guy that used to do the chlorination for us and I used to
pay him out of the tenant account for the tenant and the
supermarket. So I -- I used to break it out and charge, you
know, Plaza their portion out of it.

Q. Okay. So is the 400 the portion that should be

paid by the Plaza? And I'm going to say Plaza, the --

A, The stores. The store.
Q. The operation?
A. Right.

Q. Okay. All right. And can you please read the
next one?

A. That's Prudential. I think that was like
Prudential Securities. We used to have, or we had stocks
between the -- both families.

Q. Um-hum.

A. And I think if they had margin calls or something
that they needed to put money, I guess, I -- I used to do it
and take down the check.

0. Okay.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. Something pertaining to stocks or bonds or

whatever that they were involved in.

Q. Okay.

A. You know.

Q. And the amount was how much?

A. 30,000.

Q. Okay. And it's your understanding that normally

that might have come out of the operating account, but
instead, for whatever reason, you paid it out of the tenant

account, but it should have been for both families, correct?

A. Yeah, I don't know what the reason that I took it
out of the tenant account. This is in '94. I'm not sure if
I could not -- at the time, I couldn't sign on the operating
account for Plaza or not. I wasn't sure.

Q. Okay.

A. Or Plaza didn't have the money, you know, at that

time, so it was quicker to do it this way.

Q. Okay.

A. I wasn't -- not certain of the details why it came
out.

Q. Okay. All right. The next one is, if you could
read the third one down.

A. If I'm not mistaken, this is Core State Properties
in St. Thomas.

Q. Um-hum. What was the amount?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. $40,010. So looking at this with the $10, it
looks 1like I transferred money to Core State for something

to do with Plaza.

Q. Okay. And do you know -- this year was what year?
A. It's the same. If you go down -- how I usually
used to write stuff down. I would start -- I put the first

5-23-94 and I'll just keep going Jjust the day. I mean, the
month and day. And then if it changes to another year, I
would start. If you notice, it says 2-17-95, and then all
that is 2-17 -- I mean, year '95.

Q. Okay. So this was in 9-23, would be 19947

A. '94, correct.

Q. Okay. And it's your belief that because it was
40,000, because there was a $10 on it, that it must have
been some kind of a transfer?

A. Yeah, and it says in St. Thomas. Something.
Something Core -- I don't know if it's Core State
Properties, but it says in St. Thomas. So it's something.
Had to be a transfer, something like that.

Q. All right. Can you read the fourth one down?

A. Refrigerator times two. I think that's -- it
should be 500. TIt's a thousand.

Q. Um-hum.

A. I'm not —— I'm not sure i1if both families agreed to

give it, our refrigerator to whoever. Or the families took

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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one here and one there. But we had a tenant -- we have a
tenant that's Best Furniture, which is Ashley. And if the
families or somebody wanted to -- I think in this instant, I
don't know 1f it was -- went to the two families, one for
each here, one for each there. And it came out of our
tenant, so I deducted it from our tenant's rent. So Plaza
owes the tenant -- not the tenant, but the tenant account
back that money, 'cause I deducted it from the rents for --

it was Best Furniture at that time.

Q. So Best Furniture paid less in rent --
A. For that, yeah.
Q. -- for that? And then it should have been paid

for by the partnership, so the partnership would owe United
the money back?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. The next one, can you read that? Starts --
says bed, but I'll let you read it.

A. Oh, bed and bench. I'm not sure if that's what it

is, bed and bench, 350. Same thing. I don't know.

Q. And then the next one is? What is the next one?
A. I think that's property -- property for United.
Q. Um-hum. And then there's --

A. And it says something '90. 1993.

Um—-hum.

» ©

So I'm not sure. It's not clear.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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Q. Okay.

A. So I'm not —— I can't pinpoint what this is for.
Q. And the 20,000, --

A. Yeah.

Q. -- do you recall what that is for?

A. No.

Q. All right. And then the next one, 5-57?

A. That's Peter's Farm investment.

Q. Um-hum.

A. Corp.

Q. Um-hum.

A. 60,000. Well, Peter's Farm is owned by the --

both families.

Q. Um—-hum.

A. So this came out of the tenant account to, I
guess, to Peter's Farm Investment Corp.

Q. Okay. And that's something that should have been
a joint payment, 1is that what you --

A. Right. It should come out of the store, but I
guess for some reason, I don't know who, told me to pay it
out of the tenant account.

Q. Okay. And the next one is 8-317?

A. It's another property. Oh, this is property tax
for United.

Q. Um—-hum.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. '94., 40,000. I'm not sure. 1It's not clear.
Q. All right. And then the last one says something
5, a date.

A. Oh, five something '98.

Q. What is that?

A. Bedroom.

Q. What does it mean-?

A. Bedroom set. If I'm not mistaken, that's a cousin
of ours. Both families.

Q. What is his name?

A. Allaah.

Q. Um—-hum.

A. He's my -- he's my first cousin and their first
cousin. I guess he got married that year.

Q. Um-hum.

A. And I did ask somebody yesterday if he did, and
they said yes. So that was a gift from the -- both families
to him.

Q. Like a wedding gift?

A. Right.

Q. Okay.

A. And that came out of the same issue like the
refrigerator.

Q. Um—-hum.

A. Best Furniture. We got it from Best Furniture for

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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him, and I deducted it from the rent for Best Furniture.

Q. Okay. So it would have been a gift from both
families?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. Other than this ledger with these
however many, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, other than these 9.

A. Um-hum.

Q. And not talking about the transfer issues that we
dealt with earlier, these are the only amounts that you
recall came out of the tenant account that somehow should
have been reimbursed by the partnership, or you're
contending that, correct?

A. Correct, this -- yes. And I know there's more.

Q. Okay.

A. Because I had a black book, and it's the same page
just like this. And I know there's more, but it's just to
put my hands on it.

Q. This is the only one that you have?

A. It's the only one I have, yes.

Q. Okay. All right. All right. Do you recall
whether you had conversations with Wally or any -- well, let
me just ask you, any of the Hameds related to this, or do
you recall?

A. I ——- I took his instructions from Wally. In -- in

'94, I, you know, my dad wasn't there. Most of my

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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instructions were from Wally.
MS. PERRELL: Okay. All right. Okay. I
have no further questions on this.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. HARTMANN:
Q. Okay. So I have a couple.

First of all, two of these things say that
they're property tax for the United, right? The one on
2-17-95 and the one on 8-30-96. One says it's the property
tax for United for 1993, and I think the other one says it's

the property tax for United for 1996, right?

A. No.

Q. No?

A. '96.

Q. 20,000 --

A. The 20,000 -- 1f I'm not mistaken, it seems like

it says property tax for United. And the --
Q. The one, two down from that.
A. And the other one --
0. Says property tax for United 1990 -- one says '93,

one says '96.

A. '94,
Q. Or '94.
A. '94,

Q. Okay. I'm sorry, I'm old.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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Q. Okay.

w

-- my son, anything else.

Q. All right.

A. And he was taking my instruction to listen to
Wally and their cousins, and we believe in Wally and father
and mother. And unfortunately, everybody do the best he can
to hurt us.

Q. Okay. But Mr. Yusuf, let me ask you this: So
this is for the United -- I'm asking, do you know whether
this property taxes is for the United property taxes at Sion
Farm?

A. No. It could be the improvements of the
supermarket.

Q. Okay. And why is that amount an amount that
should be paid by the partnership?

A. Well, what you mean? If they have no money, we
explain already.

Q. No, but --

A. Supermarket was dry with cash.

Q. Was the supermarket operations supposed to be
paying that, those amounts?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So that was supposed to be paid --

A. But if they don't have no money, he could tell

you —-- my son, Go ahead and pay it.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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1 A. Yes. 1 for our shopping center manager, within the supermarket.
2 Q. Okay. And that would include 50-percent interest 2 It's on the second floor. And by the way, I'm not charging
3 in the net profits of any bank accounts, payables, 3 for the second floor.
4 receivables? 4 Q. Okay. And then you also said that one of the
5 A. Whatever is belong to Plaza is for me and him. 5 conditions was that you would have the final word, but that
6 Q. Okay. Now, you mentioned some conditions. What 6 you --
7 conditions are there? 7 A. Excuse me.
8 Avre there some other conditions to this 8 Q. You said that one of the conditions was that you
9 partnership agreement? 9 would have the final word, --
10 A. No. The condition is, | have the final word. 10 A. Oh, yes.
11 It's | am obligated to consult with him, if | see it's 11 Q. -- but that you did have an obligation to consult
12 important for me to consult. | was suppose to be, after 12 with him?
13 1993, I was supposed to have an office within the 13 A. An absolute obligation, yes.
14 supermarket free of charge. | was -- he was supposed to, 14 Q. Okay. All right.
15 the Plaza Extra was supposed to pay all the gross receipt 15 Now, | want to go back to this -- to this
16 from January 1st, 1994 up to present, and it was covering in 16 deposition, because this ties a little bit into it.
17 the building, the entire building of United Shopping Plaza. 17 A. Yeah, okay.
18 My duty was, is to go and commit the same 18 Q. Okay. Itsays, | see Mr. Idheileh come knock on
19 thing we ensure, to bring money to Mr. Hamed an extent, 19 my door, come on in, shake hand, | offer him coffee. 1 -- 1
20 which cost him nothing. It cost me personal guarantee, and 20 don't remember whether he took it or not.
21 it costing me everything | own except my children and my 21 MR. HODGES: Pardon me. What page are you
22 wife. 22 reading from?
23 Q. Okay. And so I'm going to go back in reverse 23 THE WITNESS: This is --
24 order a little bit. 24 MR. HOLT: Page 21, the top, about halfway
25 A. Yes. 25 down, which says, | see Mr. ldheileh come knock on my door.
Page 54 Page 56
1 Q. When you say one of the conditions was -- was he 1 A. Who?
2 agreed to cover United, you're talking about insurance 2 Q. (Mr. Holt) Mr. Idheileh? How do you pronounce
3 coverage, is that what you're talking about? 3 his name?
4 A. No, including the insurance. 4 A. Yeah, yeah, Ahmed Idheileh, yes.
5 Q. Okay. So the Plaza Extra stores would pay for 5 Q. Okay. I see Mr. Idheileh come knock on my door.
6 insurance on the whole shopping center? 6 Come in, --
7 A. Yes. 7 A. Uh-huh.
8 Q. And the Plaza Extra Supermarket would pay the 8 Q. --shake hand. I offer him coffee. I don't
9 gross receipts, not just on the grocery store profits, but 9 remember whether he took it or not.
10 on the rent? 10 A. Uh-huh.
11 A. Yes. 11 Q. Isay, I tell him, What can | do for you? How
12 Q. Okay. 12 come you're back? | understand that you sold Sea-Mart not
13 A. Excuse me. One more item. The United Shopping 13 to come back to the Virgin Islands. Your intention was to
14 Plaza was using the entire shopping center value 14 sell Sea-Mart and go home. I can see you here now.
15 depreciation to offset any income tax, which that, in 15 He say, Yes, things is tough back home, and |
16 return, it will give you greater saving than the insurance 16 decided to come back. 1 say, Well, what are you planning to
17 and the gross receipt. 17 do? It's a friendly discussion. He say, | would like to be
18 Q. Sothere's a tradeoff you're giving them -- 18 your partner in St. Thomas, too. | says, You know, | don't
19 A. It's a tradeoff, yes. 19 have the final word. 1 will check with my partner,
20 Q. You're giving them depreciation; they're paying 20 Mr. Hamed.
21 gross receipts and insurance? 21 Is that correct?
22 A. Yes. Yes,sir. 22 A. That's exactly what I tell you.
23 Q. Okay. And then you said that something about an 23 Q. Okay.
24 office that -- 24 A. 1 normally consult with them. This is an
25 A. No, I have -- you see, | have an office in the -- 25 important step.

14 (Pages 53 to 56)
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DIVISION OF ST. caoxx -
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and P
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS .
)
Plaintiffs, ) .
)
vs. ) .
)  CRIMINAL NO.2005-1SF/B '
FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,, ) ,
aka Fathi Yusuf ;
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, ) .
aka Wally Hamed g
WAHEED MOHOMMAD HAMED, )
aka Willie Hamed ;
- MAHER-FATHEYUSUF; ) —
aka Miké Yusaof )
)
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF and g
UNITED CORPORATION, )
dba Plaza Bxtra )
g
Difendatits. )

THE DEFENDANTS, by and through their- respective: counsel, respectfully request that
the Court cater an Order granting réliéf'to the Deferdants for harm caused by the government’s
willful ‘and: knowing destruction and alteration: of the. integrity, organization apd sourcing of
seleoted inpeachment and exculpatory evidence, -As a.direct conséquenico. of the: Government's

actions, the organization and control: of certain’ material documents has been severely

TEXHIBIT
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vompromised such that (1) Defendants can no longer: establish the source:and authentivity q!f the
documents; (2) Defendants can no longer.determine whether.and to what extent any 'exculpﬁmry
- or impeaching: documents have been removed or destroyed; and (3) Defendants cannot: trac¢ or
ideritify individuals who “created such documents, had access fo ‘the documents; used the
documcnts. or relied or should have relied on such documents. In shodt; the Government,
throughi its kiiowing and delibetate actions: of jts Agents, has crca;cd a:cloud of credibility on
certain documents: in this case, while thos‘t; ‘sa'me Agents: took deliberate sotions to'preserve:and
smsintain the highest level of intégrity and organization for documents it intended to.use at trial.
THE. DEFENDANTS request that the Court, iif ifs ‘discrefion, (1) dismiss the Third
. Superseding Tndictment in its entirety; (2) suppress all evidencg'seized and currerilly retsined by
fhe: Governmeiity (3) adopt sppropriate evidentiary nilings: as-fo fhe suthenticity, sourses, sud
weilit: of the subject documents; (4) adopt appropiiate jury instructions explaining the
Govemment's acfions and detailing the appropriate factual and evidentiary inferences thic. jurors
should inake.as: a.n;su'lt of thie government's actions; (5) order that the Government compensate
the Defendants for all attorneys’ and expert foes incurred as a resiilt of the Government's actions;
(6).order the:Government to return the Defendants” documents and/or (7) grant any additional.or
altgtisative reliefthat the'Coutt, in ts disoretion, deems appropriate:
IN SUPPORT, THEREOF, the Défendants show unto the Court.as follows:

I Case Backeround and Chironology of the Government's:Séizure and Retentlon of the
Defendants’ Properly.

1. ‘This matter is before the Coutt on a 78-courit Third Superseding Indictment under which
the Government charges Defendants with varjous tax-related offerises. Many: of-those
offenses involve allegations of conspiracy and money laundering which. require the

Governmient to proffer evidence in the negative (for example, the Govemment secks to
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‘5,

establish'that the. Defendants concealed information, from ofher individuals and entities).

Theinitial Indictment in this matter was handed down in Sejitetiiber 6f 2003,

In coordinted riids ot the six Deféndants’ various businesses and homes in October of
2001, the; Governmant seized substanially all of the Defendarits! business, financial and

personl records. Sincethat date, the Government has retained hundreds of boxeS of
‘Defendants® propetty foruse+in this:cas.

‘Tii- tho. course: of s subisequent. investigation and oase development, the Goyernment

solicitest-ank procured:Diefendants* documents frot:a vasiety.of dtherthird:party sorocs.
Aniorigi (e thifd gariies from whom the’ Govefnment solicited Defendants™ docuiments
are fhe Defendints* financial institutions, outside csousting firtns, Bailly wetmbers, and
warious foreign povetntents. Al told; the Government;procured more than five undred
banker boxes of the: Deféndants” documerits from these and oflier sources. Many of the
dociiments progired By te Government arg-originals,

Thte Gaverninst oxgiiized the-volyminous documents afid recorded fheir various soures

‘by boxes tititicred andibar coded to cottespond. with the vations Jocations from which

fhio, Agentsaenoved: the-documents, The specificity-of the souico-deserijtion would-vaty;
as fhe Govemment would describe sources as specific rooms or offies; file cabinets or
desk drawers. THe comesponding box numbers and bar codes wete. atcompanied by a
very general description of ‘the.dociinents contained thiereiti. The Governent-did not
ideitify or log euehispetific documents seized.

Since-the raids of Oclober 2001, the Governtieni has. retiirtied some of the boxes of
seized property ‘to thic. Defendants, but the, remalning relevant doguments have:bedi

rétained-in‘tho FBI offices in St. Thomas, USVL
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. Upen iriformation and belief, the Government began the process.of bates riinbering only

ceituin dochents within 1hs boxes ~ dotuments it intended to-use in its case in chief at

trial. The bates numbering contained prefixes that were indexed to the numbers and bar

codes on the boxes: How.ev,er;thé Govemment. contiriued this, project sporadically and
equedtly, some -of the

eventuglly ‘ghandoned ‘the ‘effort dife. to lack of funding. Goi:

Defendants® documients, held by:the Government are bates numbered, but a significant

number.arenot.

7. ‘To:summarizz, @l of the documents the ‘gov.emmmt’—_i:itgu.dé.m usg at trial are:bates

nunfbered -using ‘the bar €oded Eysteit aiid the vast fnuinber of remaining documents,

likely having significantrelevance to the defense; aromot bates numbored,

8. The 'csoveﬁmentmev&@tﬁﬁ&d? thie Defendaiits withia detsiled.inventoty of thy specific.

documeds seized., Upon.information and “hélief, such inventory does pot exist,
Consoquently, given the latge voliime, of Tecords the Defendants maintained, the

Defeodants cannot identify ihe specific dooumerits, the Goyernment scized. in October of

2001,

. Thic Goverritiicat continiues, fo hold Peféndants” documentary evidence at the FBJ offices

on St. IhOmas,_ggnﬁllﬁng‘theDofchagms oily linited supervised review of thé.evidente,

10. During their initial revieve'of thiodocuments at tho EBLoffices in'St. Thomas, the defense

team prepared a general inventory of the groupings. of deouments held in the boxes, and

geatined as many-of the pettinent docurmonts us possible..

11.In the seven years since the Ottober 2001 mids, the Govemment bas periodically

returned boxes bf documeits to their owricri that-it: deemcd: not: pertinent fo the subject:
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case. The Government identificd and logged the boxes xeturtied, and required the owners

16 #ign-a docuincif sckmowledging receipt of the- documents. .

12: This protocol implies that the Governmet decmiied tiie dociumeiits it Ehose to vetsin'to be

pertinent to the issues in thicase, It:also illustrates that the Govermment contisivélly

preserved and idenfified the docurients by reference to: the box nunibers.. It is in the
o
confext:of such awareness that the Govemnment Agents rearranged the documents.amohg

the boxgs..

13, The defense team™s:Jast permitted, visit. to the FBI offices was in 2006. ‘From-thiat titns:

until Noyember. of 12008, the Govéernment derdiied the Defendants access to their

documents despite numerous requests. In November of 2008, Government couiisel

-agreed to allow the defénse teain 6" view the documents, The document; Yeview was

schieduled for November 10; 12, 13:and. 14, 2008.
AT, Defense Team?s Discovery of Spoliation

14, On the dsfense (ean'y Naveniber 10; 2008 discovery visit o e St, Thomas FET offices,

FBI Special Agent Chrisfine. Zieba- fiitially denféd thia team noogss. to the yechrds:
Accordiny 45 Ms. Ziebs; the defense must now submit a detailed Hst: of specitic:
review, A the defdnse team. would. scon leam, case FBI'Agent Thomas Peir and
testifylng IRS: Agent Javier Bell traveled to the Virgin Islands frotn their Usited States
Places of Duty to.rnonitot {tie docaments requested and observe. the defense team's

review of the: documents:

JA -166-



IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

FILED
04/21/2015

VERONICA HANDY, ESQUIRE
CLERK OF THE COURT

‘. . Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1038 Filed: 02/05/09 Page 6 of 25

" 15, Defonse couise] Randall Andreozzi asked Ms, Zicba 1o explii why the defense team
was suddenly béing detiiéd the access: atid ability (o review and examine the Defendants’
own documedits in a manner that was inconsistent with the pricr dxscovery visits,

16. Without explanation, Ms. Zicba advised: that'prior-protocol would no “longer be possible,
She directed the defense tcam.to leave and return.on Wednesday, November 12, 2008, to
dxécuss ttie maiter: wlﬁLDeparlment of Tustice attorney Lori Hendrickson.

17 On November 12, 2008, the defense terim ratuinivd 46 the FBI offices and was preeted by
severd] Govetiiinent Tepresentatives, including FBl-case Agent Thomeas . Petri, IRS case
Agent Javier Befl, and newly-assigned case Agent Christine Zicba. Department of:

P T WU,

Jastice Counsél:Lori Hendtickson was:dlso in attendance. Asithie-Court is dware, Agents

- . Bell and Petri wete involved-n fhis cdse it fhe search wattant stage: They adyised that
they willalso be working on: thetrinl nfithe case,

18, Ms, Hendrickson cxplained that Agents Petil 68 B8l were detdiled from thicir United
States Places of Difty 5o thiat {liny could-monitos the defense team’s documeant revicw.
She-outlined new procedures that she. would-enforce foi' the Deferidarits” review of their
own documents. As part of thatiprocedure, thie defense team would only be permitted to.

- review onie box ait.a time; only oneperson would be.alfowed to touch the:documents; and

- the Govemment gggﬂts:‘ - fiot defc‘n%g counisel = ‘wouild -decide which boxes the: team

would be:permitted to review,
19. When the defense teani demianded dfi explanation;: Ms. Hendrigkson stated that she

f implemented thess .riew jpracedutes; to ensuro “the: integrity of the documents os the. -
g

' Goyenmentmaintained them.
’v‘i

%
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20: With little altemative, the defense team agreed to proceed undet this protocol so long as it

proved feasible to a;eﬁ‘cdtii‘rc and cfficient review of the documents. Defense counsel
Randall Andreozzi staied, however, that the defense. could fiot agiree to allow:Agents Petri
and Bell, and Attomey Hendrickson, to monitor the feam’s review of the defendants'
documents, As a compromise, the tcam agreed to; linit-the nuimber of individuals who

would 16viEw the dooumeits dt any oe time., Ms. Hendeicksonggreed o this stipulation.

»

21. The-fitst box the Goveriment. provided for the defense team’s, review was EBI box

nutiiber 131, Upon teview of the ‘contents of Box 131, the dofense team itimediately
recognized that the current contents of the box: didshot match the general: summary
dnventory ttic defense had.prepared during its previous dlocument reviews: Box-131 siow
contaitied groups of documents that were notidentified fnthio defense’s inveutury of Box
131, inclading, inter salia, documents with-the bates prefix 295. 'éy reference to its
summaryrindex; the defense team confirmed that-these docutiiénts were origindily sfored

4 Box 295,
29, Defense: counsel Andreozzi asked Ms. Zicba why. docifirients. with betes prefixes 295

were contained in box 13 1,

23, ¥t wa€ theti ‘thiat M. Zieba informed the defense team fhat she had reorganized and

rearranged the Defendanits® documents by tenoving some. documents: from their original
boxes and placing them in diffrent boxes:because Hhie-revised orgariization better sited

herneeds: She refused to-explain the.revised ofpanizitionsl method.

24. Mr. Andreozzi eéxplained to Ms. Zieba that the FBI represented to the defense team

during the- initial document review sessions that the. box. numbers corresponded 10 the

various sources from which the documents werc seized or otherwise procured. Because
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the FBI chosé 6 bates aurmberonly some of the documents, the only way for the defense
team to track the sources of tho siofi-bates stamped documents cven generally was by box
number. .

25. Mt, Andreozzi asked, “So if we wete fo look through Box 200, for example, and yefer to
o ihdex, fhiz contents of the box.would not match?” Ms. Zieba confirmed that this was
correct — the: docuthents would mo longer match either the: Defendants’ index or the
Government's original index. She-explained, “T had no idéa the defénse relied on the -
order of thess dogutiénts 1, particilat boxkes, 1 rearranged.ihizmy how I was doing thiem
andwhat:made sense fo'me,”

26.Mr. Andieozzi asked Ms, Zigba if; in light of this development, it -would be possible to:
determine! (J)-whether and fo what extent documents were:temoved from the boxes; {2)
whether dind to-What extent documeitts hiave been rearmnged smong the boxes; or (3)
what soumes the spasific.documents were procured from

27. Ms, Ziebarefised to-answer the ghiesticns. She repeated thiat she had nojidea the defense
or the FBErélied on the béx numbers es the identifying factor ift indexing.and arfiging
the documents, or‘as a.reference as to the sources.of the documients. . She stated.(hat any
otier gsgstioris should be tddressed o Attomey Hendricksor:

28. Atiomey Hendrivkson returned to the office with Agent Petil. Both wero apprised of fhic

29, Agent Petri at first:responded by accusing the defense team of misplacingthe dosuinents.
jn Box 131. ‘He assetted ‘that; dutinig: the defense team's initial review of the boxes, he
and his colleagues would review: the boxes after each examination to make sure that the

defense team did not disturb thie integrity of the FBI's organization of the documents.
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Agent Pelri laimed that or some occasions he-found documents misplaced and bad to
replace them iii cdrrect ofder.ifi-the boxes, He stiited, *This is why we have to have ga
agent watch you.”
30.Mr. Andreozzi then posed the questiony “If thigre’ was integrity to tho order of the
documents: i their respective: boxes, snd’ Agont Zicba just informed us that. she
reartanged the doctiments and boxes; why, will -the FBI not provide us: with the
methodology for her reorganization?” Mr. Betrl then fumed and confronted Ms. Zieba:
“You reorganized fhe:boxes?!” Af that point, Mri Peiri ‘stated that he. would not'discuss

-the issuc-any further:

Bt

! x4

31. Mt. Andreozzi -adiised /Attorney . Heandiickson fliat; in ‘order to evaluate the ex&nt
‘hamm caused, ‘the defénse team would meed to: select and: :feviow specifm‘ bo %

'l
_n

S
..
of-’
™ \l
PRt ey

Lo Jyed.

documents, ‘and .could-no Tonget rely: o the Government’s discréfion in. seleotiny e
\ 2

= !
‘boxes for review. -Aftoimiey:Hendrickson: tentitively agreed to- this, ‘but asked.that

L o < .:.
‘to continue its:review, i

GRY,
iR

<

group. aﬂjotiﬂi%ﬂﬁﬁéhﬁﬁ'ﬁxéﬁfniiﬂme‘ iftettiogii
32, On.the afiempon:pf November 12; 2008, the: defense team returned to the"FBI offices to
continue fts reviéw:of boxes. The team noted fiz:presence of Agens Belland Petri. Ms.
Zicha stated tHat: ‘thee.Agaits would: no,t':ob_ge_:ve:;ﬁiejcam’s document review but wonld
33. The team provided Mss Zieba with. & list ofisix numbered boxes to review. Ms. Zicba
produced oncbox and two redwell fofders, Oneredwéll was libéled “161. formeily” and
contained only spproximsfely ten documients. The other 'was labeled, “428” and
contained-only a few manila folders of docvments. Mr. Andredzzi gdvised Ms. Zicba
that the riumbers 161 and 428 had been-associated -.\’fith.;;xdmal boxes. He asketl why she,
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now produced redwell .folders and why one was labeled “161 formerly”. Ms, Zieba
would only repeat that the documents ate 1o longer:in their original order.

34, Ms. Zicba refused to produce three of the boxes requested, She:stated that, pursuant to:
Attomey Hendrickson's instructions, “For today I.will just keéep'pulling boxes randonily
because I'don't have thém orga.mzed the way you have,them organized.”

35, Thip:team, requested access 10 the storage room to’ view the cugrent manper in which. thé
boxes were being maintained, Ms.Zieba refised access.and:directed all questionsito Ms.
Hendrickson..

36.'Upoti Ms. Hendrickson's retum 16 the. office; Mr.

zi: explained the afternoon’s
eveats and-the defense. team’s concems regarding the Jntegrity of the' documents. Ms..

"Hendrickson responded By stating, “What's-dope i done?”
7.Mr.- Andreozzi insisted- that. in light of the.circumstagcss, the team be. allowéd to-review

»

411 6f the boxes in numérical.orderto-determine the extent of the harm. Ms: Hetidrickson,
agreed, but askedthat the defense team leave for. thieday. to sliow. her to “prepare” the
boxes for viewing. She stated thiat, if the team allowed the :prosecution team to start
wotking now, they could have the first fifty or- 50 boxes “ready™ for review by the next
moming, '

38, Mr. Andreozzi again expressed concern, and asked what Ms. Hendnckson meant by
“prepare” the documents for-review. Ms, Hendrickson; xefused to answer the question
and asked again thaf the.teamleave for the day:

39, The next morning, November 13, 2008, Ms: Hendrickson advised Mr. Andreozzi that ghe
hiad Gecasion 6 work with and review the docurents;until 8'p.m. the prior evening. Sho

confirmed that the FBI Agents did in fact reorganize and remove documents from the

10
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boxes since the defense team's 1ast review of the documents. Ms. Hendricksonexplained
that, as best she can determine, the following-occurred:
a; ‘The Spesial Agents removed the: documents they inlended to. use at tiial and
plicédthefn in fridl binders. ‘They used thé:originals, arid tio copies were replaced
in thczoriginalbpx;s.
b. ‘Mfie-Special Agesits returhod some documéits-1o the Deforidants at various points
in ime. Ms. Hendrickson claims that some items and documents returned were
‘philled frotii boxes and ‘tewmedztaihe.'d;féndants {(rather than entite boxes being
relnrnedd intavt), but she.canniot identify the:specific:itemsior documents retarned.
o. As for the boxes of documents that the FBI retained and.did not-place into exhibit
folders for toial, the Agents xemoved and reorganized the documents contained in
" Hiose boes it Vatiois: ways, withoitt eiploying any thethod to trick:the origivial
source:nf the. documents. For example, the Apents may have grouped all bank
statementé;’»&g@iﬁcr so that they: no tloi;ger..mﬁintained the statements in- the
original boxes bascd.on their soarces: As a result, neither the source: nor the
guthenticity of the various documents can be determined. "Nor can one determine
‘whefhier or'to-what ¢xtent cfocumcnts 1nay have been removed from the boxes:
40, s, Hendrickson explained this was the best she could do under the circumstanges, and
repeated {hat; “What's done is:done.”
41. Thus, the Government knowingly and willfiilly reorganized the documents, but did so
only'aftet it micticulously identified and preserved the integrity and chain of custody of

the:specifio documents they intend.to rely on.at trial,

11
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42: The defense team continyed fo review the boxes in numerital order during the time
remainitg on Novembef 13, anid-14, 2008, to detérmine th xtent of the daninge caused
) by the Government's actions. Offhe boxes the tean was:able to-review during that time,
‘the teain confidued to ﬂxscovermxsphced and niissing docuinents.
43, The. defense team: returncd ‘i; the FBI offices on Jannary. 26, 2009. and continued its
doouttient review fhitough Janvary 29, 2009. Agents Petdd and Bell retumed to St
“Thomas from thelr United:States Places of Dutyto moniler thereview with:Agent Zicba,
44, Attorney Hendiickson was miat present. In a felephone conversation: with Randall
Andreozzi, Mr, Andreozzi advised Ms. Hendrickson fhat the defense plaiitied to.cofitinue
‘to.review thie boxes invigmetical order from where itleft offin Noyember, He asked Ms,

Hendrickson. whether the Government Agents had reorganized the documetits since the
definse teami’s last review. Ms. ‘Hendrickson -informed Mr Andreozzi that the

Govérnment: had ot weorganized the documents singe:the defense tam Tast reviewed

+thein ifi Noveraber 2008 Shotefused 16 commicnt o whether-the Agents did anything to
affect the inteprity of fhiebioxes of dovnmentsithe defenseteanliad yetforeview.

45, At va:;ous poinits dirririg: the cotitse of the docuimenit teview, Mi. Petri informed the

defénse feam that fhiey were Tisinformed if they believed tho documents seized and.

_mgintained by the governniéng bélonged to the defendarits. Mz, Petri stated: that the

docutments belonged 1o flie Government, and that ke would do wily them,ag he pleased.

He informed the team that he.and.other Agesits rearranged and remoyed ﬂoc\;ﬁents from.

the boxes and that the Agents were within theirrights to o-so.

12
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46. Mr. Petsi also stated that he selécted certain documeiits in the verious boxes to be bates
stamped based on whether the Government intended to use them gt trial, This:is how he
determined which documents got bates stamped and which did not.

47.Mr. Andreozzi asked Mr, Peld whether he would retum the documents that the.

.Go.v.émmerit did not inteiid 4o use at trial, Mr, Petri refused, statmg that: the remaining
documents were nonetheless relovant to the case,

48. The toam concludéd its review of the infegrity of the boxes on Jinuary 29; 2009; and
contimied to:find that some boxes wero. entirély missing, sometboxes were re-numibered,
ad’ numerous docunents. (most non<bates stamped) identified inthe defense team's
initial inveniory were mow missing:ffom the boxes. The'team-alsc observed that several

‘boxes siow bore ‘nutnbers ‘that the Government previously, identified us having been
retumed to the Defendants 2006,
I, Consequences of the-Governtent's Actions

49. The Govemment. seized and then held the Defendants! documents for seven years.
Before shuffling and rearranging the documents it held, tic Government prepared its case
foritrial. The FBT Apents bates stamped the documents the: Governmnt intended to use
to support its cas¢. They carefully and meticulously removed each and every docutnent
the, prosecufors identified. for use at trial, encased eack document; in a plastic binding,
organized it in an evidentiary file, and.identified its sourcé bymsemngF.BI evidence
return documents as placeholders for the original documerits Jin;the source Exhibit boxes.
Through this process, the Government endeavored to ensure thie integrity, sourcing and
authenticity of the documents, thereby proteécting its ability to.establish the admissibility

and probative value of each document it intends to use at trial to support its case.

13
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it et

50, With respect to the femaining documents; fnstead of returning them to the Defendants;
the Government kept thems and willfully proceeded to reorganize and shuffle them.
Becauss most of these:documents are not bates stamped. ‘they cannat be retumed to their
original boxes.
‘ 51, The. Govérmineiit ¢aiild have-remmed igse documents fo the Defendants, In fuct, the
l Goverument has retumed somé boxes of doouments to the Defendants, presniably on the
* presumption: that such.documerits were nob perfinent: to the case. Yet, the Govornment
s affirmatively elscted: fo setain the remaining documents and then to shuffle and
reorginitze thet,
: 52, The: Defendants nnd-{e Court may never knoy &l of the documents thatmay have been
' Jost or destriyed by ilie Government’s conduct. However; some aspects of tha harm
caused-can be adicilatedand evaluated:with some:specificity:
a. The defense oar'nol longer establish or contest the authenticity of (e nonsbates
b. The defense can 7o longer establish or contest. the source of tho mon-bates
stamped documents.
¢. The Deféndints-Fave been comiplétely deprived of their ability to Crass-examing
{he povernment’s witnesses at trial with respect to any of the non-bates stamped-
doouments, s seiipusly impsiring their Sixth Amendment righis.
d. Defendants canmo.longer cstsblish or«contest whether any particular individual
had ‘aceess to a. particular non-bates stamped document, chalfengo a Witaésses’
knowledize of the coritenits of or existetiwe of'a partieular document, oF question;

their reliance on a partioutar documents. The resulting harm i infinite.

14, TN
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e. The Defendants can no longer cstablish or confest whether all documents
portinent to this case. are. accounted for, Therefore, admission of any sifigle item
of evidence may violate therule. of comipleteness.

f, Defendants can no :1ongei! detecmiinewhether cerfain. documents may have been
procured by flic Government solély thidugh iinproper mcans (see, for cxample,
Deferidants’ motion refatding: foreigii bank tecoids) or whether:such documents
may have been procured fronx othersproper sources or means. Further, now that
ttie source of the «documents.is undetorniinable, the Defendants may Jose the
ability to invoke the protection of the attorrey-Clicaf privilege with respect to
privileged cominiinications seized fior theiroffices. .

53, These issucs represent orily some of fhe potential harm caused by the Govemment's
actions:

V. Argument.ond Grounds for Relief

54, THe events recitéd above illiistiate tbist thé-Governriterit dfitefitionally seized possession-of
thie Defendants” propesty and patnstakingly reserved the infogrity-of select portions of
that property that it intended ta-use at trial to support:its case, Instead of retuthing. the
rest of the Defendants” property o them, it kept.it, and ‘then knowingly and willfully
manipulated the organization of these doguments. I fhis manner; the Government
jerepatably compromised the integrity of-docutnents it knew (0 be relevant to the case but
a0t favorable o its case in chief, Since most.of these documents are not bates stamped,
ihe daniage. caused by the ‘Governiiient cn'nnm.pe; retedied by any reasonably available

bt

means., t
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55. These actions are simply a continuation of the oonsi'étcnt‘ and inethodical bad faith
exhibited 'by the Government throughout this case as illustrated to the Coutt in the
various pending and resolved motions; all of which the Defendanits incotporate herein by
reference. |

56. Government counscl and Agents acknowlédge what has occurred; and respoiid only with
the statement, *What's done is done.”

57, As enamerated herein; the Government’s actions severcly impair the Dofendants" ability-
to-tlofend:asinst the Indictment, thersby deptiving the: Defondants-of their Canstitational
right o due process.of law.

58.In. United Medical Supply Company, Ine, v. United States, 77Fed. CL. 257 (1997); the
Court of Claims. stressed the iinpoitance of préserving the integrify “of documentary
évidence:

Agide: pethaps from perjury, f0 act serves:to threatett fie integtity of the
-judiGial:protess more than ihe: sgoliation. of eviderice: {Our-‘adversatial
process; is. designed to tolerate lmman failings ~ erring judges can be
soversed, uncooperative counsel can be shepherded, -and recaloitrant
witnesses compelled to testify. But, when,criical docummesits go missing,
judges and”litigants alike. descend int6 o world. of ad-lozery and. half
treasutes —and our-civil justice system suffers.... To guard & t-this,
each party in litigation is solemnly bound to preserve po ly releyant

59, In crimiinal shatters, the Governmientihas & duty under the Due Process clause:to'preserve
exculpatory evidence the admissibility:and probative value of which:cannot be replicated
by othier reasonably-available:means, Califdriia v. Trombetia; 467 U.S. 479:(1984)). If
the Government, i bad faith, fails.inthis regard, it has violated the Defendant’s
constitutionsl.doe process rights. Arizona y. Youngblood, 488 U.5. 51 (1988). See also

16
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Griffin v, Spratt, 969 F.2d 16:(3d Cir. 1992); accord Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83
{1963).
60. Tn civil cascs, aii ifidapendént duty to presorve evideoce: arises when the party in

possession of the cwdenoe Inows that litigatioit by the party: seeking the: evidence is

pendii or probable énd the:party in possession of the evidence:can foresee the harin or

prejudice that would be:caused to the party secking the evidence if the evidence were to
be discarded. See.Joe Hend Péomotions v. Sports Page Café, 940 F, Supp. 102,.104 n13

well recopnized itiat tax :evasion cases arc:inherently civil in nature. The prosecution.

must:prove willfil violation of the civil statute. before a defendant can be held criminally
tiable ot tax evasioti. :See Sansone v. United States 380 U.S.-343 (1965). Cotisequently,
‘{he: Government in such. a -case ‘has the duty to follow both the civit and. criminal
standards of evidence preservation.
161:Federal ‘courts: have: récognized that. a ‘conéﬁﬁiﬁoﬁ'ai, inandate against suppression .of
evidence iimposes.a-duty upon prosécutors to inistruct agencies o preserve.evidence. See,
eig, United:Statesv; Henriguez; 731 ¥.2d 131, 137-38.(2d Cir. 1984):
The govemment has Jong been oa notice, of*it’z‘s;di‘uyvto.pmeryo 7
disetverable ovidence.utid hias been repeatedly wamed of the jeopardy in
whith it placesiits:prosecutions whon it disregards this obligation....
Whare, as:Fiers, destouction is delibetate, sanctions will:xomally follow,
irrespestive of the petpetratoi’s motivatior, unless the.Govemmen Mcan
bedr the mwmmmwmtno prejudice:resulted to:the-
defendantt

&ci_&ing&nd“quq ing, inter alia, United States v. Grammatikos; 633 F.24 1013,
B c 1080

62. In Uiiited States v, Yevakpor, 419 E. Supp, 2 242 (N DN.Y, 2006), the District Court for
the Northern District of New ‘York held the Government's destrucfion of evidence must
17
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| --'bc;:;:mcdied by the exclasion of ibe evideace, and: subsequently dismissed the case. The
Court -admionishied the prosecutor for failing to meet its affimnative duty to prescrve
evidence,

63. The Government's. duty "covers not-only: exculpatory, material, but also information that
could bo.uséd to finpeach & key- gavoriment withess,". United States v. Coppa, 267 .38
132,135 (24 Cii. 2001) (¢iting Giglio v United States; 405 U8, 150, 154, (1972)).

64. T the,instanit case, the Govermentisdizeilithe exonlpatory evidenos fromthe Defendants”
possession. In doing 50, the Goyemment tock or a duty;to-preserve the evidence in its
costody: 'The question of-WhetHet shuffifig anid: ronioving documents from the boxes
would prejudice the Defentlanits-wasaot within the ‘Govérnment’s. aiithority to evaluate.
The seizire wertants merely .gave dhe -Govemment. sufbority to xetain - temporary
possession, of the ovidence, dt gurcly did not ‘shift title ‘and' did not authofize the
destruction of the:organization, htegrity:and:sourving of the evidence.

65. At a:minimum the: Govemmenf s &sduty to follow its owit proceditres- for preserving
cvidence. GJf California v Troribeitd, 467 U.S. 479, (1984)) (bolding po bad faith where
the Govemment's actions were in accord. with its normal practice and proceduces): Such
is:not the casehere:

Investigation Manual scts forth the following

66. The Infernal’Revenue Service's Crimningl
procedure to employ:in impletentiiig sedrch warfants:
LR.M. 9.4.9:3.6 Post:Operatioii Search Watrant Procedures
1. Folfowingthe cxcontion of tho scirch wartdi, the speoial agent,
‘pugsuant to Fed. R Giiit, Pi R 41, will teturit ths yearch warrant, with
an invenfory ofthie items:seized; to the issuing magistrate, This return
must be done within, 10-days:of cxecufing the segroh warrant,

2. The spesial agent (gggglsg_dcr)wmﬁlxoppfepafc‘the Post Enforcement
Operation Sumithary Fort, (Exhibit: 9.4, .3); for-each search warrant

18 * .
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site;-a5.600n 84 possible, %isfqpngmanmwy&rdl Clsedich #
warants; ot Jst tax; omxsﬁ&wd wqgehwm&

3., Colmiim] Tax Cosnselyriil e proviflsilwi with;o.conyitis Stvgntiry o
conduet a post search wartant fo:: sllligearch warants
Mnedﬂn'[‘itle%auﬂmreﬁted’ﬁ A g uons.rOﬂminnl
Teax (] w:llmt condnutm-inmﬁofyﬁvin orswéhvmmmns

(e e

‘ Y’Qf o the' 10, ensyre that
gaited 1: y{nveatored on G Ass Aeset
Forfettum 'Dmclcmg and Retmm! Syslem(AFTRAK).
LRM.94.93.6:1 Preserving the Chain of - Custody

1. Troner topreserve, imits originil’ eondxtion, pll evldenawmnterlﬂ
-thatmaybeoffered: intowidencg,
recordings, videotapes, documen ;mimqumm&m
tiacked 6 the: cmstodyatidoo aﬁﬂmmi ibe cafi be-dovunietited -
ut all times.... = h

'67; The-referenced Manual. provisiois winotiih Specisl Agetits:0 shaintdii tht, shangg ;
SYE; ]

gustody-and.infegrity: ‘of -documents; pirocured, | wia searchi ‘watrants, Agenoy;pol_fp‘g
anaindates thiat Aperis return seized items as-gutickly as. passxb?e indseciite rebeiﬁi's forgfﬁ
Tetumediitems, & &

68 Inthie context of explaining the protocolfor the defense: team?s review-of the 'dc;cl;mcnts,
the FBI Agents. and prosecylor: Hendfickson: expressed :Uisic understanding’ of {hic

~immportatice.of mairitaining the otganizational integrity of the:doctimentsiseized.

'69:The Agents?never%oompiled an inventory: of the :speoiﬂc.\iwms and: docundents seized in
vatious mumbered boxes: They then destroyed. thie integrity. of even this ‘system by
shuffling and rearranging documents.

70; Raither thian promptly copying énd refitring the documents to the wighithil ownets; the.
Govemnment deliberatcly held the proporty for more than seven years. It should have

g
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returned the ‘documents to the rightfull owners as mandated by its intemal pratocol; but

i s —————— e

chése niotto, It elected 1o refain the documents, and then proceeded to shuffle and

B P LS
i~ -

* rearrange them 50 &s to destroy their integrity, organization anid sourcing.
71.The ?.Govegnmem Apgents and Counsel selectively followed ihxs ‘protoco]l when it suited
' ihcir purpose, aud ignored it whea it did fict. This demotstrates the government
knowingly and deliberatelyy violated its duty topreserve the subject evidence
72: During the November docuttent review, the Government presented the boxes of

doamemsto the defense team. without revealing that the FBI Agenis rearranged them.

The - FBI Agent did nof -reveal .that she rearvangéed the. documents until the team
! vecogritzed the fuct arid-confronted her with regard to the issue. Thus, had the defense

team not discovered'ilie problem, the Governiment would have:led the. defense: to biélizve
that the documents were never-rearranged among the:boxes; Since:the box numbers ile
the: Cotutt @5 10, the sourees of theréarranged documents.  This.is crucial.since manyof
the:government’s allegations in-this case involve concealment of information on the part
.of the Defendants.

73; Speclficdlly, the: Government: charges Defendants with conspiracy, moncy laiindeting,

e el

and mail fraud based oh allegatiotis that they deliberately concealed nileged financial
acfivity wnd transactions from. others. Notwithstanding apy other hams, the
Govemnment's condiét fiow prevents the Defendints from effectively -cstablistifig: the

— i = e

source of docnmerits, the-individuals-whiomay have had acgess to them, and whether any:

w

such “concealment™ ever occurred.

20
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y

74. FB1 Agents Zicba and Petri concede that they deliberately destroyed the organization of
the seized documents because they wete not ordered in a way-that suited fheir needs,
Regardless of the Apents’ purported motivation; sanctions arc appropriate since, the
actions prejudiced the:Defendants.
75. The source aiid aiitheiiticity of the partiulir documents are-critical to defense of the case.
Consequently, the Defendants are prejudiced by the Agents® déliberate. actions.
Accordingly, sanctions are warranted. Accord Kronishv. United: States, 15Q F3d 112;
[ 126 (24 Cir. 1998); West v: Goadyw Tire & Rubber. Co,, 167 F.34776 (2d Cir. 1999)
: (“It-has long becit the rule that gpaliators shouldniot; henefit from. tieir-wrongdoing, as
" illustrated by “that favorite maxim of the law, ousing presumuntor contra:spoliatorem.™).
- 76, 'The appropiistesiess and extent, of sactions-dapends upona, case:by-case assessment; of
(1) the Government’s cilpability for-the:lpss; (2).a realistic appraisal 8 its significance
when viewed inlight of its nat;tre, (3)its bearing npon criticdl dssues.in the case, and (4)
the strengthof the Government's -untaihtedépfokoli;'tﬁf}iiredﬁtqtes:v, Grammatikos, 633
F.2d. 1013, 101920 (2d Cir. 1980). The Second Gircuit is not: alori¢ in applying a
balancing fest to determine appropriate sanctions, See United States v. Doty, 714 F.2d
, 761; 764 (8™ Cir. 1983); United Siates v. Baca, 687 F.2d 1355, 1359 (10® Cir. 1982);
. Uniited Statesv: Traylor, 656 F.24 1326, 1334 (9™ Cir, 19813; United States v, Picariella,
568 F.2d 222, 227 (I* Cir. 1978); Lovern v. Unlted States; 689 E. Supp. 569, 585
(B.D.Va. 1988); United States v. Beall, 581-F:Supp. 1457, 1467.(D.Md. 1984).

! '7'“7-;. ‘Sanctions can range from exclusion or suppression of thie siibject Hiiatter; granting & new
trial, or dismissal of the indictmenit or i direction of a judgment or acquittal. United
States v. Miranda, 526 F.2d 1319, 1324 nd (2d Cir, 1973). In'California'v. Trombetta,

21
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457 UIS. 479, 487 (1984), the Cotrt wrote, “But ‘when evidence has been destioyed in
-violation of the Consfitution, the Court must choose between bafiiiig fiirlhiér prosecution
or suppressfion].”
78.In United States v: Heath, 147 F.Supp, 877 (D, Haw. 1957), the defendant wis .ihgi;t"ed
on:charpés: of tax evasion; ‘Defendant filed two motions requesting that he besallowed to:
imspect Yocumentary evidence hetad tumed over o ths Titernal Revenus Sprvise. While:
tary evidence had begn fost ar.
destroyed, Irrlight of the fict that the documentssieéte nevessary to-defentlthiy case; tho

ici4he harids of the Tntiimal Revenue Service, the documet

vttt pratited deferidant’s mation to-disniiss the indictiment on<duc:protess: grounds,
79, Considering the nature of the instent case and the st niniber of documents at issue, the

siteriality ofihose docuttients is obvious. The Govemment infringes npon Deféndant:
-due process rights through its willful faildre to preserve. or-iétum: those: documents.,

Atcoidingly, severe sanctions:are warranted;

'WHEREFORS, Déferidints speatfully request that o Goutinits discretion!
(1) Dismsisss the Third Superseding Indictment in.ifs enticety;

(2) Suppress all eyidence seized and currently retained byzthie Government;,

(3} Adopt apptopriafe evidentiary rulings: a5 to- the authentioity; sources, and 'weight of the;
syibject-documents;

(4) Adopt sppropriats cutative jury instructions explaining: the. governmient's actions .ani
detailing fhe appropriate factual and' eviderifiary thfcrencex (e jurors shonld make as & result

of the gochment:'é:acﬁons;

22

JA -183-



e

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

FILED
04/21/2015

VERONICA HANDY, ESQUIRE

« CLERK OF THE COURT

@it 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB  Dacurrent #: 1038 Filed:02/05/09 Page28 of 25

o Order that {lio Government compensats: the Defvadatts:for alf attomeys” and expert foes
incurred as o mguit of ths Governnient s actions;

(6) Order the government to retum the Defendants’ documents and/or )
{7 Ghasit. §Y fBifiondl 4% alternative reliof that the Conit, it #ts disegiflon, deem

a

appropriate.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,
" Plaintiff,

v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,
. WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, AL NO., 2005-015
aka Wally Hamed,
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,
MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,
ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION
d/b/a Plaza Extfra,
Defendants.

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION REPLY

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THE MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The United States of Amel:ica and the Territory of the Virgin Islands, by and through its
undersigned counsel, respectfully submits this response to Defendants’ Reply to the
Government’s Response to Defendants’ Motion for Specific Relief (No. 1076 — Mar. 17, 2009).

DISCUSSION

Defendants present numerous false allegations in their reply memorandum in support of
their moiion to dismiss. The government submits the attached declarations in support of its
opposition to the motion.

The Third Circuit has adapted two Supreme Court cases to adopt a three-part test to

4419718.1

EXHIBIT

tebbles’
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analyze allegations of spoliation of evidence against the Government. See United States v.

Jackman, 72 Fed. Appx. 862, 866 (3d Cir. 2003). The three threshold questions are: (1) did the

government “act[] in bad faith when it destroyed the evidence,” (2) did the evidence “possess[]
an apparent exculpatory value” at the time of loss or destruction, and (3) is the evidence “to some
extent irreplaceable.” Id. (internal quotations omitted). The defendant has the burden to
demonstrate to the court that all three questions are answered in the affirmative to successfully
assert an evidence spoliation claim against the government. See Id. Defendants have not done so
in their motion,

The first prong is taken from the Supreme Court’s holding in Arizona v, Youngblood,
488 U.S. 51 (1988). The Court stated that “unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the
part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of
due process of law.” Id. at 58. The remaining two prongs were set out prior to Youngblood, in
California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984). The Court, in Trombetta, held that for evidence
destruction to rise to the level of a constitutional deficiency, the evidence in question must have
“an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and be of such a
nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably
available means. Id. at 489. This inquiry turns heavily on the actual knowledge of the law
enforcement officials, as to the exculpatory value of the evidence in question, prior to its loss or
destruction.

Defendants have not shown that the government acted in bad faith. The government has
made every effort to maintain and preserve the evidence. Indeed, any misplaced evidence may be

the product of defendants’ review rather than government conduct.

2 4419718.1

JA -235-



IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

FILED

04/21/2015
Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 3 of 4

RONICA HANDY, ESQUIRE
CLERK OF THE COURT

Defendants also cannot show that evidence was destroyed, that it was exculpatory, or that
it cannot be replaced. Instead, they claim to be aggrieved by the organization of the evidence.
They provide no authority for granting any relief on the grounds that the government altered the
manner in which eviderice was stored.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, the government respectfully requests the Court deny

defendant’s motion in its entirety.

Respectfully Submitted,
PAUL A. MURPHY
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Is/
ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S. Attorney
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
Trial Attorneys
U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W. - Room 7814
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 616-2245
Fax: (202) 616-1786

Dated: July 8, 2009
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CERTIFICATE OF SE
I, Mark F. Daly, certify that on this the 8th day of July, 2009 the foregoing pleading, the
GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S REPLY MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
OF THE MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF, was served on the counsel of record by filing the
same through the ECF system.

Is/
S ey Mark F. Daly
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DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT THOMAS L. PETRI

I, Thomas L. Petri, make this declaration in support of the Government’s Response to
Defendants® Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Ihave served
in that capacity for 20 years. 1am assigned to the Miami Field Office.

2 I was assigned to the St. Thomas office of the Federal Bureau of Investigation from 2000
through 2006. While stationed on St. Thomas, [ was the lead case agent of the
investigation of United Corporation, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, Nejeh Yusuf, Waleed
Hamed, Waheed Hamed, and Isam Yousuf.

3 In the course of that investigation, the government obtained and executed search warrants.
Those searches were conducted at numerous locations throughout the islands, including
the Plaza Extra stores and the homes of the defendants.

4 Evidence seized during he course of those searches was placed in boxes, Numbers were
placed on the boxes to maintain an order.

5 The seized evidence, as well as evidence obtained either consensually or through grand
jury subpoenas, was stored at the upper building of the FBI office in St. Thomas.

6 During.ﬂue course of the investigation, FBI agents maintained control over the evidence.
It was stored in a conference room in the office. No other materials but the documents
pertinent to the investigation were stored in that room.

7 In 2003, subsequent to the return of the indictment, counsel for defendants was afforded
complete access to seized evidence. Attorney Robert King, the attorney then representing
defendants, reviewed the discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas. He and a team of
approximately four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They
brought with them a copier and made many copies of documents.

8 In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants reviewed the
evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search warrants, By my estimation,
document review team included up to ten people at any one time. The defense team spent
several weeks reviewing the evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one
scanner with which they made numerous copies and images of the evidence.

9 During the 2004 review, the defense team was afforded unfettered access to discovery.
They were permitted to review any box of documents at any time, including evidence
seized during the searches, foreign bank records, documents obtained either consensually
or by grand jury subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled numerous boxes
at one time with many different people reviewing different documents from different

4420752.1

JA -238-



IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

FILED

04/21/2015

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148-1 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 2 of .2oucamor esaure

10

11

CLERK OF THE COURT

boxes.

Immediately following the defense team’s departure from the FBI premises , I had
occasion to obtain documents from boxes that had been reviewed by the defense team. 1
discovered that documents that originally had been placed in one box had been placed in
a different box. I returned the documents to their original boxes. I cannot be certain that
I was able to identify each instance where documents had been misfiled by the defense
team,

During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested to review all
documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that I could not produce all
evidence at once. That evidence comprises approximately 40 boxes. I asked him fora
specific list of documents, or category of documents that he wished to review. He
declined to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the matter.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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Declaration of Speciat Agent Christine Zieba

I, Christine Zieba, make this Declaration in support of the Government’s Response to
Defendants’ Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1

10

I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 1 have served
in that capacity for approximately 5 years.

1 am a case agent who is assigned to the St. Thomas office of the FBI. I have been
assigned to assist the prosecution in United States v. Yusuf, 05-15 (D.V.L).

I have been present at the review of documents conducted by counse] for defendants in
the Yusuf matter.

The FBI office is comprised of two buildings, an upper building and a lower building.
The two building are secured facilities. As part of their duties, the agents and support
staff housed in the lower building possess classified and secret national security -
information.

The evidence obtained in the course of the investigation and prosecution of the
defendants is stored in the lower building. The evidence is secured either in a locked
storage room or in locked file cabinets in the secured work space.

By necessity, the defendants’ document review has taken place at a long conference table
in middle of the central work space. The desks of one agent and analyst are freely
accessible from that central work space . The special agent and the analyst possess and
utilize classified, secret, and grand jury information in their work spaces.

Given that FBI special agents and employees maintain classified, secret, and grand jury
information in the lower building, it is not feasible to provide the defendants unfettered
access to that space.

I memorialized my conversations with defense counsel as well as the events that
transpifed during the document review from November 8, 2008 through January 29,
2009. Those memoranda are attached to this declaration and incorporated as if fully set
forth herein. :

A process was put in place in order to ensure that evidence was not lost, misplaced or
destroyed during the review process by defense counsel. Defense counsel were allowed
to review one box at a time, and were allowed to handle the documents.

Despite this procedure, the defense team misplaced evidence, For example, the defense

team reviewed a box of evidence and scanned documents contained within it. They then
replaced the documents in the box and asked to review a different box of evidence.

4420755.1
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Subsequent to the shelving of the original of the first box, it was discovered that the
defense team had left a document on the scanner and had not returned it to the original
box. The document was taken from one of the defense team and returned to the box from

which it had been taken.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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S8A Christine Zieba was informed by United States
Department of Justice (DOJ) Tax Division Attorneys, Mark Daly and
Lori Hendrickson that defense attorney's, representing defendants,
in the captioned case needed to review specific items of evidence
at some point during the week of November 10, 2008. Attorney
Randall Andreozzi was to contact SA Zieba to set up a schedule,
describe specifically what items of evidence needed to be reviewed,
datei of arrival, length of time needed for review and other travel
details.

By November 6, 2008, SA Zieba had not heard rom the _
attorne_s and.sent an email 1 [ _ Ja:?“

be reviewed, dates of arrival, length of time needed for review and
other travel details. On November 7, 2008, Andreozzi responded via
email to SA Zieba, “We will be arrlving on Monday morning around
9:00 AM.- We plan on spending Monday, Wednesday, Thursday and
Friday at the office. We plan to go through the exhibit boxes with
attorneys and forensic accountants. We anticipate 5-6 people." At
this point SA 2ieba contacted Hendrickson and SA Thomas Petri
(former case agent) to ask for assistance to clarify Andreozzi's
request, Hendrickson and Petri left Andreozzi a message for further
clarification, neither received a return teleéphone call. SA Zieba
also left Andreozzi a message on his voicemail and provided a
cellular telephone number which he could call at anytime. No
facsimile, letter or further details were provided by Andreozzi.

On Saturday, November 08, 2008, at approximately 9:30 AM,
attorney Andreozzi, called SA Zleba's cellular telephone. -
Andreozzi explalned that he had planned. to come to St. Thomas to
review all of the evidence in the captioned case. SA Zieba
explained that she had expected to hear from him to confirm details
and had never received a letter specifying the items that needed to
be reviewed or the exact dates regquested. SA Zieba told Andreozzi
that since the defense had copied all of the evidence in the case
that Andreozzi needed to supply a letter specifying the items that
needed to be reviewed, in order to facilitate a quick review of the
evidence. At this point Andreozzi stated that the defense did not

Investigation on 11/08/2008 at St. Thomas, VI (telephonically)

Filey 315S-SJ-38281 _ Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba
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have copies of all of the evidence and that during the time that
the defense had to copy all of the evidence that they chose not to
copy every item. SA Zieba explained that she was not aware that
this was the procedure the attorneys chose. SA Zieba had been
informed that discovery in the matter was complete and that the
defense had copies of all of the evidence. Both parties discussed
ways to review the documents and to make sure the defense had
everything that they needed. During the conversation Andreozzi
stated that some of his exerts were new. At this point SA Zieba
suggested that Andreozzi postpone his trip until they were able to
figure out which items they believed they needed to copy, in order
to make the trip more productive, since new experts would not be
able to resolve the iessue without having already reviewed the
voluminous evidence copies that the defense already had. SA Zieba
also stated that if Andreozzi could not figure out what he was
missing that he may need to recopy all of the evidence but
Andreozzl said he did not think that was necessary, since he had
copied a majority of the evidence.

SA Zieba -further explained that the FBI would not be able
to accommodate 5-6 people in the FBI JTTF office sgpace in order to
review evidence and that evidence would need to be reviewed item by
item. Andreozzi expressed concern for such a- procedure and
explained that he had been able to review the evidence in a
different manner prior to November 08, 2008. SA Zieba explained
that based on the circumstances provided that an expert and an
attorney would be allowed to review the evidence. Andreozzi again
expressed concern for the proteocol described and explained that he
also needed someone to scan items. SA Zieba agreed that three
pPeople could come into the office space to review and copy

- evidence. Andreozzi explained that he would still bring the group
out but he would stagger their visits at the office. SA Zieba
asked Andreozzi to call Hendrickson and Petri to further discuss
ideas for the most efficient protocol to finish copying the
evidence on November 10, 2008, SA Zieba told Andreozzi that the
procedure may be able to change on November, 12, 2008, since Petri
and Hendrickson would be present. Andreozzi was reminded that,
Tuesday, November 11, 2008, was a federal holiday, Andreozzi
acknowledged that no review on Tuesday was expected. SA Zieba
repeated that although the defense was entitled to all of the
evidence if they chose not to copy it then their time reviewing
items needed to be limited as FBI space was not the proper place to
discuss evidence with his experts. SA.Zieba reminded Andreozzi,
that if he had all of the evidence copied he could consult with
experts openly and in his own space. At this point, Andreozzi
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suggested that all of the evidence could be returned to the
defendant and SA Zieba explained that would not be possible. Both

parties ended the conversation and agreed to meet on Monday,
November 10, 2008, at 9:00 AM in'the FBI JTTF office in Bt. Thomas,

United States Virgin Islands (VI).
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. On Monday, November 10, 2008 at_a--roxlmatell 10:15 AM,
attorney, Randall_?._Andreo ; T - B

T;;' Jose Ismael Marrero

-m

arrlved at the FBI JTTF offlce in St. Thomas

SA Christine Zieba allowed Andreozzi into the office and
asked the other individuals to remain in the lobby area. SA Zieba
reminded Andreozzi that they had agreed that only three people
would be rev;ewing evidence and they could only review one box of
evidence at a time. Andreozzi was upset with the reviewing
procedure déscribed. SA Zieba asked if Andreozzi had called SA
Thomas Petri or DOJ Tax Division attorney Lori Hendrickson to
discuss an alternative procedures as SA Zieba had suggested,
Andreozzi said he had not. SA Zieba further explained that the
schedule would be 9:00 AM until 11:00 AM and 1:00 PM until 5:00 PM.
At this point Andreozzi went to the lobby area and decided since it
was already 10:45AM that his group would just return after lunch at
1:00PM.

At approximately 12:30 PM, Andreozzi called and stated
the he decided that he was not going to return to review evidence,
he did not want to "put SA Zieba on the spot" and that he would
straighten things out on Wednesday when Hendrickson arrived. SA
Zieba explained that there was no problem and he could come to

- review the evidence as described, however, Andreozzi decided not to
return. SA Zieba explained that she would accommodate Andreozzi by
staying later on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, if requested in
advance, in order to account for hours missed on Monday. SA Zieba
further explained that Andreozzi should contact Hendrickson or
Petri to discuss alternative evidence reviewing procedures, so as

Investigation on *© 11/10/2008 & St. Thomas, VI
31585-5J-38281 N/A
File # Date dictated

by SA Christine Zieba
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to not delay his review of the evidence on November 12, 2008. SA
Zieba also explained that since more people would be present on
Monday, more evidence may be accessible and more people may be
allowed in the FBI JTTF office to review evidence. Both parties-
ended the conversation and agreed to meet on Wednesday, November
12, 2008, at 9:00 AM, in the FBI JITF office in St. Thomas, United
States Virgin Islands (VI).
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On Wednesday, November 12, 2008, at approximately 9:00
AM, attormey, Randall P. Andreozzi  Attorne sl e

Jose Ismael -Marrero, [N .

3_-Tracy L. Marien,

a '. Bﬁ;éﬂe-Ber.;me _Benton '..t

M Theresa Lillian Robert Mains,

| [l Ronald Eugene Wise, B

" : ' BREME arrived at the FB F office in St. Thomas,
WI. Andreozzi spoke with DOJ Tax Division attorney Lori
Hendrickson. At approximately 10:20 AM the individuals listed
above began to review evidence. Boxes of evidence were pulled in
random order since the defense attorneys had never provided a
specific list of which items needed to be reviewed. The scanner
that Andreozzi brought was damaged on the airplane and could not
scan' items, Andreozzi asked to put aside certain items to scan
later, this request was accommodated and certain items were put
aside. At approximately 11:45 AM the individuals took a lunch
break, and agreed to return at 1:15 PM.

The individuals returned at approximately 1:30PM, with a
new scanner, At one point, Andreozzi specifically asked for five
items to review, SA Zieba tried to accommodate but since SA Zieba
was the sole person pulling and monitoring evidence. SA Zieba
explained to Andreozzi that unless provided with a list ahead of
time, as requested, random boxes would be pulled. SA Zieba
reminded Andreozzi that he had requested to see all items in
evidence and decided not to provide a list ahead of time,.
Andreozzi also specifically requested that SA Thomas Petri (FBI),
SA Javier Bell (IRS) and Hendrickson not assist in evidenceé review.

Investigation on ‘11/12/2008 a St. Thomas, vl
File # 315N-8J-38281 Date dictated

by SA Christine Zieba
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Several times during the review Andreozzi asked questions
on the way evidence was being provided. SA Zieba explained that
the items were being randomly pulled based on his request to review
all of the evidence and agreements made with Hendrickson. At one
point Andreozzili asked if items have been moved by SA Zieba, SA
Zieba explained that she had moved boxes around. Andreozzi also
asked if SA Zieba could provide him with specific evidence and SA
Zieba explained that if he requested evidence ahead of time that it
could be' reviewed. SA Zieba explained that this was the procedure
that was anticipated until SA Zieba was told on November 8, 2008
that the defense planned to review all of the evidence. On another
-occasion Andreozzi became upset that Petri and Bell were in the
evidence room.

Both parties agreed to meet on Thursday, Novewber 13,

2008, at 9:00 AM, in the FBI JTTF office in S8t. Thomas, United
States Virgin Islands (VI).
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approximately’ 9:25 AM,

On Thursday, November 13, 2008,
attorne ,<Randa11_P Andreozzi“”Attorne

‘;f Jose Ismael Marrero, __';f{
Howa d B Epsteln,

nald '

at

.....

) cooe arrxved at the FBI JTTF office in St Thomas, VI
to review evidence. Andreorzi asked to break at 12:30 PM instead
of 11:00AM and wanted o come back at 2:00PM, this request was
accomodated.

At approximatel< 2:40.PM, Marrero, Bpstein, Theresa

the oIfice to continue reviewing evidence. The
1nd1viduals requested to return at 10:00AM, Friday, November 14,
2008.

Investigation on 11/13/2008 st 8t Thomas, VI
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Date of transcrlption  11/24/2008

On Friday, N0vember 14, 2008, at approxlmatel 10 30 AM,
Jose Ismael e rg _ _ N : A

fere: “psteln'arr'ved at 10:00 AM and waited for the othere £Q
_arrive), Theresa Lillian Robert_Malns,,-n - T e

f::m"f a'- Eug:ne Wise' I .
R TER, j arrived

omas, VI, to review and copy

evidence,

At 11:30 AM the individuals took a lunch break and agreed
to inform what time they were returning since they were not sure
who would be able t come. R dall P Andreozzl, : s ; '

' - Marrero,”Malns'an- 18€
Xy v ithout calling. An addition person was
present to scan however, the scanner was not utilized.

Investigation on 11/14/2008 « St. Thomas, VI
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Date of transcription _ 02/02/2009

On Monday, January 26, R étl---rpximatei_ 9:20 AM,

1 ,. P. 2 |_' eozzi SR .
. Jbae Ismael Marrero{ -

Howard B. Epste 0, ol e R
T . and Ronald Eugene Wise, .

: arr;ved at the FBI JTTF office.in‘st 'Thomas;-

FBI SA Christine Zieba, SA Thomas Petri and IRS SA Javier
Bell were present at various times during the day.

Andreozzi immediately questioned why Petri and Bell were
present. SA Petri responded that both were involved in the
investigation and trial preparation of the case. SA Petri further
stated that himself and SA Bell will likely be associated with the
case through trial.

Andreozzi stated that he was going outside to call the
other attorneys. Andreozzi stated that he was unable to get a hold
of thé other attorneys and eventually began reviewing eyidence.

SA Zieba asked the individuals where they wanted to
start, SA Zieba was told that they left off at box 254.

Individuals left at approximately 12:00 PM and agreed to

return at 1:30 PM. At approximately 1:45 PM, the individuals
returned. '

SA Petri also explained that they could see any piece of
evidence if they asked for it and he also asked if they started
reviewing evidence where they had. left off the last time.

Andreozzi left at approximately 4:00 PM and the other
individuals left at approximately 5:00 PM. The individuals agreed
to meet at 9:00 AM on Tuesday, January 27, 2009,

Tivestigation on 01/26/2009 a St. Thomas, VI
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Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th-~January 29%th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours 1f requested in advance, the individuals never

requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.

JA -252-



IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

FILED

04/21/2015
Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148-2 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 14 of @0vcx o esaure

CLERK OF THE COURT
FD-302 (Rev. 10-6-95)
-1-

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

Dats of transcxiption 02 /02/2009

On Tuesday, January 27, 2009, at approximately 9:15 AM,
attorney, Randall P. Andreozzi_  SEEEEEEhEEEIENEGESIE R

g Jose Ismael Marrero, [

R Howard B; E?stein, ;L';__,.ﬁ,x oL

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in SC. Thomas .

FBI SA Christine Zieba, SA Thomas Petri and IRS SA Javier
Bell were present at various times during the day. The. individuals
continued reviewing evidence.

At one point during their review of documents, Epstein
commented that "this is too much to write down, " he then ignored a
number of the documents and continued to another box. There were
numerous occasions during the review that individuals were observed
going through boxes and "red wells" at a rate they were obviously
not able to identify the documents being reviewed. At one point,
.BA Petri commented to the individuals, specifically Epstein
regarding the teams ability to actually inventory and review,
Epstein simply smiled and continued.

Individuals left at approximately 11:40 PM. At
approximately 1:15 PM, the individuals returned.

Individuals continued reviewing evidence. During their
review SA Zieba was asked what the last box number was and about
how many boxes from the number they were on until the last box
number. At this point Andreozzi stated that they wanted to look at
additional items after they finished. SA Zieba and Petri explained
that they were told Andreozzi was only reviewing boxes of evidence
collected from the searxrch warrants. 8A Zieba then asked Andreozzi
to come up with a list of any additional items that they planned on
reviewing.

Investigation on 01/27/2009 st St. Thomas, VI

File # 3158~8J-38281 Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba:cz

This document contains nelther recommendations nor concluaﬁ of_g%. It is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your agency;
it and its contents are not to be distributed outside your agensy.
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The individuals list of documents that they wanted to
review prior to their departure, included

1.
2.
3.
4

5
6'
7

.

All documents secured from Jordan entities
All documents secured from St. Martin entities.
All documents secured from CPA or tax preparer.
All other documents secured through Grand Jury or
government subpoena.

All documents secured from third parties through
contacts or communications other than subpoena.
CTR and SAR Reports.

Report of analysis of seized computers.

SA Petri again asked if the defense was comfortable that
they reviewed all of the search warrant evidence and reminded them
that he thought they may have missed boxes.

The individuals agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on Wednesday,

January 28,

Agent note:

2009. Individuals left at approximately 5:00 M, =

el
=
- n
o The
iy
b om
i
(S e
-
- )
i o

The individuals were scheduled to review evideﬁbe'ﬁfém

January 26th-January 29th, Agents had agreed to stay aftercnormal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals nev&® v
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine. :
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On Wednesday, January 28, 2009, at approximately 9:15 AM,
attorney, Randall ?,_Andreozg._ B N S .

I

La]'“&oge Ismael_Méfpe;o- i ”-“i: ﬂf;;,[-

v,

'ariiﬁéd at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas .

FBI SA Christine Zieba and IRS SA Javier Bell were
present at various times during the day. : -

After the individuals arrived they spent approximately 30
minutes reviewing lists and going through their computers before
they addressed reviewing evidence and started their review.

In response to their list, CPA/tax preparer evidence was
brought for the defense to review,

The individuals also asked to go back and review '
additional search warrant locations items that they missed, because
they had trouble figuring out where they left off from their lists.

Individuals left at approximately 11:30 PM. At
approximately 1:30 PM, the individuals returned.

The individuals later began reviewing foreign records,
during their review Andreozzi told SA Bell that he needed to copy a
document for the defense immediately and that he was not leaving
without it. SA Zieba and SA Bell explained that they would not be
making any copies for the individuals and reminded them that they
were free to bring a scanner/printer along with them but chose not
to.
At that point Andreozzi demanded that DOJ Tax Division
‘Attorney Lori Hendrickson be called. Agents assisted Andreozzi in

Investigation on 01/28/2009 g¢ St. Thomas, VI

File ¥ 3158-SJ-38281 ' : Date dicuted  N/A

by SA Christine Zieba:cz
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contacting Hendrickson to resolve that issue and the other
questions asked during the day.

During the review Andreozzi asked if the records had been
translated, SA Zieba told Andreozzi that he should speak to DOJ Tax
Attorney Lori Hendrickson 1f he had questions. On another occasion
Andreozzi asked if certain markings on the documents were from the
bank or the government, again SA Zieba asked Andreozzi to direct
all questions to Hendrickson. Andreozzi wanted to get in contact
with Hendrickson, who was on leave and SA Zieba asked that he get
several question together before disturbing Hendrickson.

- Individuals later specifically requested copies of
various documents, including: .

100 page Banking Commission Report
12 page document dated May 14, 2003
Bank records in the name of Sami Al-Yousef

. The individuals agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on Thursday,
January 29, 2009. Epstein left at approximately 4:30 PM and the
other individuals left at approkimately 4:45 PM.

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th-January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.
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on Thursday, January 29,2009 at approximately 10:40 AM,
-t;orqe_{ Randa;l P. A?@r?:;_qf N T i |

AN Jose Ismael Marrero,

ommiidl ] A
. — L

S Howard B. Epstein R R

| and Eﬁne _Wse . .. . ) o

' At approximately 10:15 AM SA Bell arrived at the JTTF
office and stated that he ran into the individuals at the Marriott
Hotel around 9:25 AM and that they told him they would see him
later at the JTTF office. SA Zieba was about to leave the office
after waiting all morning, when the individuals finally arrived at
approximately 10:40 AM. Andreozzi had SA Zieba's contact telephone
number and cellular telephone number. SA Zieba never received any
calls, messages or emails from Andreozzi.

Andreozzi explained that he was to get copies of all of
the foreign bank records. SA Zieba explained that Hendrickson had
said that they could review the documents but the FBI was not
photocopying materials for the individuals. Andreozzi immediately
demanded to speak to Lori Hendrickson, and SA Zieba said that she
was still on leave and could be contacted later after Andreozzi put
all of his questions together. Andreozzi again demanded that
Hendrickson be called or an emergency motion needed to be filed, SA
Zieba explained that since the individuals wanted to continue
reviewing evidence that he could call her later when he had all of
his questions together, rather than repeatedly calling Hendrickson
while on her leave. At this point Andreozzi explained that someone
else (not reviewing evidence) would be drafting an emergency
motion, SA Zieba explained that she misunderstood Andreozzi .about
the urgency of his request since he was staying to review evidence
and then got Andreozzi in contact with Hendrickson. Andreozzi
insisted that the FBI should copy several documents for Andreozzi
and that it would only take a few minutes to copy the documents.
After both parties spoke to Hendrickson, SA Zieba reiterated that

Investigation on 01/29/2009 a« St. Thomas, VI

File # 3158-8J-38281 . Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba:cz
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the individuals could review any of the documents but the FBI would
not be copying the documents for Andreozzi at that time.

The other individuals then explained that they had given
the wrong number that they wanted to start reviewing on Monday and
that they now wanted to go back and review additional search
warrant location evidence. At this point they asked to start with
box 185 and go up to 254, SA Zieba reminded them that the should
look at.where they left off on November 14, 2008. The individuals
went back to their lists and at 11:20 AM they asked to see evidence
that was in boxes 136-142, then asked for 145, SA Zieba repeated
the suggestion that they start where they left off on November 14,
2008 and go up to 254, they repeated that after 136-142 that they
wanted: 146-184,... SA Zieba asked if.they.were:certain.that.those...
were thé numbers that they wanted to review and they confirmed that
those were the numbers they wanted to review. During the time they
were trying to determine a start location the individuals referred
to several different lists. The individuals also brought a list
which they later took back that had several additiomnal numbers on
it. .

At 11:50 AM, SA Zieba asked if they wanted to see the
foreign documents again and they declined.

The individuals left at approximately 12:00 PM. At
approximately 1:30PM __Andreozzi, Marrero, Epstein, Wise and ali
Andreozzi P A T R

Y

I

Tl e Tl R é?rivéé?;t'ﬁhe
FBI JTITF ofllce in St. Thomas. The individuals brought a
scanner/copier.

SA Zieba pulled some evidence for the individuals, as
they requested. The individuals continued reviewing evidence while
setting up the printer. At approximately 2:15 PM, Andreozzi agked

- SBA Zieba to get. the foreign records out to copy. 8A Zieba started
to collect the evidence that was being reviewed, Andreozzi then
insisted that the different evidence be copied and reviewed at the
same time.. SA Zieba explained that they could either copy one set
or review the other set. Andreozzi chose to copy the foreign
records, but demanded to speak to Hendrickson again (who was out of
the office on leave). SA Zieba explained that he could call
Hendrickson any time he wanted, but SA Zieba was not going to
disturb Hendrickson again. Andreozzi also told SA Zieba that she
could use SA Bell's assistance so they could pull multiple items.
During this time SA Bell was in an office on a conference telephone

JA -258-
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call. At 2:25 PM they began photocopying the foreign records. The
items that the individuals were.copying were the same items that
Andreozzi told Hendrickson would take Agents three minutes to copy
for him. The individuals copied and scanned the records until they
departed. .

The individuals scanned/copied the 100 page Banking
Commission Report, 12 page document date May 14, 2003 (these
documents were requested on January 28, 2009 to be copied) and
additional documents. They did not scan/copy the bank records in
the name Sami Al-Yousef.

Epstein depérted at approximately 3:00 PM. The other
individuals departed at approximately 5:40 PM, A R,

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th-January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested in advance to stay later than 5:30 PM.

JA -259-
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN
ISLANDS,

)

)

)

)

Plaintif¥s, )

v. )

)

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMMED YUSUF, ) CRIM NO. 2005-0015
WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED, )
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED, )
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, ISAM )
MOHAMAD YOUSUF, and UNITED )
CORPORATION, dba Plaza Extra )
Supermarkets, )
)
)
)

Defendants.

ORDER

THIS MATTER comes Bcfore the Court on Defendants’ Motion for Specific Relief due
to the Government’s Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material
Evidence. A hearing was held on such motion on July 9, 2009.

In raids on the six Defendants® various businesses and homes in October of 2001, the
Government seized Defendants® business, financial and personal records, Since that date, the
Government has retained hundreds of boxes of such records for its use in this case. The
Govemment also obtained additional documents from third-party sources.

The Government organized the voluminous documents and recorded their various sources
by boxes numbered and bar coded to correspond with the various locations from which the
Government had removed the documents. Rather than identify or log each specific document

seized, the Government prepared an index with a general description of the documents contained

"EXHIBIT

F
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in each box.

Since 2001, the Government has returned some of the boxes of seized document. The
remaining documents have been retained in the FBI offices in St. Thomas, Virgin Islands.

The Government used 2 bates numbering system for certain documents within certain
boxes. The bates numbering contained prefixes that were indexed to the numbers and bar codes
on the boxes. Many of Defendants’ documents were not given bates number. However, all of
the documents the Government intends to use at trial do have bates numbers,

ﬁéé@bvcmmenlzdeVerrprbﬁﬂcﬂme"Défe‘ﬂﬂants with a detailed inventory of the specific
documents seized, The Government has.only permiitted:the Defendanits litnited review of the
evidence under supervision which often involves:oversiglitiby-Government agents.involved in
investigating this case,

Several years ago the defense team prepared a general inventory of the groupings of
documents and scanned pertinent documents. During their November 2008 document review,
the defense team realized that the documents were not in the same order that they had been
initially. The Government had reorganized and rearranged the Defendants’ documents by
removing some documents from the initial original boxes and placing them in different boxes to
suit the Government’s needs.

The new system of organization is not apparent to the Defendants, The Govemment has
not provided Defendants with any means of tracing the unnumbered documents to the locations
from which they were seized within their businesses and homes.

Without a complete set of documents for their unlimited review, the defense team cannot

determine the extent of harm. if any, that the Government’s rcarrangement of the documents has

JA -264-
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caused. Accordingly, it is hereby
ORDERED that the Government serve upon the defense team one duplicate set of
documents seized from the Defendants, as well as all discoverable documents seized from
third parties; that the duplicate set correspond to the present document arrangement; and
that Defendants have 60 days from the receipt of such documents to supplement their
Motion for Specific Relief duc to the Government’s Destruction of the Integrity,

Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence.

ENTER:

DATE: July 16, 2009 Is/
RAYMOND L. FINCH

SENIOR DISTRICT JUDGE

JA -265-
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROXX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,
Plaintiff,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,
MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,
ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and -
UNITED CORPORATION
d/b/a Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-015

GOVERNMENT’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The Government respectfully requests that the Court reconsider its order dated

July 16, 2009 (docket no. 1152, hereafter, the “July 16 Order”) granting Defendant’s

motion for specific relief. Specifically, the Government asks (i) that Defendants be

ordered to provide an index or other substantiation of the documents claimed to be

missing and that the Government only be ordered to reproduce those documents; or (i) in

the alternative, that Defendants bear the reproduction costs to be incurred under the

July 16 Order. In support of this motion, the Government states the following:

1. The Government has begun the process of complying with this Court’s

order to provide a duplicate set of all seized documents and all discoverable documents

JA -266-
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obtained in the investigation from third parties. After coordinating with the
Govemment’s contracting staff, who in turn have consulted outside vendors, the
Government estimates that the cost to duplicate, image, and produce the documents will
be no less than $125,000. The Government has been advised that the cost could be
substantially higher, depending on the number of documents that are of non-standard
size. The timeframe for completion of this effort is expected to be approximately three to
four months. The Government believes that the burden imposed by the July 16 Order
meets the standard of clear error or manifest injustice under LRCi 7.3(3).

2. The Government respectfully submits that the July 16 Order was premised
in part upon certain incorrect findings. First, the Government has not afforded
Defendants only limited review of the discovery in this case. [July 16 Order, p. 2, 3rd
full ] To the contrary, during 2003 and 2004, the Government made full discovery in
this case. [Declaration of Thomas L. Petri, 1§ 7-9 (docket no. 1148-2, hereafter, “Petri
Declaration™)] Second, the Government has not failed to provide an index to Defendants.
[July 16 Order, p. 2, 3rd full ] In 2604, the Govemnment provided an index of
approximately 26,000 documents, which previously had been produced to Defendants in
electronic form and identified by the Government as particularly relevant to the
investigation. [Exhibit A, Letter dated April 20, 2004 to Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire]

3. In late 2008 and early 2009, defense counsel requested additional review
of the discovery in this case, and the Government complied with the request, as it had on
certain other occasions between 2004 and late 2008. Although the Government believed
that Defendants had all of the relevant documents in their possession, given that defense

counsel had brought reproduction equipment with them to the initial document review

2 45127491
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[Petri Declaration, 1Y 7-8), the Government made the discovery available, subject to
reasonable notice in light of the logistics of providing such voluminous discovery.
During the review in late 2008 and early 2009, FBI agents specifically told defense
counsel that they could review any document, as long as they made a request.
[Declaration of Christine Zieba (docket no. 1148-3, hereafter, “Zieba Declaration™),
Attachments, pp. 9, 12 (memoranda dated November 20, 20608 and February 2, 2009))

4. During defense counsel’s review in late 2008 and early 2009, counsel
claimed to not be able to locate documents described in an index that they previously
created. Defendants have no-t alleged the loss or destruction of any particular document.
Nor have defense counsel supplied the Court or the Government with any evidence of
bad faith. In fact, defense counsel themselves may be partially responsible for the
reorganization of the documents, based on observations of the FBI agents during the
initial review in 2003 and 2004. [Petri Declaration, §§ 9-10; Zieba Declaration,  10]

S. The Government has repeatedly asked Defendants to describe what
documents they are unable to locate or to provide a copy of its index (or excerpt thereof)
to the Government so that any documents requested by Defendants can be retrieved.
Defendants have refused to do so and have declined to cooperate in any effort to identify
the documents that they claim are missing. [Government’s Response to Defendant’s
Motion for Specific Relief, p. 3 (docket no. 1067)] The Government submits that it
should only have to reproduce those documents that Defendants cannot identify.

6. Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 does not require the Government to perform a
defendant’s copying or to incur a defendant’s copying costs. Rule 16(a)(1)(E)

(Government must “permit the defendant to inspect and to copy or photograph” the

3 4512749.1
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categories of documents subject to the rule). Although the Court has the authority to
order copies, such authority is limited by a rule of reasonableness. United States v
Freedman, 688 F.2d 1364, 1366-67 (11th Cir. 1982) (Rule 16 discovery “should be read
and applied with a limitation of reasonableness . . . [wjhere the defendant has in no way
been prohibited from inspecting the particular documents and cannot demonstrate an
unduc hardship from this availability, he should not be permitted to transfer the cost of
his discovery request to the government especially where, as in the instant case, the
defendants are not indigent”; noting Fed. R. Crim. P. 2, which provides that the rules
should be interpreted “to eliminate unjustifiable expense and delay™).

7. If the Court does not limit the reproduction of documents to those that
Defendants claim to be missing, the Government asks that Defendants bear the
reproduction costs to be incurred by the July 16 Order, particularly in light of their rcfusal

to cooperate in identifying the documents claimed to be missing. There is no indication

that Defendants are unable to bear such costs.

4 4512749.1
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WHEREFORE, the Government respectfully requests that the Court reconsider

the July 16 Order. Specifically, the Government asks (i) that Defendants be ordered to

provide an index or other substantiation of the documents claimed to be missing and that

the Government only be ordered to reproduce such documents; or (i7) in the altemative,

that Defendants bear the reproduction costs to be incurred by the July 16 order.

Dated: August 14, 2009

Respectiully submitted,

PAUL A. MURPHY
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/Kevin C. Lombardi

ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S. Attomey
MARK F. DALY

LORI A. HENDRICKSON
KEVIN C. LOMBARDI
Trial Attomeys

U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 514-5150

Fax: (202) 616-1786

5 4512749.1
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kevin C, Lombardi, certify that on August 14, 2009 the foregoing
GOVERNMENT’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF was served upon counsel of record
by filing the same through the ECF system.

s/ Kevin C. Lombardi
Kevin C. Lombardi

6 4512749.)
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U.S, Department of Justice
United States Attorney

District of the Virgin Islands

April 20, 2004

VIA FACSIMILE

Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire

Richardson, Patrick, Westhrook & Brickman, LLC
1037 Check Dawley Blvd., Suite 200

Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464

Re:  Dnited States V. Fathi Y et al o, 2003-147
Dear Counsel:

This letter responds to your request for an index of the matcvials on the CD-ROMs, labeled
Disocovery Discs 1-12, made available by the govermment on October 17, 2003 and March 24,
2004. The discs currently contain an index providing for cach document (1) the bates remge; (2)
the date; and (3) the type of record. You have inquired whether the government has a detailed
index providing a description of each document. » ' -

In connection with this case, the government prepared a description of each of the
documents in the database (“the index™). Tn order to expedite the disposition of this case, the
government will make the index available to your client urider the following conditions.! First,
your clicat may use neither the index nor any information;from the index in any way in any
proceeding in which the government js a party, such as at-+rial and during any pre-trial matter,
including but not limited to using the index as evidence or an exhibit, or displaying or describing
the index to a witness, the judge, or jury for any purpose. Second, production of the index in no
way constitutes a waiver of the work product doctrine with respect to the index or any other

" materials, and your client may not rely on the production of this index as a basis upon which to
claim that a waiver has occurred or to seek additional materjals or information from the
govermment. ‘Third, upon request of the govermeat, your client will retwn all or a portion of the
index, including any copies of the index. Fourth, the index may niot be shared with amy other third
party wuless the third party agrees in writing to all terms in this Jetter, which writing is provided to
the govemment before the materials arc shared. Fifth, the descriptions on the index do not in any
way bind the government with respect to the description of those items in any proceeding in this
matter, and the index may not be used in any way to challenge the government’s description of mm

'/ As used in this leﬁer, “your client” includes the individuals and entities you represent as
woll as counsel, investigators and any other agents of your client or counsel,
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government's description of ap item in any

If tbese conditions are acceptable, please sign below and retumn a signed copy. Please call
me with any questions at 202/353-7517.

AGREED TO:

Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire
Counsel for Waleed Homed and
United Corporation

Yours sincerely,

DAVID M. NISSMAN
UNITED STATES A'I‘TORNEY

WMXL
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AGREED TO:

st Dated: 57/%7
Robert Kin ire

Attorney for Fathi Yusuf Mohammad Yusuf

Dated: 9/5%‘/
!/

?Z; é é/z é.,_-f(@;.;f) Dated: IS//;/°Y
erek M. Hodge, £

Attorney for Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

g J’?::m; /,,,zw,@ Datet:_&, A/, f -

nard B. Francis, Jr., Esquire - ‘
Attorney for Waheed Mohammed Hamed
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IN THE DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,
Plaintiffs,
VS,
FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, CRIMINAL NO. 2005-15F/B
aka Wally Hamed
WAHEED MOHOMMAD HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed n
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, “rn =
aka Mike Yusuf - - Iy
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF R
ISAM YUSUF, and I o sy
UNITED CORPORATION, R
dba Plaza Extra, e
Defendants. =oow QO
[ e}
oo
PLEA AGREEMENT
l.
INTRODUCTION

This agreement is entered into by and between defendant United
Corporation, d/b/a Plaza Extra (hereinafter “United”), Thomas Alkon, Esquire,
and Warren B. Cole, Esquire, Attomeys for United; Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf,
Waleed Mohammad Hamed, Waheed Mochammad Hamed, Maher Fathi Yusuf,
Nejeh Fathi Yusuf, and the Department of Justice, Tax Division, and the United

States Attorney for the District of the Virgin Islands (collectively referred to as the

*Government”).

The parties agree to the following terms:
EXHIBIT

9
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A United will plead guilty to Count Sixty of the Third Superseding
Indictment, which charges willfully making and subscribing a 2001 U.S.
Corporation Income Tax Retum (Form 1120S), in violation of Title 33, Virgin
Islands Code, Section 1525(2).

B. At the time that United enters its plea to the above-referenced
count, the Govemment wi!l dismiss all counts of the Indictment with prejudice
against FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF, aka Fathi Yusuf, WALEED
MOHAMMAD HAMED, aka Wally Hamed, WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED, aka
willie Hamed, MAHER FATHI YUSUF, aka Mike Yusuf, ISAM MOHAMAD
YOUSUF, aka Sam Yousuf, and NEJEH FATHI YUSUF (all collectively referred
to as “individual defendarits™) , including the temporary restraining order and
forfeiture allegations. The Government agrees not to file any additional criminal
charges against United or any of the individual defendants for conduct arising out
of the facts alleged in the Indictment. In accordance with paragraph VI. below,
the Department of Justice of the Virgin Islands alsc agrees that it will file no
criminal charges against United or any of the individual defendants for any
conduct arising out of the facts alleged in the Indictment.

The Government agrees te dismiss with prejudice all remaining. counts of
the Indictment against United, including the temporary restraining order and

forfeiture allegations, at the time of sentencing.

S208044.1
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IL.
NATURE OF THE OFFENSE

United agrees to plead -guﬂty to Count Sixty of the Indictment, which
charges a violation of Title 33, Virgin Islands Code, Section 1525(2). United
acknowledges that the offense to which it is pleading has the following elements:

A. Elements

1. United aided, assisted, procured, counseled, advised, or
caused the preparation and presentation of a retum;

2. The return was fraudulent or false as to a material matter;
and

3. United acted willfully.

B. Elements Understood and Admitted.

United, through a representative empowered to accept this plea by virtue
of a duly enacted resolution of its Board of Directors, has fully discussed the facts
of this case with defense counseél. United committed each of the elements of the
crime charged in Count Sixty of the Indictment and admits that there is a factual
basis for a plea of guiity to the charge.

C. Factual Basis.

The parties agree that the following facts are true and undisputed:

On or about September 18, 2002, United willfully aided, assisted,
procured, counseled, advised, or caused the preparation and presentation of a
materially false corporate income tax return on Form 1120S for the year 2001

and filed such return with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Intermnal Revenue (VIBIR).

5228044_1
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Specifically, United reported gross. receipts or sales on line 1c as $69,579.412,
knowing that the true amount was approximately $79,305,880.
M.
PENALTIES

A. United acknowledges that the maximum penalties for violation of
Count Sixty are the following:

1. A maximum fine of $5,000;

2. The Govemment may seek costs of prosecution, including
but not limited to 1) costs incurred to preduce discovery in the investigation and
prosecution of this matter; 2) costs incurred by the United States Marshal's
Service to monitor the operations of Defendant United pursuant to the Temporary
Restraining Order, currently estimated at approximately $1.5 million; and 3) costs
related to witness appearance and travel fees in the investigation and
prosecution of this matter. United reserves the right to object to the imposition of
the aforementioned costs and to contest the amounts claimed by the
Govemment.

3. Restitution in an amount that represents any and all unpaid
gross receipts taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual income taxes owing
to the VIBIR for the Indictment years 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001.
Said restitution is to be determined by the Court in accordance with the figures
and ranges set forth in Exhibit 1, accepting as proven those figures stipulated by
the parties. For those numbers still in dispute, the Court will determine the
appropriate amount within the ranges proposed by the parties in Exhibit 1,

following briefing, evidentiary presentation, and argument. In making its

5328044.4
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determination, the Court may consider all relevant and material evidence
presented by the parties without regard to the Federal Rules of Evidence, so long
as such evidence is disclosed in advance to the opposing party. Prior to
submitting restitution amounts for the Court’s consideration in preparation for
sentencing, the parties agree to negotiate in good-faith to arrive at a mutually
-acceptable amount.

4. A term of probation of one year, with conditions as set forth
in paragraph VIII.E. United understands that failure to comply with any of the
conditions of probation may result in the imposition of further penaities.

B. In addition to the statutory penalties for violation of Title 33, Virgin
Islands Code, Section 1625(2), United shall pay a substantial monetary penalty
within the range set forth in paragraph VI!I.B., as determined by the Court
following briefing and argument by the parties.

IV.
WAIVER OF TRIAL RIGHTS

United understands that this guilty plea waives all of the following rights:

A To plead not guiity and to require the Government to prove the
elements of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt;

B. To a speedy and public trial by jury;

C To assistance of counsel at all stages of trial;

D.  To confront and cross-examine witnesses against United; and

E To present evidence and to have witnesses testify on United's

behalf.

5228044.1
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V.

UNITED'S REPRESENTATION THAT GUILTY PLEA IS KNOWING
AND VOLUNTARY

United represents that:

A. United has had a full opportunity to discuss all the facts and
circumstances of this case with its counsel and has a clear understanding of the
charges and the consequences of pleading guilty,

B. No.one has made any promises or offered any rewards in return for
United's guilty plea, other than those contained in this Plea Agreement, in
Exhibit 2, which contains the letter of understanding dated February 12, 2010
(this plea agreement controls in the event of any conflicts), or ctherwise
disclosed to the Court;

C. No one has threatened United to induce this guilty plea; and

D. United is pleading guilty because in truth and in fact United is guilty
and for no other reason.

Vi,

AGREEMENT LIMITED TO UNITED STATES ATTORNEY'S OFFICE FOR THE
DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN iSLANDS AND TAX DIVISION

This Plea Agreement is between United Corporation, the Individual
Defendants, and the Govemment. This Agreement is not intended to bind any
other federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities
except to the extent specifically expressed herein. The Govemment will bring

this Plea Agreement to the attention of other authorities if requested by United.

23R40
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VII.
PLEA AGREEMENT SUBJECT TO COURT APPROVAL

Pursuant to Rule 11{c){1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,
the parties acknowledge and agree that United should be ordered to pay the fine,
restitution, and monetary penalties contained within this Plea Agreement and
should be sentenced to a term of probation of one year.

If the Court does not adopt the agreement of the parties pursuant to Rule
11(c)(1)(C), both United and the Govemment reserve the right to withdraw from
this Plea Agreement.

VIIL
PARTIES' SENTENCING RECOMMENDATIONS

A. Fine. The parties agree that the maximum statutory fine of $5,000
should be imposed.

B. Monetary Penalty: The parties propose that the monetary penalty
to be imposed pursuant to paragraph Il1.B. above be imposed in an amount
between $250,000 to $5,715,748.

C. Costs of Prosecution: The Government proposes that costs of
prosecution be imposed as discussed above in paragraph lll.A.2.  United
contests said number and the categories of costs to be awarded.

D. Restitution. The parties propose the restitution amounts and
ranges as set forth in Exhibit 1, as referenced in paragraph lil.A.3. above.

E. Terms of Probation

1. United agrees to a term of probation of one year and agrees

to be monitored by an independent third party certified public accounting firm to

52300441
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assure its compliance with the tax laws of the VIBIR. United agrees to cooperate
with the independent third party in carrying out such party’s obligations under this
agreement. The selection of a certified public accounting firm as the
independent third party will be expressly approved by the Government prior to
the beginning of the term of probation. If the parties cannot reach agreement on
a third party, the independent third party will be selected by the Court.

2. The independent third party shall make quarterly reports to
the Government, the Court, and United of United's financial condition, results of
business operations, tax filings, tax payments, and accounting for the disposition
of all funds received.

3 United shall submit to:

(a)  areasonable number of regular or unannounced
examinations of its books and records at appropriate business premises by the
independent third party; and

(b) a periodic review of financial statements and tax
returns of United.

4, United shall be required to notify the court or independent
third party immediately upon learning of (a) any material adverse change in its
business or financial condition or prospects, or (b) the commencement of any
bankruptcy proceeding, major civil litigation, criminal prosecution, or
administrative proceeding against United, or any investigation or formal inquiry

by governmental authorities regarding United’s financial operations.

$228044.1
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5. United shall make periodic payments, as specified by the
Court, in the following priority: (a) restitution; (b) fine; and (c) substantial
monetary penalty. After sentencing, the Government agrees to release all lis
pendens, restraining orders, liens, or other encumbrances or property except to
the extent necessary to-assure valid security for the payments of all amounts
referenced above. United shall develop and submit to the Court an effective.
compliance and ethics program consistent with §8B2.1 (Effective Compliance
and Ethics Program) of the United States Sentencing Guidelines. United shall
include in its submission a schedule for implementation of the compliance and
ethics program.

6. Upon approval by the Court of the ethics program referred to
above, United shall notify its owners, shareholders, directors, officers, and
employees of its criminal behavior and its programs referred to above. Such
notice shall be in a form prescribed by the Court.

7. United shall make petiodic reports to the Government and to
the Court at intervals and in a form specified by the Court, regarding the
organization's progress in implementing the ethics program referred to above.
Among other things, such reports shalil disclose any criminal prosecution, clvil
litigation, or administrative proceeding commenced against United, or any
investigation or formal inquiry by governmental authorities concerning United's

financial operations of which United learned since its last report.

52280441
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IX.
UNITED WAIVES APPEAL AND COLLATERAL ATTACK

In exchange for the Government's concessions in this Plea Agreement,
United waives, to the full extent of the law, any right to appeal or collaterally
attack the conviction and sentence, including any restitution order, except in the
following circumstances: (i) the sentence exceeded the maximum statutory
penalty; or (ii} the sentence violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States
Constitution.

X.

FURTHER CRIMES OR BREACH OF THE AGREEMENT WILL PERMIT THE
GOVERNMENT TO RECOMMEND A HIGHER SENTENCE OR TO SET ASIDE
THE PLEA

This Plea Agreement is based on the understanding that United will
commit no additional criminal conduct before sentencing. If United engages in
additional criminal conduct between the time of execution of this agreement and
the time of sentencing, or breaches any of the terms of any agreement with the
Government, the Government will not be bound by the recommendations in this
Plea Agreement and may recommend any lawful sentence.

XI.

COOPERATION WITH INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE AND VIRGIN ISLANDS
BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE

During the pendency of this matter, United, its shareholders, the individual
defendants in this case, and certain related entities and individuals identified in
various pleadings or motions in this case, upon the specific advice of their

counsel in this matter, did not file tax returns and certain other reporting

10
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documents to the United States or the United States Virgin Islands (USVI) on
Fifth Amendment grounds. During the pendency of this matter, those same
individuals and entities endeavored to work cooperatively with the U.S. Marshals
Service and the USVI governments to pay over as deposits their best estimate of
taxes owed on those retums.

Prior to sentencing, United agrees to cooperate with the Government and
the VIBIR in filing complete and accurate corporate income tax returns and gross
receipts returns for years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008 and in
paying in full the amounts due thereupon. United agrees to comply with all
current tax reporting and payment obligations between the execution of this
agreement and sentencing. In addition, prior to the sentencing hearing in this
matter, United's shareholders (FY 32.5%, FY 32.5%, 8Y 7%, ZY 7%, YY 7%,
MY 7%, NY 7%), and the individual defendants shall file the outstanding returns
and reporting documents and shall make full payments of the amounts due
thereupon. United acknowledges that a special condition of probation will require
that all corporate returns be filed, and all amounts due and owing under this
agreement and all taxes due and owing for tax years 2002 through 2008 must be
paid prior to the termination of the period of probation.

The Government agrees that no foreign bank account-related charges or
discretionary penalties shali be applied with respect to United or any of the
individual defendants so long as such reporting and regulatory compliance is

made for each of the years 1998 through 2008 prior to sentencing.

11
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XII.
ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Plea Agreement and Exhibit 2 embody the entire agreement between
the parties.

Upon the acceptance of the plea of guilty to Count Sixty by United in
accordance with this agreement, the Govemment agrees to promptly move the
Court-for an Order dismissing the restraining orders against the individual
defendants, except to the extent necessary to assure valid security for the
payments of all amounts referenced in paragraph ViI1., and shall move for entry
of an order removing of record all notices of lis pendens or other encumbrances’
filed in connection with this case against all properties owned in whole or in part
by any persons other than United. The parties agree to meet and confer to
determine a schedule to remove pending lis pendens, liens, and other
restrictions.

XIll.
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT MUST BE IN WRITING

No modification of the Plea Agreement shall be effective unless in writing
signed by the Government, United, the individual deféndants, and United's
shareholders.

XV,
UNITED AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND AGREEMENT

By signing this Plea Agreement, United’s representative certifies that he or
she has been given lawful authority to enter into this Plea Agreement. United
further certifies that its counsel has discussed the terms of this Plea Agreement

12
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with appropriate officer and directors of United and that United fully understands

its meanings and effect.

The Govemment agrees to the terms set forth in this Piea Agreement.

RONALD SHARPE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

JOHN A. DICICCO |
ACTING ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, TAX DIVISION

\

Mark F. BYly
Lori A. Hendrickson
Kevin C. Lombardi
Trial Attorneys

Dated: 74!26[“{)

The defendant United Corporation agrees to the terms set forth in this Plea

Agreement.

" Thomas Alken, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant United Corporation

Dated: __Z) 26//0

Dated: . 2‘/2 lev/ ©

y /ro
Dated: Z-/ 2'@ﬁ

Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant United Corporation

Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant's unindicted shareholders

13
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Dated: 2 ~26 7€

Dated: 7-/2-6 //9

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

c. fthe.

Dated: __ % 2e//o

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attomey for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

oatec: 2/

Randall P, Andreozz: Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

bhol Mfise

Dated:z/ﬂ//"

Dated: 2/2(/1"

Dated: _ & 2‘/ e

HAMD247914

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

éamela Colon Esq

Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

e

ity C. Smock, Esq. _
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

John K. Dema, Esq.

Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

14
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EXHIBIT I - RESTITUTION NUMBERS FOR TAX LOSS

Description Government Defendant
Gross Receipts Tax 1996 $324,149.55 $0.00
Gross Receipts Tax 1997 $234,506.94 $0.00
Gross Receipts Tax 1998 $619,496.89 $272,251.00
Gross Receipts Tax 1999 $558,830.86 $603,633.00
Gross Receipts Tax 2000 $642,057.28 $642,057.00
Gross Receipts Tax 2001 $478,832.33 $386,081.00
TOTAL GROSS RECEIPTS TAXES $2,857,873.85 $1,504,022.00
Corporate Income Tax - 1996 $2,214,307.41 $0.00
Corporate Income Tax - 1997 $2,360,868.66 $427,011.00
Corporate Income Tax - 1998 $3,993,535.34 $488,323.00
TOTAL CORPORATE INCOME TAX $8,568,711.41 $915,334.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - FY 32.5% $1,046,359.70 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - FY 32.5% $1,046,359.70 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - SY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - ZY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - YY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - MY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 1999 - NY 7% $225,369.78 $0.00
TOTAL INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX - 1999 $3,219,568.31 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2000 - FY 32.5% $1,458,473.19 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2000 - FY 32.5% $1,458,473.19 $0.00
Individual In¢ome Tax - 2000 - SY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2000 - ZY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2000 - YY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00
Individual Incorne Tax - 2000 - MY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2000 - NY 7% $314,132.69 $0.00
TOTAL INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX - 2000 $4,487,609.81 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2001 - FY 32.5% $1,545,993.69 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2001 - FY 32.5% $1,545,993.69 $0.00
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Individual Income Tax - 2001 - SY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2001 - ZY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00
Individua! Income Tax - 2001 - YY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00
Individual Incomie Tax - 2001 - MY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00
Individual Income Tax - 2001 - NY 7% $332,983.26 $0.00
TOTAL INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX - 2001 $4,756,903.67 $0.00
TOTAL ALL TAXES $23,890,667.04 $2,819,356.00
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Fyh:ést

February 12,2010

Lori A. Hendrickson, Esq.

US DQJ/Tax Division/N.Criminal Section
601 D. Street NW, Room 7814
Washington, DC 20004-2904

Re:  United States v. Fathi Yusuf, Crim. No. 05-0015
Dear Ms. Hendrickson:

We writé to memorialize the process and parameters that will culminate in a formal
plea agreement in this case. The parties have agreed to the following terms:

¢ Defendant United Corporation (d.b.a. Plaza Extra) agrees to plead guilty to Count
Sixty, filing-a faise 2001 Form 11208, in violation of Title 33, Virgin 1slands Code,
Section 1525(2);

e The government agrees to dismiss the pending charges against the individual
defendants immediately after defendant United Corporation’s guilty plea has been
entéréd in court by an authorized representative of defendant United Corporation,
according to the terms of a signed plea agreement. The Government agrees not to
prosecute United Corporation or any other individual or entity for any other crimes
arising out of the conduct alleged in the Third Superseding Indictment;

¢ The govemment agrees to disiniss the remaining pending charges against United at
the sentencing hearing;

e The parties agree to meet with each other and with representatives of the Virgin
1slands Bureau of Internal Revenue (VIBIR) to try to reach agreerent for restitution
numbers: for unpaid gross receipts taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual
income taxes for the. Indictment years 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001.
The numbers for which the parties are able to agree will be set forth in the plea
agreement;

e If the parties are unable to reach agreement on any of the tax loss numbers for the
Indictment years, they will set forth-their own tax loss numbers for each year and
for each particular tax, in a format identical to the aftached chart. The parties agree
that the final détermination of the restitution amount -for the unpaid gross receipts.
taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual income taxes for the Indictment years
1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001, will be made by Judge Finch after the

HAMD247917
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Letter of Agreement

February 12,2010

Page 2 of 5
parties submit sentencing memoranda and present testimonial and decumentary
evidence at a hearing. The parties agree that Judge Finch will determine a liability
based on the range of numbers asserted by the parties in the plea agreement.

e The determination of Judge Finch of the restitution by United Corporation shall be
conclusive of all faxes due and owing to the Governiment of the Virgin Islands. for
years 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001 with respect to all taxes of the
shareholders of United Corporation, both indicted and non-indicted, and employees
of United, including Waheed Hamed and Waleed Hamed, due on or for or on
account’ of income earned by United Corporation during said years and upon
payment all such tax liabilities shall be deemed satisfied in full.

¢ Defendant United Corporation agrees to a term of probation of ene year, and agrees
o be monitored by an independent third party certified public accounting firm
during the term of probation to assure its compliance with the tax laws of the
VIBIR. The selection of the independent third party will be expressly approved by
the government prior to the beginning of the term of probation. If the parties cannot
reach agreement on a third party, the independent third party will be selected by the
Court;

¢ The government agrees not to prosecute United Corporation or individual
defendants, or assert any civil or criminial accuracy related or reporting perialties, in
years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008, provided that the individual
defendants tender documentary proof that they have filed tax returns and paid tax
due as set forth on those returns and as reviewed and accepted by the VIBIR;

¢ United, its shareholders, and the individual defendants referenced in the
Indictment agres to cooperate with VIBIR to file full and complete tax returns for
all post indictment years through present and to make full payment on any
amounts due thereon. The Government agrees that no interest, penalties, or time
and interest sensitive penalties should be imposed on the post-indictment returns
50 long as said returns are filed in accordance with this agreement. To the extent
tax deposits already submitted exceed the amount owed on the post indictment
returns as filed, such deposits should be reallocated to other tax periods or
refunded to the particular tax payer. The VIBIR reserves the right to review the
returns to be filed hereunder to determine whether they are accurate as filed.

¢ No foreign bank account-related charges or discretionary penalties shall be
applied with respect to any of the individuals and entities so long as such
reporting and regulatory compliance is made for the subject post-indictment
years. (United States Department of Justice, and not VIBIR, has authorization
over this provision).

¢ The parties agree that United will pay a $5,000 fine and that the Government may

seek a substantial monetary penalty. The parties will negotiate in_good faith to
determine the character of this penalty and will set forth a defined range from

HAMD247918




Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1248 Filed: 02/26/10 Page 19 of 20

Leler of Agreement

February 12, 2010

Page 3 of 5
which Judge Finch will make z final ruling. The parties agree that fhe
Goveromen! way also seek reimbursement from United for the actual costs of
proscculion, which will be set forth in the plea apreement. United rescrves the
right to coptest the above mentioned penaltios and prosccution coges.

» Defandant United Corpomtion, the individual defendanls, and the shateholders of
United Cotporation, all agres to file onginal individual income tax returns (or
comecting amended retums, if appropriate) for the years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005,
2006, 2007, snd 2008, and provide any documentation of information: requested by.
the VIBIR in order for the VIBIR to make lheir own independcot review and
assessment of the accuracy of such returns,  Defendant United Covporation, the
ncivichial defendants, and the shareholders of United Corpomtion all agree to take
these actions prior to the sentencing heariog;

The United States government and the United States Virgin lslands government
pgree fo the tenms sct fortk in this Letier of Agreemert.

RONALD SHARPE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

JOHN A. DICICCO
ACTING ASSITANT ATTORNEY GENERL
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Mark F. Daly
Lot A. Hendrickson

Directot

LT

Vitgin islands Depamhnnt of Jnstice
Office of the Attorney General

The defendant United Corporation agrees to the terms set farth in this Letter of
Agreeroent.

HAMD247919
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Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

HAMD247920

v/ us/t?

ttorey for Dcfendant United Corporation

Attomey for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

2/20/1° |
Qi Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant United Corporation
z /Z ‘/0 7"4/
MAHER FATHI YUSUF
President, Defendant United Corporation
/26 Jip f}»-‘a I
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq
ey

2Pl
%9’6/’0

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq-
Attomey for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Derck M. Hodge, Esq.
Attomney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

M%

z /z’i/a

Pamela Colon, Esqg.

Attomey for Defendant Waheed Mohargmed Hamed

2 { 2—-‘/_’[5

My‘c Smock, Esq
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

M\ h. Nrre £ PR
Aohn K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf
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U.S. Department of Justice

United States Attorney
District of the Virgin Islands

Ron de Lugo Federal Building & United States Courthouse

5500 Veterans Drive, Suite 260
Charlotte Amalie
St. Thomas, Virgin Islands 00802-6424
Voice: (340)774-5757

Fax: (340)776-3474

September 19, 2003

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

OWNERS AND OPERATORS OF PLAZA EXTRA INDICTED ON
FEDERAL CHARGES OF DEFRAUDING THE VIRGIN ISLANDS BY
CONCEALING AND ILLEGALLY EXPORTING MILLIONS IN
REVENUE

United States Attorney David Marshall Nissman and Special Agents in Charge, Patrick
Daley of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and Brian Wimpling of the Internal Revenue
Service, announced today that the federal Grand Jury returned a 76 Count Indictment naming as
defendants Fathi Yusuf, 62, the owner of Plaza Extra; his son, Maher Yusuf, 38, who participated
in the operation of the stores; two managers, brothers Waleed Hamed, 41, and Waheed Hamed,
38; Isam Yousuf, 51, a relative; and United Corporation, which does business as Plaza Extra
supermarkets. The indictment charges federal and territorial offenses, including conspiracy, mail
fraud, money laundering, structuring financial transactions, causing false individual and
corporate income tax returns, tax evasion and operating a criminal enterprise. The indictment
also indicates the government’s intent to forfeit the contents of bank accounts, real estate, and the
assets of United Corporation.

According to the indictment, between 1996 and 2001, Plaza Extra registered sales
exceeding $300 million. But the owners of the stores failed to report $60 million in sales on tax

returns filed with the Virgin Islands. According to the indictment, Fathi Yusuf, Waleed Hamed,



and Waheed Hamed directed employees to withhold cash sales from deposit into the company’s
bank accounts, thereby causing these cash sales to be omitted from Plaza Extra’s gross receipts
tax returns and corporate income tax returns which were filed with the Virgin Islands Bureau of
Internal Revenue.

To disguise the unreported cash as legitimate appearing financial instruments, Fathi
Yusuf, Waheed Hamed, and Maher Yusuf directed store employees to purchase bank checks with
the unreported cash. The checks were purchased in names other than those of the conspirators, at
different bank branches typically on the same day, and in amounts designed to evade federal
record-keeping and reporting requirements. To further disguise the unreported cash, Waleed
Hamed and Maher Yusuf also used the unreported currency to cash customers’ checks.

According to the indictment, Fathi Yusuf and Waleed Hamed then compiled those and
other checks purchased with unreported cash and transported the checks to Amman, Jordan,
where they were deposited into accounts they controlled at the Cairo Amman Bank. The
indictment alleges that on at least 14 different occasions between 1998 and 2000, Fathi Yusuf
and Waleed Hamed transported hundreds of checks and sent wire transfers totaling millions of
dollars to their accounts in Jordan. The indictment further alleges that Fathi Yusuf and Waleed
Hamed smuggled millions of dollars of unreported cash from the Virgin Islands to the island of
St. Martin, in the French West Indies, where the cash was deposited into bank accounts that they
and Isam Y ousuf controlled.

Finally, the indictment charges that Fathi Yusuf, Waleed Hamed, and Waheed Hamed
filed false individual income tax returns that failed to report as income the cash and other funds

that they diverted from Plaza Extra and transferred to bank accounts they controlled and used for
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their personal benefit, including the construction of expensive residences in the Virgin Islands.

U.S. Attorney Nissman stated: “At a time when essential services to the people of the
Virgin Islands are in jeopardy, it is critical that those who have deprived this community of
millions of dollars in tax revenue be brought to justice and that their ill-gotten gains be
recovered.”

Moreover, U.S. Attorney Nissman stated that this case also addresses the problem of
money illegally leaving the Territory and the costs to the community associated with capital
flight. “The federal law enforcement agencies are working diligently to shut down the flow of
money illegally leaving the Virgin Islands and the United States. When citizens discover this
type of activity, they should notify the FBI at 777-3363. An informed and involved citizenry is
the best protection against criminal activity.”

This is the first indictment for violations of federal tax laws in the District of the Virgin
Islands and was the result of a joint investigation by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the
Internal Revenue Service. This included the FBI’s Legal Attache Office in Bridgetown,
Barbados, and elsewhere as well as the cooperation of numerous international partners to include
the Netherlands Antilles and French West Indian governments. Nissman indicated that the case
was also a product of close cooperation and coordination between his office and two other
components of the Department of Justice, the Tax and Criminal Divisions. Lawyers from both
Divisions have been instrumental in bringing this indictment to fruition. He emphasized that an
indictment is merely a charging document and that, as in all criminal cases, the defendants are

presumed innocent unless and until convicted in a court of law.



Penalties:

Conspiracy to commit mail fraud and to structure financial transactions carries a
maximum penalty of five years imprisonment and a fine of $250,000.

Conspiracy to launder money carries a maximum penalty of 20 years imprisonment and a
fine of twice the value of the property involved in the laundering scheme.

Mail fraud, as charged, carries a maximum penalty of five years imprisonment and a fine
of $250,000.

Money laundering carries a maximum penalty of 20 years imprisonment and a fine of
twice the value of the property involving in the laundering offense.

The federal charge of causing false tax returns carries a maximum penalty of three years
imprisonment and a fine of $100,000.

Structuring financial transactions as charged carries a maximum penalty of ten years
imprisonment and a fine of $500,000.

The Virgin Islands charge of conspiracy to evade taxes carries a maximum penalty of five
years imprisonment and a fine of $10,000.

The Virgin Islands charge of causing false tax returns carries a maximum penalty of three
years imprisonment and a fine of $5000.

The Virgin Islands charge of conspiracy to engage in a criminal enterprise and engaging
in a criminal enterprise each carry a maximum penalty of 15 years imprisonment and a fine of

three times the value of the property gained from the scheme.



Defendant and Charge Chart

Fathi Yusuf
Count | Statute Description Penalty
1 18 USC § 371 Conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to | 5 years
structure financial transactions $250,000
2 18 USC § Conspiracy to launder money 20 years
1956(h) 2x value of property

involved in scheme

3-43 | 19 USC § 1341 Mail fraud 5 years
$250,000
44,45, | 18 USC § Money laundering 20 years

49,50 | 1956(a)2)(B)(i)

2x value of property
involved

55 33 VIC § 1522 Conspiracy to evade taxes 5 years
$10,000
56-60 | 33 VIC § 1525(2) | Causing false tax returns 3 years
$5000
61-65 [ 26 USC § Causing false tax returns 3 years
7206(2) $100,000
75 14 VIC 605(a) Conducting a criminal enterprise 15 years
3x value of property
gained
76 14 VIC 605(d) Conspiracy to conduct a criminal 15 years
enterprise 3x value of property

gained




Waleed Hamed

Count | Statute Description Penalty
1 18 USC § 371 Conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to | 5 years
structure financial transactions $250,000
2 18 USC § Conspiracy to launder money 20 years
1956(h) 2x value of property
involved in scheme
3-43 [ 19 USC § 1341 Mail fraud 5 years
$250,000
46,47, | 18 USC § Money laundering 20 years
48, 51, | 1956(a)(2)(B)(1) 2x value of property
52 involved
55 33 VIC § 1522 Conspiracy to evade taxes 5 years
$10,000
56-60 | 33 VIC § 1525(2) | Causing false tax returns 3 years
$5000
66-70 | 26 USC § Causing false tax returns 3 years
7206(2) $100,000
75 14 VIC 605(a) Conducting a criminal enterprise 15 years
3x value of property
gained
76 14 VIC 605(d) Conspiracy to conduct a criminal 15 years
enterprise 3x value of property

gained




Waheed Hamed

Count | Statute Description Penalty
1 18 USC § 371 Conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to | 5 years
structure financial transactions $250,000
2 18 USC § Conspiracy to launder money 20 years
1956(h) 2x value of property
involved in scheme
3-43 [ 19 USC § 1341 Mail fraud 5 years
$250,000
53 31 USC Structuring financial transactions 10 years
5324(a)(3) and $500,000
(d)(Q2)
55 33 VIC § 1522 Conspiracy to evade taxes 5 years
$10,000
56-60 | 33 VIC § 1525(2) | Causing false tax returns 3 years
$5000
71-74 | 26 USC § Causing false tax returns 3 years
7206(2) $100,000
75 14 VIC 605(a) Conducting a criminal enterprise 15 years
3x value of property
gained
76 14 VIC 605(d) Conspiracy to conduct a criminal 15 years

enterprise

3x value of property
gained




Mabher Yusuf

Count | Statute Description Penalty
1 18 USC § 371 Conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to | 5 years

structure financial transactions $250,000

2 18 USC § Conspiracy to launder money 20 years

1956(h) 2x value of property
involved in scheme

54 31 USC Structuring financial transactions 10 years

5324(a)(3) and $500,000

(d)(2)




Isam Yousuf

Count | Statute Description Penalty
2 18 USC § Conspiracy to launder money 20 years
1956(h) 2x value of property

involved in scheme




United Corporation

Count | Statute Description Penalty
1 18 USC § 371 Conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to | 5 years
structure financial transactions $250,000
2 18 USC § Conspiracy to launder money 20 years
1956(h) 2x value of property
involved in scheme
3-43 19 USC § 1341 Mail fraud 5 years
$250,000
55 33 VIC § 1522 Conspiracy to evade taxes 5 years
$10,000
56-60 33 VIC § Causing false tax returns 3 years
1525(2) $5000
75 14 VIC 605(a) Conducting a criminal enterprise 15 years
3x value of property
gained
76 14 VIC 605(d) Conspiracy to conduct a criminal 15 years

enterprise

3x value of property
gained




List ividual ic
Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf,
aka Fathi Yusuf

Waleed Mohammad Hamed,
aka Wally Hamed

Waheed Mohammed Hamed,
ask Willie Hamed,

Maher Fathi Yusuf,
aka Mike Yusuf

Isam Mohamad Yousuf,
aka Sam Yousuf

United Corporation,
dba Plaza Extra



IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,
Plaintiff,
\Z

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSLJF,
aka Sam Yousuf, and

UNITED CORPORATION,
dba Plaza Extra,

Defendants.
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18 US.C. §371

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD
STRUCTURE FINANCIAL
TRANSACTIONS

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)
CONSPIRACY TO LAUNDER MONEY

18 U.S.C. § 1341
MAIL FRAUD

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(B)(i)
MONEY LAUNDERING

26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
CAUSING FALSE TAX RETURNS

31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3)
STRUCTURING FINANCIAL
TRANSACTIONS

33 V.IC. § 1522
CONSPIRACY TO EVADE TAXES

33 V.IC. §1525(2)
CAUSING FALSE TAX RETURNS

14 V.IC. § 605(a)
ENGAGING IN A CRIMINAL ENTERPRISE

14 V.L.C. § 605(d)
CONSPIRACY TO ENGAGE IN A
CRIMINAL ENTERPRISE

18U.S.C. §982& 21 US.C. § 853
ASSET FORFEITURE

14 V.I.C. § 606
ASSET FORFEITURE
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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

A, Defendants

1. Defendant UNITED CORPORATION (hereinafter UNITED) was a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the United States Virgin Islands (hereinafter “Virgin
Islands”) that did business as Plaza Extra (hereinafter “Plaza Extra”). ln the mid-1980s, Plaza
Extra opened its first store, which was located in St. Croix. In 1993, Plaza Extra opened a
second store, which was located in St. Thomas. In 2000, Plaza Extra opened a third store, which
also was located in St. Croix. Plaza Extra sold groceries and other merchandise, which was
purchased from wholesalers and other suppliers located in states, territories and countries outside
of the Virgin Islands. From 1996 through 2001, Plaza Extra's sales totaled over $300 million.

2. Defendant FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF (hereinafter FATHI YUSUF) is
a citizen of the United States and a resident of the Virgin Islands. FATHI YUSUF was an owner,
director and officer of defendant UNITED and participated in the operation of Plaza Extra.
FATHI YUSUF’s duties and responsibilities included management of the business and conduct
of the affairs of the corporation. FATHI YUSUF acted with the intent to benefit both himself
and UNITED in executing his duties and responsibilities.

3. Defendant WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED (hereinafter WALEED HAMED)
is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the Virgin Islands. WALEED HAMED was
employed by UNITED as the manager of a Plaza Extra supermarket in St. Croix. WALEED
HAMED's duties and responsibilities included the overall operation and financial management

of the store. WALEED HAMED acted with the intent to benefit both himself and UNITED in

.-




executing his duties and responsibilities.

4. Defendant WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED (hereinafter WAHEED HAMED)
is a citizen of the United States, a resident of the Virgin Islands, and the brother of WALEED
HAMED. WAHEED HAMED was employed by UNITED as the manager of the Plaza Extra
supermarket in St. Thomas. WAHEED HAMED's duties and responsibilities included the
overall operation and financial management of the store. WAHEED HAMED acted with the
intent to benefit both himself and UNITED in executing his duties and responsibilities.

5. Defendant MAHER FATHI YUSUF (hereinafter MAHER YUSUF) is a citizen of
the United States, a resident of the Virgin Islands, and the son of defendant FATHI YUSUF.
MAHER YUSUF was an ov;rr:er, director and officer of UNITED and participated in the
operation of Plaza Extra. MAHER YUSUF’s duties and responsibilities included management
of the business and conduct of the affairs of the corporation. MAHER YUSUF acted with the
intent to benefit both himself and UNITED in executing his duties and responsibilities.

6. Defendant ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF (hereinafter ISAM YOUSUF) is a
citizen of the United States, a resident of St. Maarten, Netherlands Antilles, and the nephew of
defendant FATHI YUSUF. ISAM YOUSUF owns and operates Island Appliances, a company
located in St. Maarten that sells appliances and furniture.

B. Virgin Islands Tax Revenue Collection

7. The Virgin Islands Code requires Virgin Islands corporations to report their gross
receipts to the territorial government and pay a tax of four percent (4% ) on such gross receipts.
Gross receipts tax returns must be completed under oath subject to penalties for perjury and filed
monthly with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue. Gross receipis tax revenue
collected from corporations in this manner is deposited into the general fund of the treasury for
use by the territory. Defendant UNITED was required to file monthly gross receipts tax returns
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and to pay taxes on its monthly gross sales receipts.

8. United States law provides that the income-tax laws in force in the United States
apply to the Virgin Islands, and that the proceeds of such taxes must be paid to the Virgin
Islands.

C. Scheme to Defraud

9. Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
feast in or about September, 2002, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED and UNITED defrauded the Virgin Islands of money in the form of tax revenue,
specifically territorial gross receipts taxes as well as corporate income taxes, by failing to report
at least $60 million in Plaza.E_xtra sales on gross receipts tax returns and corporate income tax
returns.

10.  Plaza Extra customers paid for their purchases with cash, checks, credit cards,
food stamps, and other forms of payment. After Plaza Extra’s sales receipts were collected each
day, the funds typically were transferred to a room in the store often referred to as the “cash
room,” to which only certain individuals, including the defendants, were permitted access. In the
cash room, Plaza Extra employees counted the sales receipts and prepared bank deposit slips for
the sales receipts.

11.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and
UNITED directed and caused Plaza Extra employees to withhold from deposit substantial
amounts of cash received from sales, typically bills in denominations of $100, $50 and $20.
Instead of being deposited into the bank accounts with other sales receipts, this cash was
delivered to one of the defendants or placed in a designated safe in the cash room. From 1996
through 2001, tens of millions of dollars in cash was withheld from deposit in this manner and as
such, was not reported as gross receipts on tax retumns filed by UNITED.
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12.  Inthis way, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED and UNITED caused the ﬁlin_g of dozens of false monthly gross receipts tax returns,
which failed to report the cash withheld from deposit as gross receipts, thereby depriving the
Virgin Islands of substantial tax revenue. Defendant UNITED's controller prepared and signed
Plaza Extra’s monthly gross receipts tax returns, declaring under oath that the returns were true
and complete, knowing full well that the retumns were false in that they failed to report substantial
sales receipts.

13,  Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and
UNITED also caused the filing of false annual corporate income tax returns of UNITED that
failed to report the cash witl-ll:eld from deposit as sales, thereby depriving the Virgin Islands of
substantial tax revenue. Defendant FATHI YUSUF signed UNITED's returns, declaring under
oath that the returns were true and complete, knowing full well that the returns were false in that
they failed to report substantial sales receipts.

D. Concealment of the Fraud Proceeds

14.  The defendants engaged in various efforts to disguise and conceal the illegal
scheme and its proceeds. For example, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WAHEED HAMED and
MAHER YUSUF directed and caused Plaza Extra employees and others to purchase cashier’s
checks, traveler’s checks, and money orders with unreported cash, typically from different bank
branches and made payable to individuals and entities other than the defendants, in order to
disguise the cash as legitimate-appearing financial instruments.

15.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WAHEED HAMED and MAHER YUSUF also
purchased and caused others to purchase checks and money orders, and engaged in and caused
others to engage in various cash transactions with banks, in amounts designed to evade the legal
requirements that banks keep records and file reports regarding cash transactions with the U.S.
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Treasury Department.

16.  Defendants WALEED HAMED and MAHER YUSUF caused unreported
currency to be used to cash the checks of Plaza Extra customers and others in order to disguise
the cash as legitimate-appearing financial instruments.

17.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED caused the checks and
money orders described above to be deposited into foreign bank accounts they controlled. For
example, defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED compiled the various checks and
money orders obtained with unreported cash and caused them to be transported from the Virgin
Islands to the Kingdom of Jordan (“Jordan"), where the funds were deposited into accounts they
controlled at Cairo Amman B-ank, in Amman, Jordan.

18.  Defendants WALEED HAMED and WAHEED HAMED used and caused to be
used UNITED corporate checks to purchase cashiers’ checks made payable to Plaza Extra
suppliers and other entities to create the false appearance that the checks were payments to Plaza
Extra suppliers. In fact, these cashier’s checks were transported to Amman, Jordan and deposited
into accounts at Cairo Amman Bank controlled by defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED
HAMED.

19.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED smuggled and caused to be
smuggled millions of dollars of unreported cash from the Virgin Islands to the island of St.
Martin, in the French West Indies, where it was deposited into accounts at Banque Francaise
Commerciale that they and defendant ISAM YOUSUF controlied.

20. To conceal the transfer of unreported cash to foreign bank accounts, defendants
FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED failed to file financial reports with the United States, as
required by law. Specifically, FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED failed to file required
reports with the U.S. Treasury Department that would have revealed: (a) their transfer of
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monetary instruments and cash 1n amounts greater than $10,000 from the Virgin Islands to
foreign countries, including Jordan and St. Martin; and (b) their control over bank accounts in
foreign countries, including Jordan and St. Martin.
E. Filing False Personal Income Tax Returns

21.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED and WAHEED HAMED also
filed and caused to be filed false personal income tax returns that failed to report and pay tax on
the cash and other funds that they diverted from Plaza Extra and transferred to bank accounts
they controlled and used for their own personal benefit, including for the construction of lavish
and expensive personal residences in the Virgin Islands. FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED
and WAHEED HAMED sién;d their personal returns, declaring under oath that the returns were

true and complete, knowing full well that the retums were false in that they failed to report

substantial income from funds diverted from Plaza Extra.



COUNT 1
(Conspiracy)

22.  The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 20 above are realleged as if set forth in full here.
23.  Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
least in or about September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants
FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
MAHER YUSUF
and UNITED
knowingly conspired and agreed with each other and with others known and unknown to the
grand jury to: .-

a. Knowingly and willfully devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice
to defraud and to obtain money and property, specifically money belonging to the Virgin Islands
in the form of territorial gross receipts tax revenue, by means of material false and fraudulent
pretenses, representations and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations and
promises were false when made, and for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute and
in furtherance of the scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by
means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, did knowingly
cause to be sent and moved by the United States Postal Service, Gross Receipts Monthly Tax
Retumns, Forms 720 V.1, addressed to the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue; in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; and

b. Knowingly and for the purpose of evading the reporting and record-
keeping requirements of Title 31, United States Code, Section 5313(a) and 5325, and the

regulations promulgated thereunder, structure, cause to be structured, assist in the structuring,

and attempt to structure and assist in the attempted structuring of financial transactions with one
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or more domestic financial institutions involving: (i) the issuance and sale of bank checks, bank
drafts, cashier’s checks, and money orders for $3,000 or more in currency; and (ii) transactions
with financial institutions involving more than $10,000 of currency; in violation of Title 31,
United States Code, Section 5324(a)(3) and (d}2).

A. Purpose and Object of the Conspiracy -

24 Tt was the purpose and object of the conspiracy for the defendants to unlawfully
enrich themselves and the corporations they controlled by engaging in a fraudulent scheme to
obtain and conceal money belonging to the Virgin Islands in the form of gross receipts tax
revenue.

B. Overt Acts

25.  In furtherance of the conspiracy and 1o effect the objects thereof, in the District of
the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED,
WAHEED HAMED, MAHER YUSUF, UNITED, and others known and unknown to the grand
j@ committed and caused to be committed the following overt acts, among others:

a Beginning in or about January 1996 and continuing through in or about
September 2002, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED and WAHEED HAMED
directed and caused Plaza Extra employees to withhold from deposit substantial amounts of cash
received from sales, typicaily bills in denominations of $100, $50 and $20;

b. Beginning in or about January 1996 and continuing through in or about
September 2002, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and
UNITED's controller caused the mailing and filing of false monthly gross receipts tax retums for

defendant UNITED;



c. Beginning at least as early as in or about July 1996 and continuing at least
through in or about January 2000, defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED HAMED on
numerous occasions transported and caused to be transported tens of thousands of dollars in

unreported cash, typically bills in denominations of $100, $50 and $20, from the Virgin Islands

to St. Martin;

d. Beginning at least as early as in or about July 1996 and continuing at least
through in or about January 2000, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED and ISAM
Y OUSUF on numerous occasions deposited unreported cash into accounts they controlled at
banks in St. Martin;

e Begiﬁn;ng on or about July 7, 1998 and continuing through on or about
October 15, 1998, on numerous occasions defendant WAHEED HAMED purchased and caused
others to purchase cashier’s checks and traveler’s checks with unreported cash;

f On or about July 22, 1998, defendant WALEED HAMED transported and
caused to be transported approximately 23 checks totaling $79,205.83 from the U.S. Virgin

Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an

account he controlled;

g On or about August 4, 1998, defendant WALEED HAMED transported
and caused to be transported approximately 60 checks totaling $237,526.64 from the U.S. Virgin

Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an

account he controlled;

h. Beginning on or about August 7, 1998 and continuing through on or about
October 8, 1998, on numerous occasions, defendant MAHER YUSUF purchased and caused

others to purchase cashier’s checks and bank checks with unreported cash;
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1. On or about August 21, 1998, defendants WALEED HAMED and
MAHER YUSUF transported and caused to be transported approximately 54 checks totaling
$105,225.97 from the U.S. Virgin Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the
funds were deposited into an account controlled by defendant WALEED HAMED,;

J- On or about September 1, 1998, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported
and caused to be transported approximately 265 checks totaling $135,880.42 from the U.S.
Virgin Islands to Cairo Amman Baﬁk in Amman, Jordan, where the proceeds were deposited into
an account he controlled;

k. On or about September 11, 1998, defendant WALEED HAMED
transported and caused to be ;ransported approximately 138 checks totaling $171,042.53 from
the U.S. Virgin Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were
deposited into an account he controlled;

1. On or about September 25, 1998, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported
and caused to be transported approximately 3 checks totaling $179,468.50, including two bank
checks totaling $150,000 payable to a third party whose endorsement was forged, from the U.S.
Virgin Islands to Cairo Amman Bank in Amman, Jordan, where the proceeds were deposited into
an account he controlled;

m. On or about October 23, 1998, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported and
caused to be transported approximately 42 checks totaling $106,092.74 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an
account he controlled;

n. On or about December 5, 1998, defendant WALEED HAMED transported
and caused to be trahsported approximately 85 checks totaling $161,846.15 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairc Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an
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account he controlled;

o. On or about January 6, 1999, defendant WALEED HAMED transported
and caused to be transported approximately 57 checks totaling $232,788.69 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an
account he controlled,

P- On or about February 18, 1999, defendant WALEED HAMED transported
and caused to be transported approximately 80 checks totaling $152,425.89 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an
account he controlled;

g Onorabout April 15, 1999, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported and
caused to be transported approximately 6 checks totaling $66,660.39 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bank in Amman, Jordan, where the proceeds were deposited into an
account he controlled;

. Onorabout May 25, 1999, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported and
caused to be transported approximately 8 checks totaling $439,502.62, including a bank check in
the amount of $179,273.64 payable to and endorsed by a third party who had been deceased for
over two years, from the U.S. Virgin Islands to Cairo Amman Bank in Amman, Jordan, where
the proceeds were deposited into an account controlled by defendant FATHI YUSUF;

S. On or about August 5, 1999, defendant WALEED HAMED transported
and caused to be transported approximately 98 checks totaling $384,145.40 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bark, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an

account he controlled; and
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t. On or about April 10, 2000, defendant WALEED HAMED transported
and caused to be transported approximately 7 checks totaling $164,576.54 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into an
account he controlled.

All in violation of Title 18, Sections 371 and 3551 et segq.
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COUNT 2
(Money Laundering Conspiracy)

26.  The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 12 and 14 through 20 above are realleged
as if set forth in full here.
27.  Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
least in or about October 2001, in the District of the Virgin Is]aqu and elsewhere, defendants
FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
MAHER YUSUF
ISAM YOUSUF
and UNITED
knowingly conspired and agr;ed with each other and with others known and unknown to the
grand jury to:

a. Conduct and atternpt to conduct financial transactions, affecting interstate
and foreign commerce, knowing that the property involved in the financial transactions
represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, which in fact involved the proceeds
of specified unlawful activity, that is, mail fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1341, knowing that the financial transactions were designed in whole and in part to
conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity; in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1}B)Xi);
and

b. Transport and transfer, and attempt to transport and transfer, monetary
instruments and funds from a place in the United States, to and through a place outside the
United States, knowing that the monetary instruments and funds involved in the transportation
and transfers represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, and knowing that such
transportation and transfers were designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the
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nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity,

that is, mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1956(2)(2)B)(i).

All in violation of Title 18, Section 1956(h) and 3551 et segq.
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(0] =43
(Mail Fraud)

28. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 12 and 14 through 20 are realleged as if
fully set forth here,

29.  Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
least in or about September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants

FATHI YUSUF
WAHEED HAMED
WALEED HAMED
and UNITED

and others known and unknown to the grand jury, knowingly and willfully devised and intended
to devise a scheme and artlﬁc; to defraud and to obtain money and property, specifically money
belonging to the Virgin Islands in the form of territorial gross receipts tax revenue, by means of
material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, knowing that the pretenses,
representations and promises were false when made, as more particularly described in paragraphs
9 through 12 and 14 through 20 of this Indictment.

30. On or about the dates specified in each count below, the defendants, for the
purpose of executing and attempting to execute and in furthera.nce.of the aforesaid scheme and
artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of material false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, did knowingly cause to be sent and moved by
the United States Postal Service, at the East End United States Post Office in St. Thomas, Gross
Receipts Monthly Tax Returns, Forms 720 V.1, addressed to the Virgin Islands Bureau of

Intemal Revenue, St. Thomas, Virgin Islands, 00802:
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Count Approximate Date Sales Month
of Mailing

3 09/29/1998 August 1998
4 10/30/1998 September 1998
5 11/27/1998 October 1998
6 12/30/1998 November 1998
7 01/29/1999 December 1998
8 03/01/1999 January 1999
9 03/30/1999 February 1999
10 04/30/1999 March 1999
11 06/01/1999 April 1999
12 06/30/1999 May 1999

13 07/30/1999 June 1999

14 08/30/1999 July 1999

15 09/30/1999 August 1999
16 10/29/1999 September 1999
17 11/30/1999 October 1999
18 12/29/1999 November 1999
19 01/29/2000 December 1999
20 02/29/2000 January 2000
21 03/30/2000 February 2000
22 05/01/2000 March 2000
23 05/31/2000 April 2000
24 06/30/2000 May 2000

25 07/31/2000 June 2000

26 08/30/2000 July 2000

27 10/02/2000 August 2000

28 10/30/2000 September 2000
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Count Approximate Date Sales Month
of Mailing

29 11/30/2000 October 2000
30 01/02/2001 November 2000
31 01/30/2001 December 2000
32 02/28/2001 January 2001
33 03/28/2001 February 2001
34 04/30/2001 March 2001
35 05/30/2001 April 2001
36 07/02/2001 May 2001
37 07/30/2001 June 2001
38 08/28/2001 July 2001
39 10/01/2001 August 2001
40 11/02/2001 September 2001
41 11/30/2001 October 2001
42 01/02/2002 November 2001
43 01/30/2002 December 2001

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 2, and 3551 et seq.
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COUNTS 44 -52
(Money Laundering)

31.  The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 12 and 14 through 20 are realleged as if
fully set forth here.

32. On or about the dates listed in each count below, in the District of the Virgin
Islands and elsewhere, the defendants listed below, transported and transferred, and attempted to
transport and transfer, monetary instruments and funds in amounts described below from a place
in the United States, specifically the United States Virgins Islands, to and through a place outside
the United States, specifically Amman, Jordan, knowing that the monetary instruments and funds
involved in the transportation and transfer represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful
activity and knowing that such transportation and transfer was designed in whole and in part to
conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of a
specified unlawful activity, that is, mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1341:

Count Date Amount Defendant
44 09/25/98 $179,468.50 FATHI YUSUF
45 10/23/98 $106,092.74 FATHI YUSUF
46 12/05/98 $161,846.15 WALEED HAMED
47 01/06/99 $232,788.69 WALEED HAMED
48 02/18/99 $152,425.89 WALEED HAMED
49 04/15/99 $66,660.39 FATHI YUSUF
50 05/25/99 $439,502.62 FATHI YUSUF
51 08/05/99 $384,145.40 WALEED HAMED
52 04/10/00 $164,576.54 WALEED HAMED

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)}(2¥BX1), 2, 3551 ef seq.
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(Structuring Financial Transactions)

33.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

34.  Beginning on or about July 7, 1998 and continuing through on or about October
15, 1998, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant

WAHEED HAMED

knowingly structured and assisted in structuring, and attempted to structure and assist in
structuring, the following transaction with the domestic financial institutions listed below for the
purpose of evading the record-keeping and reporting requirements of Title 31, United States
Code, Section 5325, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for transactions involving the
jssuance and sale of a bank check, bank draft, and cashier’s check for $3,000 or more in
currency, by purchasing the following cashier’s checks and bank checks with currency; and did
so as part of a pattern of illegal activity involving more than $100,000 in a 12-month period, and
while violating another law of the United States, to wit: Title 18, United States Code, Sections

1341 and 1956(h), and Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2):

Date Amount Financial Institution
07/07/98 $2,975.00 Scotiabank
07/23/98 $2,943.00 Scotiabank
07/23/98 $2,900.00 Scotiabank
07/24/98 $2,750.00 Scotiabank
07/24/98 $2,900.00 Scotiabank
07/27/98 $2,501.56 Scotiabank
07/27/98 $2,891.61 Scotiabank
07/27/98 $2,598.98 Scotiabank
07/28/98 $2,541.01 Banco Popular
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Date Amount Financial Institution
07/28/98 $2,781.81 Banco Popular
07/29/98 $2,768.68 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,898.15 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,819.92 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,967.75 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,644.38 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,777.50 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,998.98 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,981.11 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,801.98 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,784.40 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,998.48 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,862.48 Scotiabank
08/11/98 $2,862.48 Scotiabank
08/12/98 $2,784.40 Scotiabank
08/20/98 $2,950.00 Scotiabank
08/20/98 $2,777.41 Scotiabank
08/20/98 $2,991.70 Scotiabank
08/20/98 $2,698.90 Scotiabank

- 09/11/98 $2,858.50 First Bank
09/11/98 $2,879.98 Scotiabank
09/11/98 $2,990.05 Scotiabank
09/11/98 $2,995.48 Scotiabank
10/15/98 $2,805.00 Scotiabank
10/15/98 $2,999.10 Scotiabank
10/15/98 §2,899.60 Scotiabank
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All in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 5324(a)(3) and (d)(2), and Title

18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.

-22.-




COUNT 54
(Structuring Financial Transactions)

35.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

36.  From on or about August 6, 1998 through on or about October 8, 1998, in the
District of the Virgin Islands, defendant

MAHER YUSUF

knowingly structured and assisted in structuring, and attempted to structure and assist in
structuring, the following transaction with the domestic financial institutions listed below for the
purpose of evading the record-keeping and reporting requirements of Title 31, United States
Code, Section 5325, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for transactions involving the
jssuance and sale of a bank check, bank draft, and cashier’s check for $3,000 or more in
currency, by purchasing the following cashier’s checks and bank checks with currency; and did
so as part of a pattem of illegal activity involving more than $100,000 in a 12-month period, and

while violating another law of the United States, to wit: Title 18, United States Code, Section

1956(h):

Date Amount Financial Institution
08/06/98 $2,400.00 Bank of St. Croix
08/06/98 $2,500.00 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,990.00 Bank of St. Croix
08/10/98 $2,891.00 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,794.00 Banco Popular
08/10/98 $2,661.00 Banco Popular
(08/10/98 $2,665.00 Scotiabank
08/11/98 $2,480.00 Scotiabank
08/12/98 $2,123.00 Scotiabank
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o

18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 ef seq.

Date Amount Financial Institution
08/19/98 $2,700.00 Scotiabank
08/27/98 $2,500.00 Banco Popular
08/27/98 $2,500.00 Scotiabank
09/04/98 $2,500.00 Scotiabank
09/04/98 $2,500.00 Banco Popular
10/05/98 $2,847.00 Banco Popular
10/05/98 $2,900.00 Scotiabank
10/077/98 $2,800.00 Bank of St. Croix
10/07/98 $2,800.00 Scotiabank
10/08/98 $2,920.00 Scotiabank

All in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 5324(a)(3) and (d)(2), and Title
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COUNT S5
{Conspiracy to Evade Taxes)

37.  The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 21 above are realleged as if set forth in full here.

38.  Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
least in or about September _2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants

FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
and UNITED

knowingly and intentionally combined, conspired, confederated and agreed with each other and
with others known and unknown to the grand jury to willfully evade and defeat taxes imposed by
the Virgin Islands, to wit grbgs receipts taxes and corporate and individual income taxes.
A. Purpose and Object of the Conspiracy

39. It was the purpose and object of the conspiracy for the defendants to unlawfully
enrich themselves and the corporations they controlled by depriving the Virgin Islands of gross
receipts tax revenue and corporate and individual income tax revenue.
B. Overt Acts

40. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects thereof, in the District of
the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED,
WAHEED HAMED, UNITED, and others known and unknown to the grand jury committed and
caused to be committed the overt acts described in paragraphs 25(a) through (t), which are
realleged as if set forth in full here, in addition to the following overt acts, among others:

a. Between on or about March 4, 1997 and Scpten;lbcr 11, 2002, defendant

WALEED HAMED caused the filing of false annual individual income tax returns, Forms 1040,

in his name for the tax years 1996 through 2001;
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b. Between on or about April 11, 1997 and September 30, 2002, defendant
FATHI YUSUF caused the filing of false annual individual income tax returns, Forms 1040, in
his name for the tax years 1996 throngh 2001;

c. Between on or about August 14, 1997 and September 18, 2002, defendants
FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED caused the filing of
false annual corporate income tax returns, Forms 1120 and 11208, on behaif of defendant
UNITED, for the tax years 1996 through 2001; and

d. Between on or about April 17, 1998 and April 17, 2001, defendant
WAHEED HAMED caused the filing of false annual individual income tax returns, Forms 1040,
in his name for the tax years I997 through 2000.

All in violation of Title 33, Virgin Islands Code, Section 1522,
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41.  On or about the dates listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendants

the individuals all being residents of the United States Virgin Islands and the corporation, being
organized under the laws of the United States Virgin Islands, did willfully cause and aid and
assist in, and procure, counsel, and advise, the preparation and presentation to the Virgin Islands
Bureau of Internal Revenue, of defendant UNITED’s Corporate Income Tax Retumns, Forms
1120 and 11208, for the calendar years listed below, which were false and fraudulent as to a
material matter, in that the returns reported sales in the amount listed below, whereas defendants

then and there knew and believed that UNITED made substantial sales in addition to the amount

(Causing False Tax Returns)

FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED

and UNITED

reported.
Count Date Tax Year Form Reported Sales
56 07/11/98 1997 1120 $36,823,771
57 04/07/99 1998 1120 $40,706,669
58 07/05/00 1999 11208 $47,004,399
59 08/30/01 2000 11208 $51,746,933
60 09/18/02 2001 11208 $69,579,412

All in violation of Title 33, Virgin Islands Code, Section 1525(2).
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COUNTS 6165
(Causing False Tax Returns)

42, On or about the dates listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant
FATHI YUSUF
a resident of the Virgin Islands, did willfully cause and aid and assist in, and procure, counsel,
and advise, the preparation and presentation to the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue, of
Individual Income Tax Returns, Forms 1040, for the calendar years listed below, which were
false and fraudulent as to a material matter, in that the returns reported total income in the
amount listed below, whereas he then and there knew and believed that his true total income was

substantially more than the amount reported.

Count Date Tax Year Reported Total
Income
61 04/15/98 1997 $58,360
62 04/05/99 1998 $33,341
63 10/16/00 1999 $1,936,460
64 09/28/01 2000 $1,607,800
65 09/30/02 2001 $3,402,579

All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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(Causing False Tax Returns)
43.  On or about the dates listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant
WALEED HAMED |

a resident of the Virgin Islands, did willfully cause and aid and assist in, and procure, counsel,
and advise, the preparation and presentation to the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue, of
Individual Income Tax Retums, Forms 1040, for the calendar years listed below, which were
false and fraudulent as to a material matter, in that the returns reported total income in the
amount listed below, whereas he then and there knew and believed that he received substantial

income in addition to the amount reported.

Count Date Tax Year Illeported Total
Income
66 03/31/98 1997 $23,825
67 07/29/99 1998 $25,598
68 |  08/10/00 1999 $23,017
69 08/24/01 2000 $28,259
70 09/11/02 2001 $39,052

All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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COUNTS 71 — 74
(Causing False Tax Returns)

44, On or about the date listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant
WAHEED HAMED
a resident of the Virgin Islands, did willfully cause and aid and assist in, and procure, counsel,
and advise, the preparation and presentation to the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue, of
Individual iIncome Tax Returns, Forms 1040, for the calendar years listed below, which were
false and fraudulent as to a material matter, in that the returns reported total income in the

amount listed below, whereas he then and there knew and believed that he received substantial -

income in addition to the amount reported.

Count Date Tax Year Reported Total
Income
71 04/17/98 1997 $14,700
72 04/15/99 1998 $16,300
73 04/14/00 1999 $25,189
74 04/17/01 2000 $31,293

All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).

-30-



COUNT 75
(Conduct of Criminal Enterprise)

A. The Enterprise
45. At various times relevant to this Indictment, the defendants
FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
and UNITED

being persons employed by and associated with an enterprise, as defined by 14 V.1.C. § 604(h),
consisting of defendant UNITED, described in paragraph 1, unlawfully and intentionally did
conduct and participaté, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise
through a pattern of criminal activity. The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose
members functioned as a continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of
the enterprise.

46.  The purposes of the enterprise included unlawfully enriching the members and
associﬁtes of the enterprise by obtaining and concealing money belonging to the Virgin Islands in
the form of gross receipts tax revenue and corporate and individual income tax revenue.

47.  The defendants participated in the operation and management of the enterprise, as
follows:

a. The defendant FATHI YUSUF, an owner and officer of UNITED, was a
leader of the enterprise who directed other members of the enterprise in carrying out unlawful
and other activities in furtherance of the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs;

b. The defendant WAHEED HAMED, a manager of a Plaza Extra

supermarket, was a leader of the enterprise who directed other members of the enterprise in

carrying out unlawful and other activities in furtherance of the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs;
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The defendant WALEED HAMED, a manager of a Plaza Extra

enterprise who directed other members of the enterprise in

C.

supermarket, was 3 leader of the

carrying out unlawful and other activities in furtherance of the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs;

and
d. Under the direction of the leaders of the enterprise, defendant UNITED

furtherance of the conduct of the enterprise’s

 participated in uniawful and other activities in

affairs.
48. Among the means and methods by which the defendants and their associates
conducted and participated in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise are the acts described in
paragraphs 9-21 above, whiél; are incorporated herein as if set forth in full.

B. The Violation

at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at

49. Beginning

Jeast in or about September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants

FATHI YUSUF
WAHEED HAMED
WALEED HAMED
and UNITED
ed by and

together and with others known and unknown o the Grand Jury, being persons employ

associated with the enterprise described above, unlawfully, intentionally, and knowingly
conducted and participated, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of that enterpnse

through a pattern of criminal activity, that is, through the commission of the following acts.
The pattern of criminal activity as de

of violations described in Counts 1, 2, 3, 15,27, 39,

fined in Title 14, Virgin Islands Code,
and 55-60.

50.

Section 604(e) and (i) consisted

In violation of Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 605(a).
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COUNT 76
(Conspiracy to Conduct Criminal Enterprise)
51.  Paragraphs 45 through 50 of this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated
as if fully set forth herein.
52.  Beginning at least as early as in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
jeast in or about September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants
FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
and UNITED
together with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, being persons employed by
and associated with the entefl;ﬁse described in paragraph 45 above, knowingly and intentionally
conspired to violate Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 605(a), that is, to conduct and
participate, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of that enterprise through a
pattern of criminal activity, as that term is defined by Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section
604(e) and (j). The pattem of criminal activity through which the defendants agreed to conduct
the affairs of the enterprise consisted of the acts forth in paragraph 50 of Count 75 of this
Indictment, which are incorpoﬁted as if fully set forth herein.
53. It was a part of the conspiracy that the defendants agreed that a conspirator would

commit at least two acts of criminal activity in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise.

All in violation of Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 605(d).
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CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 1
(18 US.C. § 982)

54,  The allegations contained in Counts 1, 2 and 27 through 52 of this Indictment are
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, for the purpose of alleging
forfeitures pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 982.

55.  Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses charged in Counts 1, 2 and 27
through 52 of this Indictment, the defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED, ISAM YOUSUF and UNITED shall forfeit to the United States pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Section 982, any property, real or personal, involved in such offenses, or any
property traceable to such property, or any property constituting or derived from proceeds which
the defendants obtained directly or indirectly as a result of the commission of said violations.

56.  Such forfeitures shall include, but are not limited to:

Money Judgment

57.  The sum of at least approximately $60 million in United States currency and all
interest and proceeds traceable thereto, in that such sum, in the aggregate, was involved in and is
traceable to, and constitutes and is derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the commissioﬁ of, the criminal offenses alleged in Counts 1, 2 and
27 through 52, for which the defendants are jointly and severally liable.

Real Property

58. Real property located at 14 and 28-29 Estate Plessen, St. Croix, Parcel 4-
06200-0408-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and
easements, which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants

obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United
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States Code, Sections 371 and 1341.

59.  Real property located at 3AA-1 and 4AA St. Joseph and Rosendahl, St. Thomas,
Parcels 1-05501-0148-00 and 1-05501-0107-00, including all of its appurtenances,
improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements, which is property constituting and derived
from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the
commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1341.

60.  Real property located at 4-15, No. 5 and 6 Tabor and Harmony, St.

Thomas, Parcels 1-03104-234-00 and 1-03104-265-00, including all of its appurtenances,
improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements, which is property constituting and derived
from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the
commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1341.

61.  Real property located at Remainder Spring Garden, St. Croix, Parcel 4-01900-
0101-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and (h).

62.  Real property located at Parcel 2, Estate Longpoint and Cotton Garden, St. Croix,
Parcel 2-03500-0414-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments,
and easements, which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants
obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)XBXi) and (h).

63.  Real property located at Estate Peter’s Farm, St. Croix, Parcel 2-04900-

0404-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
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which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)X(i) and (h).

64.  Real property located at Estate Perseverance, St.Thomas, Parcel 1-02503-
0101-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1956(a)(1)}BXi) and (h).

65. Real property located at 6 and 9 Estate Thomas, St. Thomas, Parcel 05404-1505-
00, including all of its appuﬁ;nances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1956(2)(1)XB)(i) and (h).

66.  Real property known as Diamond Keturah Land on St. Croix, consisting of:

a. Estate Cane Garden, Parcel Nos. 8, 9, 10, Remainder No. 46A, Remainder
Matriculate No. 32B, Road Plots 11 and 12;

b. Estate Retreat Parcel 11, Peter’s Matriculate No. 37B of Company Quarter
and Peter’s Matriculate No. 37A and 37BA of Company Quarter, No. 54 of Queen's Quarter;

c. Estate Granard Remainder Matriculate 32A, Parcel No. 40, Road Plot 41;
and

d. Estate Diamond, Remainder Matriculate 31, Parcel Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, Road
Plot No. 6; including all appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements;

all of which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained
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directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1956(a)(1)(BX(1), (@)(2)(BXi) and (h).
Bank Account
67.  All United States currency, funds, or other monetary instruments credited to
Account No.140-21722 in the name of Fathieh Yousuf (or Yousef), held by Merrilt Lynch, which
is property involved in and traceable to, and constitutes and is derived from proceeds which the
defendants obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 371, 1341, and 1956(a)(1)}(B)(i) and (h).
SUBSTITUTE ASSETS
68 Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by
reference by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b), if any of the forfeitable property, and
any portion thereof, described in the forfeiture section of this Indictment, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendants:
a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficuity;

it is the intent of the United States to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to
the value of the above forfeitable property, including but not limited to the following:
f. Real property located at 92C and D, La Grande Princess, St. Croix, Parcel

2.02611-0215-00, including all appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and
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easements;

g Real property located at 7 Southgate, St. Croix, Parcel 2-03000-0412-00,
including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements;
h. Real property located at 92B La Grande Princess, St. Croix, Parcel 2-

02611-0214-00, including all appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and

easements; and

i. Real property located at Green Cay Plantation Subdivision, Frenchman’s
Bay, St. Thomas, Parcel 07404-0280-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements,

fixtures, attachments, and easements.
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CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 2
(14 V.1.C. § 606)

69.  The allegations contained in Counts 75 and 76 of this Indictment are re-alleged
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein for the purpose of alleging forfeitures
pursuant to Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 606.

70.  Through the pattern of criminal activity alleged in Counts 75 and 76, defendants
FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED have acquired and
maintained real and personal property used in the course of, intended for use in the course of,
derived from, or realized through, conduct in violation of Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section
605, including property constituting an interest in, or means of control or influence over, the
enterprise involved in the conduct in violation of Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 605, and
including property constituting proceeds derived from the conduct in violation of Title 14, Virgin
Islands Code, Section 605, which is subject to forfeiture to the Government of the Territory of
the United States Virgin Islands pursuant to Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 606(c). That
forfeitable property includes, but is not limited to:

Corporate Assets

71. All assets, tangible and intangible, of United Corporation, including, but not
limited to: all United States currency, funds, or other monetary instruments credited to the
following accounts in the name of defendant United Corporation:

(1) Account No. 191-063789 at Banco Popular;
2) Account No. 191-013307 at Banco Popular;
(3)  Account No. 192-026143 at Banco Popular;

(4)  Account No. 65811 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
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(5)  Account No. 55312010 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
(6)  Account No. 60086413 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
(7)  Account No. 60092918 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
(8)  Account No. 55356719 at Bank of Nova Scotia; and
9 Account No. 140-07759 at Merrill Lynch.

72.  Asaresult of the commission of the offenses charged in Counts 75 and 76 of this
Indictment, the defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and
UNITED shall forfeit to the Government of the Territory of the United States Virgin Islands
assets, including, but not limited to, the assets described in paragraphs 57, and 59 through 67.

SUBSTITUTE ASSETS

73.  Pursuant to Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 606(e), if any of the forfeitable

property, and any portion thereof, described in Criminal Forfeiture Allegation One of this
Indictment, as a result of any act or omission of the defendant:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has been sold to a bona fide purchaser for value;

C. l_1as been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficulty or injury to third persons:;

it is the intent of the United States to seek forfeiture of any other property of said defendants up
to the value of the above forfeitable property, including, but not limited to the property described
in paragraphs 68(f) through 68(i).

All in accordance with Title 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 606.
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